TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA SIGNALLING IN THE REGULATION OF EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS INFECTION IN NASOPHARYNGEAL EPITHELIAL CELLS

SHARMILA A/P VELAPASAMY

FACULTY OF DENTISTRY UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2018

TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA SIGNALLING IN THE REGULATION OF EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS INFECTION IN NASOPHARYNGEAL EPITHELIAL CELLS

SHARMILA A/P VELAPASAMY

THESIS SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

FACULTY OF DENTISTRY UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2018

UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA ORIGINAL LITERARY WORK DECLARATION

Name of Candidate: Sharmila A/P Velapasamy

Matric No: DHA 130002

Name of Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Title of Project Paper/Research Report/Dissertation/Thesis ("this Work"):

Transforming growth factor-beta signalling in the regulation of Epstein-Barr virus

infection in nasopharyngeal epithelial cells

Field of Study: Molecular Biology

I do solemnly and sincerely declare that:

- (1) I am the sole author/writer of this Work;
- (2) This Work is original;
- (3) Any use of any work in which copyright exists was done by way of fair dealing and for permitted purposes and any excerpt or extract from, or reference to or reproduction of any copyright work has been disclosed expressly and sufficiently and the title of the Work and its authorship have been acknowledged in this Work;
- (4) I do not have any actual knowledge nor do I ought reasonably to know that the making of this work constitutes an infringement of any copyright work;
- (5) I hereby assign all and every rights in the copyright to this Work to the University of Malaya ("UM"), who henceforth shall be owner of the copyright in this Work and that any reproduction or use in any form or by any means whatsoever is prohibited without the written consent of UM having been first had and obtained;
- (6) I am fully aware that if in the course of making this Work I have infringed any copyright whether intentionally or otherwise, I may be subject to legal action or any other action as may be determined by UM.

Candidate's Signature

Date:

Subscribed and solemnly declared before,

Witness's Signature

Date:

Name:

Designation:

TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA SIGNALLING IN THE REGULATION OF EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS INFECTION IN NASOPHARYNGEAL EPITHELIAL CELLS

ABSTRACT

Undifferentiated nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) is consistently associated with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection. However, the molecular events that regulate the establishment of stable EBV infection in nasopharyngeal epithelial (NPE) cells remain largely undefined. It is now recognised that persistent EBV latent infection in NPE cells is dependent on specific pre-existing genetic changes. There is evidence to show that Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) signalling is de-regulated in NPC. TGF-β signalling regulates a variety of cellular processes and functions as a tumour suppressor in the early stage of epithelial carcinogenesis by inhibiting cell proliferation and promoting differentiation, apoptosis and senescence. Our preliminary data showed that epithelial cells that are no longer responsive to TGF-β1-induced growth inhibition are more amenable to stable EBV infection, while epithelial cells harbouring an intact TGF- β signalling pathway are not able to sustain EBV genomes, suggesting that deregulation of TGF- β signalling is a prerequisite for the establishment of stable EBV infection. To test this hypothesis, two different approaches were used to disrupt TGF-B signalling in three immortalised NPE cell lines (NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert): (1) inhibiting the type 1 TGF- β receptor (TGFR-1) kinase with a chemical inhibitor, SB431542 and (2) overexpression of a kinase-deficient form (dominant negative) of the type 2 TGF- β receptor (*DnTGFBR2*). Functional disruption of the TGF-β signalling pathway was confirmed by a reduced growth inhibitory response to TGF-\u00b31, inhibition of TGF-\u00b31-induced phosphorylation of Smad2 and a loss of Smad2/3-dependent transcription activity following TGF-β1 stimulation. These

cells were then infected with a GFP-tagged recombinant EBV (Akata strain) and FACS used to determine the percentages of GFP-positive cells over a period of 21 days postinfection. Compared to the respective controls, both TGFR-1 kinase inhibition and overexpression of *DnTGFBR2* resulted in higher numbers of cells carrying the EBV genomes in all three cell lines. Given that EBV infection is associated with growth inhibition and senescence, as well as entry into the lytic cycle in a manner that is linked to epithelial cell differentiation, the influence of TGF- β signalling disruption on cellular differentiation, EBV-induced senescence and induction of the EBV lytic cycle, was investigated. The results showed that both the inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase and overexpression of *DnTGFBR2* suppressed the differentiation of NPE cells in response to serum and calcium as well as TGF- β 1, as shown by reduced involucrin expression. Following EBV infection of these cells, the expression of SIRT1 was readily detected while p16 and p21 levels were significantly decreased, indicating that the cells were resistant to EBV-induced senescence and growth inhibition. Further, the expression of EBV-encoded *BZLF1* was reduced, suggesting that disruption of TGF- β signalling suppressed EBV lytic cycle induction. Lastly, to conclusively demonstrate an essential role for TGF- β signalling in sustaining EBV infection in NPE cells, TGFBR2 was knocked out using CRISPR/Cas9. Similarly, knockout of TGFBR2 resulted in a more persistent EBV infection in NP460hTert, and these effects were reversed following expression of a wild-type TGFBR2. Collectively, the results of this study demonstrate that disruption of TGF-β signalling supports stable EBV infection in NPE cells, possibly by suppressing cellular differentiation, EBV-induced senescence and EBV lytic cycle induction.

Keywords: Nasopharyngeal carcinoma, Epstein-Barr virus, Transforming growth factor-beta, Differentiation, Senescence, Lytic cycle

TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA SIGNALLING IN THE REGULATION OF EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS INFECTION IN NASOPHARYNGEAL EPITHELIAL CELLS

ABSTRAK

Karsinoma nasofarinks (NPC) tidak berdiferensiasi sering dikaitkan dengan jangkitan virus Epstein-Barr (EBV). Namun begitu, proses molekul yang meregulasi pemantapan jangkitan EBV yang stabil dalam sel-sel epitelium nasofarinks (NPE) masih tidak jelas. Jangkitan EBV laten yang berterusan dalam sel-sel NPE kini dikenalpasti bahawa ia bergantung kepada perubahan genetik spesifik yang sedia ada. Terdapat bukti menunjukkan bahawa pengisyaratan 'Transforming growth factor-beta' (TGF-B) deregulasi dalam NPC. Pengisyaratan TGF-β meregulasi pelbagai proses di peringkat sel dan berfungsi sebagai penindas tumor pada tahap awal karsinogenesis epitelium dengan merencat proliferasi sel dan menggalak diferensiasi, apoptosis dan penuaan. Data awal kami menunjukkan bahawa sel-sel epitelium yang tidak lagi responsif terhadap perencatan pertumbuhan yang diaruhkan oleh TGF-B1 adalah lebih cenderung kepada jangkitan EBV yang stabil, sedangkan sel-sel epitelium yang mempunyai pengisyaratan TGF-B1 yang lengkap tidak dapat mengekalkan genom EBV, justeru deregulasi pengisyaratan TGF-B dicadangkan sebagai prasyarat dalam pemantapan jangkitan EBV yang stabil. Untuk menguji hipotesis ini, dua pendekatan berbeza digunakan untuk menggendalakan pengisyaratan TGF-B dalam tiga jenis sel NPE yang 'immortalised' (NP361hTert, NP460hTert dan NP550hTert): (1) merencat reseptor TGF-β jenis 1 (TGFR-1) 'kinase'dengan perencat kimia, SB431542 dan (2) pengekspresan melampau reseptor TGF-β jenis 2-tanpa 'kinase' (DnTGFBR2). Penggendalaan fungsi pada laluan pengisyaratan TGF- β telah dibuktikan dengan penurunan respons perencatan pertumbuhan terhadap TGF- β 1, perencatan fosforilasi Smad2 yang diaruh oleh TGF-B1 dan kehilangan aktiviti transkripsi yang bergantung kepada Smad2/3 berikutan rangsangan TGF-β1. Sel-sel ini kemudiannya dijangkiti dengan EBV rekombinan strain Akata yang ditanda dengan GFP dan peratusan

sel-sel GFP-positif ditentukan dengan menggunakan FACS dalam tempoh masa 21 hari selepas jangkitan EBV. Apabila dibandingkan dengan kawalan masing-masing, kedua-dua perencatan TGFR-1 'kinase' dan pengekspresan melampau DnTGFBR2 menunjukkan peratusan sel-sel yang membawa genom EBV adalah lebih tinggi dalam ketiga-tiga sel NPE. Memandangkan jangkitan EBV dikaitkan dengan perencatan pertumbuhan, penuaan, dan juga kemasukannya ke dalam kitaran litik dengan kaitan diferensiasi sel epitelium, pengaruh terhadap penggendalaan pengisyaratan TGF-B dalam diferensiasi sel, induksi penuaan yang diaruhkan oleh EBV dan induksi kitar litik telah dikaji. Keputusan menunjukkan bahawa kedua-dua perencatan TGRF-1 'kinase' dan pengekspresan melampau DnTGFBR2 menindas diferensiasi sel-sel NPE yang dirangsang dengan serum dan kalsium serta TGF-\beta1, seperti ditunjukkan oleh pengurangan pengekspresan 'involucrin'. Berikutan jangkitan EBV ke atas sel-sel ini, pengekspresan SIRT1 sedia dikesan, manakala paras p16 dan p21 mengurang secara signifikan, lantas menunjukkan bahawa sel-sel ini adalah resistan terhadap induksi penuaan dan perencatan pertumbuhan berikutan jangkitan EBV. Seterusnya, pengekspresan 'EBV-encoded' BZLF1 yang menurun mencadangkan bahawa penggendalaan pengisyaratan TGF-B menindas induksi kitar litik EBV. Akhir sekali, 'knockout' TGFBR2 dengan CRISPR/Cas9 diguna untuk .menunjukkan kepentingan pengisyaratan TGF-β terhadap pengekalan jangkitan EBV dalam sel-sel NPE. 'Knockout' TGFBR2 juga menunjukkan pemantapan jangkitan EBV yang lebih berterusan dalam sel NP460hTert dan kesan ini boleh berbalik selepas pengekspresan TGFBR2 'wild-type'. Secara keseluruhannya, keputusan kajian ini menunjukkan penggendalaan pengisyaratan TGF-β menyokong jangkitan EBV yang stabil dalam sel-sel NPE, kemungkinan berkaitan dengan perencatan dalam selular diferensiasi, penuaan yang diaruh oleh EBV dan induksi kitar litik EBV.

Kata kunci: Karsinoma nasofarinks, Virus Epstein-Barr, 'Transforming growth factor-beta', diferensiasi, Penuaan, Kitaran litik.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank University of Malaya graduate research assistant scheme (GRAS) for helping me with tuition fees and High Impact Research for funding the research.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest gratitude and sincere thanks to my PhD supervisors, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Yap Lee Fah and Prof. Dr. Ian C. Paterson (from University of Malaya, Malaysia) and Dr. Christopher W. Dawson (from University of Birmingham, UK), for all the guidance and support through my PhD project.

I would like to thank Prof. George Tsao SW, Dr. Anna Tsang CM and Dr. Jessica Jia Lin for their assistance and guidance during my research attachment in the University of Hong Kong (HKU). Further, I would like to thank all the lab members and staff in the department of anatomy, HKU and Dr. Sam Yuen for helping me during my stay in HKU. I would also like to thank other research collaborators Prof. Dr. Kwok-Wai Lo and Dr. Grace TY Chung from Chinese University of Hong Kong (CHKU) who supported the projects in many ways.

Many thanks for all the lab members who always supported and guide me through my PhD project. I would like to especially to say thanks to Fazliny, Jesinda Paul, Lee Hui Min, Lai Sook Ling, Mariati, Sathya, Tan May Leng, Wong Wee Lin and Yin Ling for offering me their helps in times of need.

Lastly, I would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest gratitude and sincere thanks to my parents and husband (Mr. K ManiKannan) for their encouragement, understanding and advice throughout the course of my PhD.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abst	ract		iii
Abst	trak		V
Ack	nowledg	ements	vii
Tabl	e of Cor	ntents	. viii
List	of Figur	es	XV
List	of Table	2S	xviii
List	of Symb	ools and Abbreviations	xix
List	of Appe	ndices	.xxii
CHA	APTER	1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Genera	Il Introduction	1
1.2	Genera	ll Aims	4
1.3	Object	ives	5
CHA	APTER	2: LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.1	Cancer	·	6
2.2	Nasopl	haryngeal carcinoma (NPC)	7
	2.2.1	Epidemiology	7
	2.2.2	Histopathology	8
	2.2.3	Aetiology	9
		2.2.3.1 Environmental factors	9
		2.2.3.2 Genetic susceptibility	10
		2.2.3.3 EBV infection	12
	2.2.4	Clinical presentation, diagnosis and treatment	12
	2.2.5	Molecular basis of NPC	14

2.3	Epsteir	n - Barr virus (EBV)	18
	2.3.1	EBV genome and sequence variations	18
	2.3.2	Dual tropism of EBV infection	20
	2.3.3	EBV entry mechanisms	23
	2.3.4	EBV infection cycle	24
		2.3.4.1 EBV lytic infection	25
		2.3.4.2 EBV latency programs	26
	2.3.5	Function of EBV latent genes in NPC	29
		2.3.5.1 Epstein-Barr nuclear antigens (EBNA1)	29
		2.3.5.2 Latent membrane proteins (LMP1 and LMP2)	30
		2.3.5.3 Epstein-Barr virus-encoded RNAs (EBER1 and EBER2)	32
		2.3.5.4 BamHI-A rightward transcripts (BARTs)	32
		2.3.5.5 BamHI-A fragment rightward reading frame 1 (BARF1)	33
	2.3.6	EBV latent infection in NPE cells	34
2.4	Transfe	orming growth factor (TGF)-β	35
	2.4.1	Synthesis and activation of TGF-β	36
	2.4.2	TGF-β signalling pathway	37
		2.4.2.1 TGF-β receptors	37
		2.4.2.2 The canonical TGF- β /Smad signalling pathway	38
		2.4.2.3 The non-canonical TGF- β /Smad-independent signa	ılling
		pathway	39
	2.4.3	Dual role of TGF-β signalling in cancer progression	42
		2.4.3.1 TGF-β1 as a tumour suppressor	42
		2.4.3.2 TGF-β1 as a tumour promoter	46
	2.4.4	TGF-β signalling in NPC	49

CHA	APTER	3: MATERIALS AND METHODS	52				
3.1	Cell lin	nes	52				
3.2	Materi	als	53				
3.3	Cell cu	llture	53				
	3.3.1	Maintenance of cell lines	53				
	3.3.2	Cryopreservation and recovery of cell lines	54				
	3.3.3	Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with chemical inhibitor, SB431542	55				
	3.3.4	Expression of wild type TGFBR2 and dominant negative (Dn) TGFBR	2 in				
		NPE cells	55				
		3.3.4.1 Generating antibiotics selection killing curves	55				
		3.3.4.2 Transfection of virus producing cells, HEK293T	55				
		3.3.4.3 Transduction of NPE cells					
	3.3.5 Generation of TGFBR2 knockout cells using the clustered r						
		interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-associated protein	n 9				
		(Cas9) system	57				
3.4	Infecti	on of epithelial cells with EBV	58				
3.5	Fluore	scent-activated cell sorting (FACS)	58				
3.6	In vitre	o assays	59				
	3.6.1	Cell proliferation assays	59				
		3.6.1.1 MTT [3-(4, 5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-Diphenyltetrazol	ium				
		Bromide] assays	59				
		3.6.1.2 Cell count assays	59				
	3.6.2	Luciferase reporter assays	60				
	3.6.3	Senescence associated–β-galactosidase (SA-β-Gal) assays	62				
	3.6.4	Differentiation assays	62				
3.7	Molect	ular biology techniques	63				

	3.7.1	DNA extraction	63
	3.7.2	Total RNA extraction	64
	3.7.3	cDNA synthesis	64
	3.7.4	Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	65
	3.7.5	Agarose gel electrophoresis	66
	3.7.6	Real-time quantitative (qPCR)	66
		3.7.6.1 Probe-based qPCR for gene expression	66
		3.7.6.2 Dye-based qPCR for gene expression	68
	3.7.7	Plasmid preparation	69
		3.7.7.1 Bacterial transformation	69
		3.7.7.2 Plasmid DNA extraction	69
		3.7.7.3 Preservation and retrieval of bacterial cultures	71
3.8	Wester	n blotting	71
	3.8.1	Protein isolation	71
	3.8.2	Determination of protein concentration	72
	3.8.3	Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	(SDS-
		PAGE)	72
	3.8.4	Protein transfer and detection	73
3.9	Fluores	scent staining techniques	74
	3.9.1	Immunofluorescence staining (IF)	74
	3.9.2	Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH)	75
		3.9.2.1 Sample preparation	75
		3.9.2.2 Staining	76
3.10	Statisti	cal analysis	77

CHA	PTER	4: EFFECT OF DISRUPTING THE TGF-BETA SIGNALLING
PAT	HWAY	ON THE OUTCOME OF EBV INFECTION IN NPE CELLS
4.1	Introdu	rction
4.2	Respor	nse of NPE and NPC cells to TGF-β1-mediated growth inhibition80
4.3	Genera	tion and validation of cells with disrupted TGF- β signalling
	4.3.1	Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542
	4.3.2	Overexpression of a <i>DnTGFBR2</i> 90
4.4	Effect	of disrupting the TGF- $\!\beta$ signalling pathway on the outcome of EBV
	infectio	on98
	4.4.1	Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 resulted in an increased
		numbers of EBV-positive cells
	4.4.2	Expression of DnTGFBR2 resulted in an increased numbers of EBV-
		positive cells
4.5	Summa	ary105

CHAPTER 5: THE EFFECT OF DISRUPTING THE TGF-BETA SIGNALLING ON CELLULAR DIFFERENTIATION, EBV-INDUCED SENESCENCE AND EBV LYTIC CYCLE INDUCTION......107 5.1 5.2 Disruption of TGF-B signalling suppressed cellular differentiation of NPE cells 5.2.1 Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 suppressed cellular 5.2.2 Expression of DnTGFBR2 suppressed cellular differentiation of NPE 5.3 Disruption of TGF-B signalling suppressed EBV-induced senescence in NPE

	5.3.1	Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 suppressed EBV-induced
		senescence in NPE cells
	5.3.2	Suppression of EBV-induced senescence in DnTGFBR2-expressing
		cells
5.4	Disrup	tion of TGF- β signalling inhibited the induction of EBV lytic cycle in NPE
	cells	
	5.4.1	Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 decreased expression of the
		EBV-encoded <i>BZLF1</i> gene in NP550hTert126
	5.4.2	Decreased expression of the EBV-encoded BZLF1 gene in
		DnTGFBR2/NP550hTert
5.5	Summa	ary128
CHA	APTER	6: EFFECT OF CRISPR/CAS9-MEDIATED TGFBR2 KNOCKOUT

ON THE OUTCOME OF EBV INFECTION IN NP460HTERT130

6.1	Introduction	130
6.2	The effect of TGFBR2 knockout on the outcome of EBV inf	fection in
	NP460hTert	131
	6.2.1 Generation and validation of CRISPR/Cas9-mediated know	ockout of
	TGFBR2 in NP460hTert	131
	6.2.2 Increased numbers of EBV-positive cells in CRISPR9/NP460hT	ert136
6.3	Re-expression of TGFBR2 in CRISPR9/NP460hTert impaired the main	tenance of
	EBV infection	137
6.4	Summary	140

CHA	CHAPTER 7: DISCUSSION141					
7.1	Introdu	ction				
7.2	The eff	The effect of TGF- β signalling disruption on the outcome of EBV infection in				
	NPE ce	ll lines				
	7.2.1	TGF-β1-mediated growth inhibition				
	7.2.2	Disruption of TGF-β signalling and EBV infection				
7.3	Cellula	r responses to TGF- β that regulate the maintenance of EBV	genomes in			
	NPE ce	ells				
	7.3.1	Effect on cellular differentiation and EBV lytic cycle				
	7.3.2	Effect on EBV-induced senescence				
7.4	Limitat	ions of the study				
7.5	Future	work				

CHAPTER 8: CONCLUDING REMARKS	153
References	154
List of Publications	
List of Presentation	
Appendix A	
Appendix B	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Model of NPC Pathogenesis
Figure 2.2. Primary EBV infection
Figure 2.3. The EBV genome
Figure 2.4. TGF-β signalling pathway41
Figure 4.1. Responsiveness of immortalised NPE and NPC cell lines to TGF- β 1- mediated growth inhibition. MTT assays were used to examine
Figure 4.2. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase reduced expression of pSmad2 in NPE cells. 85
Figure 4.3. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase abrogated TGF-β1-mediated growth inhibition in NPE cells
Figure 4.4. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase reduced Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in NPE cells
Figure 4.5. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase reduced Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity in NPE cells
Figure 4.6. Expression of TGFBR2 in <i>DnTGFBR2</i> -expressing cells91
Figure 4.7. Expression of DnTGFR-2 in <i>DnTGFBR2</i> -expressing cells92
Figure 4.8. Expression of pSmad2 in <i>DnTGFBR2</i> -expressing cells93
Figure 4.9. TGF-β1-mediated growth suppression in <i>DnTGFBR2</i> -expressing cells94
Figure 4.10. Reduction of Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in <i>DnTGFBR2</i> -expressing cells
Figure 4.11. Reduction of Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity in <i>DnTGFBR2</i> -expressing cells
Figure 4.12. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase increased numbers of EBV-positive cells in NPE cells
Figure 4.13. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase increased numbers of EBV-positive in NP550hTert
Figure 4.14. Increased numbers of EBV-positive cells in <i>DnTGFBR2</i> -expressing cells.

Figure 4.15. Increased number of EBV-positive cells in <i>DnTGFBR2</i> /NP550hTert104
Figure 5.1. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase suppressed the expression of involucrin in NPE cells
Figure 5.2. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase suppressed the expression of involucrin in NP550hTert111
Figure 5.3. Decreased expression of involucrin in <i>DnTGFBR2</i> -expressing cells113
Figure 5.4. Decreased expression of involucrin in <i>DnTGFBR2</i> /NP550hTert114
Figure 5.5. Disruption of TGF-β signalling decreased the numbers of senescent cells.
Figure 5.6. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase resulted in the restoration of SIRT1 protein following EBV infection
Figure 5.7. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase decreased p16 expression in EBV-positive NP550hTert
Figure 5.8. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase decreased p21 expression in EBV-positive NP550hTert
Figure 5.9. Expression of <i>DnTGFBR2</i> resulted in the restoration of SIRT1 protein following EBV infection
Figure 5.10. Decreased p16 expression in EBV-positive DnTGFBR2/NP550hTert 124
Figure 5.11. Decreased p21 expression in EBV-positive DnTGFBR2/NP550hTert 125
Figure 5.12. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase decreased <i>BZLF1</i> expression in EBV-positive NP550hTert
Figure 5.13. Decreased <i>BZLF1</i> expression in EBV-positive <i>DnTGFBR2</i> /NP550hTert.
Figure 6.1. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knockout of TGFBR2 in NP460hTert132
Figure 6.2. Loss of TGFR-2 expression in CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells134
Figure 6.3. Expression of pSmad2 in CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells
Figure 6.4. Reduction of Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells
Figure 6.5. Reduction of Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity in CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells135

Figure	6.6.	Increased	numbers	of	EBV-positive	cells	in	EBV	infected
CRISPE	9/NP4	60hTert cel	ls						136
Figure 6	5.7. Exp	oression of [ГGFR-2 in	TGFE	3R2-expressing (CRISPE	R9/N	P460hT	ert138
U	1				1 0				
Figure 6	5.8. Exp	pression of p	oSmad2 in 2	TGFE	R2-expressing (CRISPR	.9/NI	P460hT	ert 138
C	1	1			1 0				
Figure (5.9. Re	storation of	f TGFBR2	decre	eased the number	ers of l	EBV	-positiv	e cells in
CRISPE	9/NP4	60hTert						1	139

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Latency programs in EBV-associated malignancies	.28
Table 2.2. De-regulation of TGF- β signalling pathway components in cancers	.46
Table 3.1. Plasmid DNA used for transfection	.56
Table 3.2. Electroporation programs used in the Neon® Transfection System	.62
Table 3.3. PCR primer sequences	.65
Table 3.4. Primer and probe sequences for EBV genes	.67
Table 3.5. Master mix for commercially available TaqMan® gene expression assays	.67
Table 3.6. Master mix for assays using customized primers and probes	.68
Table 3.7. Primer sequences for BZLF1	.69
Table 3.9. List of primary antibodies used in IF	.75

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

AKT	:	Protein kinase B
ASR	:	Aged-standardized rate
BARF1	:	BamHI-A fragment rightward reading frame 1
BARTs	:	BamHI-A rightward transcripts
BHRF1	:	BamHI fragment H rightward open reading frame 1
BL	:	Burkitt's lymphoma
BSA	:	Bovine serum albumin
CR2	:	Complement receptor 2
CTAR1	:	C-terminal activation region 1
CTAR2	:	C-terminal activation region 2
dnRNA	:	Double-stranded RNA
EA	:	Early antigen
EBER	:	EBV-encoded RNA
EBNA	:	Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen
EBV	Ċ	Epstein-Barr virus
ECL	:	enhanced chemiluminescene
EGF	:	Epidermal growth factor
EMT	:	Epithelial-mesenchymal transition
ERK	:	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FBS	:	Fetal bovine serum
GWAS	:	Genome-wide association studies
HLA	:	Human leukocyte antigen
HRP	:	Horseradish peroxidase
hTert	:	Human telomerase reverse transcriptase

IFN	:	Interferon
Ig	:	Immunoglobulin
IGF	:	Insulin-like growth factor
IL	:	Interleukin
IM	:	Infectious mononucleosis
JNK	:	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
kb	:	Kilobase pair
LCL	:	Lymphoblastoid cell line
LMP	:	Latent membrane protein
LOH	:	Loss of heterozygosity
МАРК	:	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MHC	:	Major histocompatibility
miRNA	:	MicroRNA
mRNA	:	Messenger RNA
NF-ĸB	:	Nuclear factor-kappa B
NGS	:	Next-generation sequencing
NK	0	Natural killer
NMU	÷	N-nitroso-N-methylurea
NPC	:	Nasopharyngeal carcinoma
NPE	:	Nasopharyngeal epithelial cells
РІЗК	:	Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase
PKR	:	Protein kinase R
PML	:	Promyeloctic leukaemia
PVDF	:	Polyvinylidene difluoride
Qp	:	Q promoter
QpCR	:	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction

RIG-1	:	Retinoic acid-inducible gene
RNA	:	Ribonucleic acid
SARA	:	Smad anchor for receptor activation
SDS-PAGE	:	SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SNP	:	Single nucleotide polymorphism
TBS	:	Tris buffered saline
TBST	:	Tris buffered saline tween
TGF-β	:	Transforming growth factor-beta
TGFBR1	:	Transforming growth factor-beta receptor 1
TGFBR2	:	Transforming growth factor-beta receptor 2
TNF	:	Tumour necrosis factor
TRAF2	:	TNF receptor-associated factor 2
VCA	:	Viral capsid antigen
VEGF	:	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WES	:	Whole exome sequencing
WHO	:	World Health Organization
Wp	÷	W promoter

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A : Chemical inhibitor, SB431542 specifically inhibit TGFR-1 kinase	205
activation	205
Appendix B: De-regulation of LPA signalling in NPC following EBV infection	206

university

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 General Introduction

Nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) is a distinct type of head and neck cancer that arises from the epithelial lining of the nasopharynx (Sham et al., 1990). Globally, NPC is a rare malignancy; however, it is very prominent in the Southern part of China and Southeast Asia with an incidence rate of approximately 20-50 per 100,000 population per year (Cao et al., 2015; Wei et al., 2014). According to the IARC Globocan 2012 (http://globocan.iarc.fr), the aged-standardized rate (ASR) of NPC in Malaysia was 7.2 per 100,000 population, representing the highest ASR in the world.

NPC is classified into two categories, namely keratinizing squamous cell carcinoma and non-keratinizing carcinoma which is further sub-divided into differentiated and non-differentiated carcinoma (Shanmugaratnam & Sobin, 1991). Non-keratinizing NPC is more common in the endemic regions and is consistently associated with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection (Niedobitek et al., 1991a). EBV has two distinct life cycles, namely the latent cycle during persistent infection and the lytic cycle during the production of mature infectious virions. NPC exhibits EBV latency II in which the expression of EBV genes is restricted to Epstein-Barr nuclear antigens (EBNA1), latent membrane proteins (LMP1 and LMP2), non-coding Epstein-Barr virus-encoded RNAs (EBER1 and EBER2), BamHI-A rightward transcripts (BARTs) and BamHI-A fragment rightward reading frame 1 (BARF1) (Young et al., 2016). It is now well-recognised that these EBV latent genes regulate various cellular signalling pathways that collectively contribute to the malignant transformation of nasopharyngeal epithelial (NPE) cells (Tsao et al., 2017).

Although a strong association between NPC and EBV has long been recognised, the mechanisms that regulate the maintenance of EBV genomes in epithelial cells are largely unknown. NPC cells carry monoclonal EBV genomes, indicating that EBV infection takes place before the expansion of the malignant cells. Although EBV replication has been found within the epithelial cells in the oropharynx and salivary glands (Niedobitek et al., 1991b), it has been a challenge to establish persistent EBV latent infection in epithelial cells in an experimental setting. However, in 2012 a study showed that inactivation of p16 or overexpression of cyclin D1 (*CCND1*), two characteristic features of NPC tumours, contributed to the stable EBV infection in immortalised NPE cells (Tsang et al., 2012). Significantly, these data demonstrate that epithelial cells displaying pre-malignant genetic alterations are susceptible to EBV latent infection.

Interestingly, we noted that undifferentiated NPC cell lines (e.g. HONE1) that were not growth inhibited by TGF- β 1 were susceptible to EBV infection, whereas differentiation-competent squamous epithelial cells immortalised (e.g. oral keratinocytes, OKF6) which were unable to sustain EBV infection were responsive to the cytostatic effects of TGF- β 1. These observations suggested that the loss of TGF- β signalling may be a key determinant in maintaining EBV genomes in epithelial cells. There is some evidence to show that TGF- β signalling is de-regulated in NPC. Mutations of the TGFBR2 gene were initially reported in a subset of primary NPC tissues, and subsequently, a gene expression microarray study showed that the TGF- β signalling pathway was de-regulated in EBV-positive NPC tissues compared to normal NP tissues (Harn et al., 2002; Sriuranpong et al., 2004). Further, the expression of both TGFBR1 and TGFBR2 mRNA and protein were found to be frequently down-regulated in primary NPC tissues and cell lines (Fang et al., 2008; Lyu et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2012). Notably, the only EBV-positive NPC cell line amenable to culture in vitro.

C666.1, lacked expression of TGFR-2 (Wood et al., 2007). Importantly, low levels of TGFR-1 and TGFR-2 were correlated with increased cancer aggressiveness, as well as poor overall survival rates in NPC patients (Zhang et al., 2012).

TGF- β signalling plays an important role in regulating numerous biological processes such as proliferation, apoptosis, cell differentiation, senescence, angiogenesis, epithelial-mesenchyme transition (EMT) and immune suppression (Derynck et al., 2001; Siegel & Massague, 2003). In terms of cancer development, TGF-β signalling has been shown to exert both tumour suppressive and tumour promoting functions depending on the cancer stage (Lebrun, 2012; Siegel & Massague, 2003). TGF-B1 acts as a potent growth inhibitor for many tumour types of epithelial origin through cell cycle G1/S arrest. As tumours progress, cancer cells often develop genetic abnormalities within the TGF-β signalling pathway components that result in loss of responsiveness to TGF- β signalling, thereby blocking the growth inhibitory effect of TGF- β 1 on cancer cell growth (Pickup et al., 2013). At some point during malignant progression, TGF-B1 switches to act as a tumour promoting factor by stimulating the proliferation of mesenchymal cells, increasing extracellular matrix (ECM) production and accelerating migration. Indeed, elevated levels of TGF-B1 were found in sera from NPC patients compared to healthy individuals (Sun et al., 2007; Xu et al., 1999). Importantly, it has been shown that treatment of NPC cells with exogenous TGF-β1 led to the activation of TGF- β signalling, but the cells were not growth inhibited in response to exogenous ligand (Xiao et al., 2010). Although a role for TGF- β signalling in promoting NPC tumorigenesis has been demonstrated, the biological significance of this pathway in regulating EBV latent infection has not been investigated. The present study aimed to examine the influence of TGF- β signalling disruption on the outcome of EBV maintenance in NPE cells.

1.2 General Aims

The impact of EBV infection on the development of NPC is thought to be a consequence of the aberrant establishment of virus latency in epithelial cells harboring pre-malignant genetic changes. The present study was initiated to test the hypothesis that epithelial cells fostering defects in TGF- β signalling are more amenable to persistence EBV infection. The first part of this study generated NPE cells with disrupted TGF- β signalling by inhibiting TGFR-1 kinase using a chemical inhibitor (SB431542) or by the overexpression of a dominant negative *TGFBR2 (DnTGFBR2)* gene. After determining the consequence of TGF- β signalling disruption on the maintenance of EBV genomes in the NPE cell lines, subsequent experiments were aimed to investigate the possible mechanisms that were responsible for these effects. Given that EBV infection is associated with growth inhibition and senescence, as well as entry into lytic cycle in a manner that is linked to epithelial cell differentiation, this study examined the effects of TGF- β signalling disruption on the expression of a differentiation marker (involucrin) and the EBV gene that controls the switch from latent to lytic cycle (*BZLF1*).

Lastly, to conclusively demonstrate the role of TGF- β signalling in facilitating EBV maintenance in NPE cells, *TGFBR2* was knocked out in NP460hTert cells using the CRISPR/Cas9 system and the effects on EBV persistence examined. Rescue experiments were then performed by re-expressing a wild-type *TGFBR2* gene in the CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells.

1.3 Objectives

The objectives of present study are as follows:

- I. To study the influence of TGF- β signalling disruption on the outcome of EBV infection in NPE cells
- II. To examine the effects of TGF- β signalling disruption on cellular differentiation, EBVinduced senescence and the induction of EBV lytic cycle
- III. To study the outcome of CRISPR/Cas9-mediated *TGFBR2* knockout on the maintenance of EBV genomes in NP460hTert cells

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Cancer

Cancer is a global health problem affecting men and women. It is one of the leading causes of mortality and morbidity worldwide (Ferlay et al., 2015). Globally, there were 14.1 million new cancer cases reported in 2012 with a higher incidence rate in males compared to females (Ferlay et al., 2015). In Malaysia, a total number of 103, 507 new cancer cases were reported between 2007 and 2011 (Azizah et al., 2015).

Cancer can be defined as a disease in which a group of abnormal cells proliferate beyond their usual boundaries and invade nearby tissues (Hejmadi, 2010). Normal cells invariably respond to signals or stimuli such as growth factors that dictate whether the cells should divide, differentiate into another cell type or die. In contrast, cancer cells employ different mechanisms to achieve immortalisation (Hejmadi, 2010).

In general, all cancers are caused by a combination of both external and internal risk factors (Parsa, 2012). There are three main external risk factors which can contribute to the development of cancer: firstly, chemical or non-chemical carcinogens such as N-nitroso-N-methylurea (NMU), ultraviolet and ionizing radiation (Cadet et al., 2005; Gruijl et al., 2001); secondly, lifestyle factors including diet, such as consumption of alcohol and tobacco smoking (Key et al., 2004); lastly, biological carcinogens, such as infection with certain types of bacteria or virus (Vedham et al., 2014).

Once the transformation process is initiated, it takes multiple additional steps for cancer to form. In 2000, six hallmarks or common traits that govern the transformation of normal cells to cancer cells were proposed; namely, sustaining proliferative signalling, evading growth suppression, resisting cell death, tissues invasion and metastasis, inducing angiogenesis and enabling replicative immortality (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). Two additional hallmarks of cancer were proposed in 2011, which are de-regulating cellular energy metabolism and evasion of immune destruction (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). The acquisition of these eight hallmarks of cancer was suggested to be facilitated by two important characteristics, which are genomic instability and mutation, as well as tumour-promoting inflammation (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

2.2 Nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC)

2.2.1 Epidemiology

Globally, NPC is a rare malignancy affecting 1 per 100,000 people annually. However, it is very prominent in the Southern part of China and Southeast Asia with the incidence rate of approximately 20-50 per 100,000 per year especially in Southern Chinese those of Cantonese origin (Cao et al., 2015; Chang & Adami, 2006; Jia et al., 2006; Parkin et al., 2005; Wei et al., 2014). In Malaysia, NPC is the fifth most common cancer and fourth leading cancer among males (8.1% of total male cancers) (Azizah et al., 2015). Further, in 2012, it was estimated that Malaysia had the highest aged-standardized rate (ASR) of NPC in the world with an ASR of 7.2 per 100, 000 people (http://globocan.iarc.fr). NPC is also closely related to ethnicity. Studies conducted in multi-cultural countries like Malaysia and Singapore demonstrated that the Chinese populations have a higher incidence rate of NPC compared to Malay or Indian populations (Azizah et al., 2015; Chang & Adami, 2006; Seow et al., 2004). Interestingly, an early study conducted in year 2004, has shown that one of the indigenous groups in Sarawak (a state in East Malaysia), Bidayuh, had the highest incidence rate of NPC in the world (Devi et al., 2004).

2.2.2 Histopathology

NPC is a distinct type of head and neck cancer that arises from the epithelial lining of the nasopharynx. In 1991, NPC was classified into two categories; keratinizing squamous cell carcinoma and non-keratinizing carcinoma, which is sub-divided into differentiated and undifferentiated carcinoma (Shanmugaratnam & Sobin, 1991). In general, obvious squamous differentiation features including the presence of intercellular bridges, keratinisation and epithelial pearl formation characterize keratinizing squamous cell carcinoma. In contrast, non-keratinizing carcinoma characterized by sheets of epithelial cells show syncytial architecture with lymphocytes intimately associated with the neoplastic cells and absence of keratinization. The undifferentiated NPC is also referred as lymphoepithelioma of the nasopharynx due to the high frequency of reactive lymphocytes in the tumour microenvironment (Thompson, 2007).

Keratinizing NPC is more common in low incidence areas, for example, approximately 78% of reported NPC cases in the United States are keratinizing NPC (Marks et al., 1998). Patients with keratinizing NPC have a higher frequency of locally advanced tumours and they are less responsive to treatment that results in a poor survival rate (Reddy et al., 1995). In contrast, non-keratinizing NPC is more common in endemic regions, such as Hong Kong (Lo et al., 2004b; Marcus & Tishler, 2010). Patients with non-keratinizing NPC have higher tendency to develop distant metastases, but they are more responsive to treatment, and have a better prognosis (Marks et al., 1998; Reddy et al., 1995).

2.2.3 Aetiology

There are three main risk factors for NPC, namely environmental factors, genetic susceptibility and EBV infection.

2.2.3.1 Environmental factors

Based on case-control studies conducted in different populations, it is proven that high consumption of food with a large amount of nitrite and nitrosamines (such as salted fish, preserved or processed foods), particularly during childhood, correlates with the development of NPC (Jia et al., 2010; Ning et al., 1990; Ward et al., 2000; Yu et al., 1988; Yuan et al., 2000). In contrast, frequent consumption of vegetables and/or fresh fruits is associated with a lower risk of NPC (Jia et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2012; Polesel et al., 2013; Yuan et al., 2000).

In addition, multiple studies have demonstrated that cigarette smoking is significantly associated with an increased risk for NPC and may also increase the risk of mortality in NPC patients (Ekburanawat et al., 2010; Hsu et al., 2009; Lin et al., 2015a; Xie et al., 2015). Studies examining the association between alcohol consumption and NPC are still not conclusive. High alcohol consumption has been reported to correlate with the risk for NPC in White Americans (Nam et al., 1992; Vaughan et al., 1996); however, studies conducted in Chinese populations failed to show similar findings (Ji et al., 2011). The discrepancy in findings may be due in part to study populations. Several case-control studies have also shown that occupational exposure to chemical carcinogens such as wood dust, formaldehyde, cotton dust, acids caustics and long duration of working in dyeing and printing factories increased the risk of developing NPC (Hildesheim et al., 2001; Li et al., 2006b; Vaughan et al., 2000).

9

2.2.3.2 Genetic susceptibility

The importance of genetic susceptibility in the development of NPC derived from the observation that the second and third generations of Chinese who emigrated to low endemic areas had a higher incidence of NPC than the local Caucasians (Buell, 1974). Familial aggregations of NPC and the occurrence of multiple cases of the disease in first-degree relatives have subsequently been reported in Southern Chinese populations (Jia et al., 2004). Moreover, epidemiologic studies have shown that the risk of NPC was higher among individuals with a first-degree relative with NPC, compared with those without a family history (Chen & Huang, 1997; Hsu et al., 2011; Jia et al., 2004).

It is now well documented that genetic variations caused by mutations or single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) contribute to the development of NPC. A number of genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have revealed several variants or SNPs of major histocompatibility (MHC) class 1 genes on chromosome 6p21.3 were strongly associated with NPC risks (Bei et al., 2010; Tang et al., 2012; Tse et al., 2009). The MHC class 1 genes, including human leukocyte antigen (*HLA*)-*A*, *HLA-B*, and *HLA-C*, encode proteins that play important roles in triggering host immune responses by identifying and presenting foreign antigens (such as EBV-encoded peptides) to the cytotoxic T cells (Hansen & Bouvier, 2009). An increased risk of NPC is found in individuals with *HLA-A*02:07*, *A*33:03* and *B*38:02* alleles, whereas those with *HLA-A*11:01*, *HLA-A*31:01*, *B*13:01* and *B*55:02* alleles have a decreased risk of NPC (Bei et al., 2012; Goldsmith et al., 2002; Tang et al., 2012; Tian et al., 2015). Additionally, variations in other genes that are located within the MHC regions such as *GABBR1*, *NLRC5*, *B2M*, *HCG9* and *CIITA* were also shown to increase the risk of developing NPC (Cui et al., 2016a; Li et al., 2017; Tang et al., 2012; Tse et al., 2009).

In addition to the MHC region, GWAS studies have identified other genetic susceptibility loci for NPC, including CDKN2A/CDKN2B (9p21), CLPTMIL/TERT (5p15.3), MECOM (3q26) and TNFRS19 (13p12) (Bei et al., 2010; Bei et al., 2016; Cui et al., 2016a; Dai et al., 2016a). Further, a case-control GWAS study conducted in Malaysia identified genetic variations in the integrin- α 9 (*ITGA*9) gene which is located on chromosome 3p were associated with the increased susceptibility to NPC in Malaysian Chinese populations (Ng et al., 2009a). Additionally, genome-wide studies of copy number variations (CNV) showed that CNV of MICA and HCP5 genes located on chromosome 6p21.3 were associated with increased risk of NPC (Tse et al., 2011). In addition to CNV on chromosome 6p21.3, CNV on chromosome 11q14.3 was also reported as an NPC susceptibility locus in Malaysian Chinese populations (Low et al., 2016). Further, whole exome sequencing (WES) of germline DNAs from three closely related family member of NPC revealed variants (T316S, S772L and Y816*) in the MLL3 gene, suggesting a high penetrance inherited mutation predisposing to NPC (Sasaki et al., 2015). In a cohort of 161 NPC patients and 895 controls from Southern China, MST1R gene on chromosome 3p21.3 was identified as a novel susceptibility gene of NPC patients with early-age onset (age of $\leq 20y$) (Dai et al., 2016b). Taken together, identification of NPC susceptibility loci and their biological function would greatly enhance the understanding of the genetic contributions to NPC tumourigenesis.

Polymorphisms in other genes including genes responsible for DNA repair (*hOGG1, RAD51L1, XRCC1*), interleukins (*IL1a, IL10, 1L16, IL18*), nitrosamine metabolism (*CYP2E1, CYP2A6*), detoxification of carcinogens 1 (*GSTM1*), cell cycle control (*MDM2 and TP53*), cell adhesion and migration (*MMP2*) have been shown to increase the risk of developing NPC (Cho et al., 2003; Cui et al., 2016b; Guo & Xia, 2013; He et al., 2007; Hildesheim et al., 1997; Hildesheim & Wang, 2012; Tiwawech et al., 2006; Yao et al., 2016). Lastly, there is increasing evidence to suggest that

polymorphisms in particular microRNAs (miRNAs), such as miR-146a, miR-196A2 and miR-423, may alter individual susceptibility to NPC (Binbin Li et al., 2017; Huang et al., 2014; Li et al., 2014; Lung et al., 2013).

2.2.3.3 EBV infection

The link between EBV and NPC was initially identified in 1966 when elevated levels of antibodies against the EBV viral capsid antigen (VCA) and early antigen (EA) were found in the sera of NPC patients (Old, 1966). The association of EBV with NPC was later confirmed by the presence of EBV genomes in the biopsy samples of NPC patients (Nonoyama et al., 1973; Wolf et al., 1973). It is now well-recognised that NPC, particularly non-keratinising NPC, is invariably associated with EBV infection (Young et al., 2016). EBV genomes in NPC cells exist as monoclonal episomes, suggesting that NPC is derived from the clonal expansion of a single EBV-infected progenitor cell (Chen et al., 1993; Pathmanathan et al., 1995; Raab-Traub & Flynn, 1986). The contribution of EBV infection in NPC pathogenesis is further illustrated in section 2.3.

2.2.4 Clinical presentation, diagnosis and treatment

Due to non-specific symptoms, more than 70% of NPC patients are diagnosed at advanced stages (Zainal Ariffin & Nor Saleha, 2007). The most common presenting symptoms of NPC are neck lumps, nasal discharge, nasal blockage, mild hearing loss, mild blocked ears, unilateral facial numbness and unilateral headache (Chan et al., 2005; Khoo & Pua, 2013).

Diagnosis and staging of NPC are made based on clinical, histopathological and radiological examinations. Basic clinical examinations include a complete physical

examination of head and neck area (nose, mouth, throat, facial muscles and cervical lymph nodes) and a more detailed examination including nasal endoscopy of the nasopharynx to determine the presence of exophytic tumours (Abdullah et al., 2009). For histopathological examinations, tumour biopsy samples obtained from the nasopharyngeal mass are sent for microscopic examination to determine the presence of cancer cells and subtypes of NPC (Abdullah et al., 2009). Lastly, radiological examinations such as chest X-ray, bone scan, computerized tomography (CT) scan, integrated positron emission tomography (PET/CT) scan and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are used to assess tumour extension and disease stage (Ng et al., 2009b). Among these radiological techniques, MRI is more sensitive in detecting tumour involvement in the parapharyngeal space, skull base, intracranial area, sphenoid sinus and retropharyngeal nodes. Meanwhile, PET/CT scan is more superior in detecting local and distal metastases (Ng et al., 2009b). The combined use of MRI and PET/CT scan for diagnosis provides more accurate information on the disease staging which may help in designing treatment plans for NPC patients (Mao et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2017). The tumour, node, and metastasis (TNM) classification of the American Joint Committee on Cancers (AJCC) is used to determine the stage of the disease (Brennan, 2006). Although not routinely used in the clinics, other EBV-based methods, for example EBV serological examination and measurement of EBV DNA load in plasma, have been suggested as diagnostic tests for NPC and these examination may be useful for early detection of NPC in high-risk groups (Cao, 2017; Chan et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2015b; Tao & Chan, 2007).

Unlike other cancers of head and neck, radiotherapy (RT) instead of surgery is the mainstay of treatment for NPC due to the hypersensitivity of NPC tumours to radiation and location of the tumours in close proximity with many vital organs (Wei & Kwong, 2010). The commonly used RT techniques for NPC are two-dimensional RT
(2D-RT), three-dimensional conformal RT (3D-CRT) and intensity-modulated RT (IMRT). Among the above RT techniques, IMRT provides a better treatment option in treating all stages of NPC by ensuring high local tumour control, reduced toxicity rates and improved survival rates of NPC patients (Chen et al., 2016; Lai et al., 2011). Currently, concurrent chemo-radiotherapy is used to treat patients with locally advanced NPC, and the most common chemotherapy drugs are cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil (Chen et al., 2013; Paiar et al., 2012).

However, treatment failure using RT alone or concurrent chemo-radiotherapy in treating NPC patients with advanced and distant metastasis has become a major problem (Chen et al., 2016; Ma et al., 2016; Tan et al., 2016). This treatment often causes severe side effects due to the location of the tumour at the base of the skull, closely surrounded by vital organs such as the brain (Ma et al., 2016; Tan et al., 2016). The existence of EBV in almost all NPC cells provides an opportunities for the development of EBV-based treatment such as immunotherapies or inhibitors that may be useful in treating NPC patients in the future (Cao et al., 2014; Cao, 2017; Hutajulu et al., 2014; Lutzky et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2012).

2.2.5 Molecular basis of NPC

With the advances of genetic and cytogenetic techniques, a high frequency of chromosome abnormalities have been identified in NPC cell lines, xenografts and primary tissues (Lo et al., 2012; Lo & Huang, 2002). These data guided attempts to identify numerous oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes, which are involved in the pathogenesis of NPC. Frequent chromosome losses in NPC were detected on chromosome 3p, 9p and 14q which contain tumour suppressor genes such as *RASSF1A* (3p21.3), *CDKN2A/p16* (9p21.3), *TRAF* (14q32.3) and *NFKBIα* (14q13) (Cheng et al.,

2000; Cheung et al., 2009; Lo et al., 1995; Lo et al., 2000; Xiao et al., 2006; Yau et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2009). Among these genes, inactivation of *CDKN2A/p16* by homozygous deletion and/or promoter hypermethylation has been reported in almost all NPC samples (Lo et al., 1996; Lo et al., 1995). *CDKN2A/p16* plays an important role in regulating G1/S phase of cell cycle progression and inactivation of this gene was shown to support persistent EBV infection in immortalised NPE cells (Serrano et al., 1993; Tsang et al., 2012). In addition, inactivation of *RASSF1A* has been detected in more than 80% of primary NPC tumours and inactivation of this gene was shown to accelerate mitotic progression that led to increased risks for chromosomal aberrations in EBV-positive NPC cell line, C666.1 (Lo et al., 2001). Further, inactivation of *CDKN2A/p16* and *RASSF1A* was consistently detected in pre-cancerous dysplastic lesions of nasopharynx, suggesting that inactivation of these genes is crucial in the initiation and progression of NPC (Chan et al., 2002; Chan et al., 2000).

Amplifications of several oncogenes such as *PIK3CA* (3q26.3), *cyclin D1/CCND1* (11q13) and *LTBR* (12p13) have been reported in NPC (Hui et al., 2002; Hui et al., 2005; Or et al., 2010), suggesting the involvement of activated nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/protein kinase B (PI3K/AKT) in the progression of NPC. In addition, two oncogenic fusion genes, E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase component n-recognin 5 (*UBR5*)-zinc finger protein 423 (*ZNF423*) and fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 (*FGRF3*)-transforming acidic coiled-coil-containing protein 3 (*TACC3*), were identified in NPC primary tumours (Chung et al., 2013; Zheng et al., 2016).

In 2014, Lin and colleagues were the first to describe a comprehensive mutational landscape of NPC genomes using a combination of WES, target deep sequencing and SNP array analysis. A number of distinct genetic alterations, such as

deletion and/or mutations of genes affecting important cellular processes and pathways including chromatin modification (ARID1A, MLL2, BAP1, MLL3, TET), ERBB-PI3K signalling (PIK3CA, ERBB2, ERBB3, AKT2, PTEN) and autophagy machinery (ATG2A, ATG7, ATG13) were identified in the study (Lin et al., 2014a). More recently, loss-offunction mutations of multiple NF-KB pathway negative regulators (NFKBIa, CYLD, TNFAIP3, NLRC5) were reported in NPC using WES analyses, demonstrating that activation of NF-kB signalling is crucial in the pathogenesis of NPC (Li et al., 2017; Zheng et al., 2016). Notably, expression of EBV-encoded LMP1 appears to be mutually exclusive with the presence of the mutated NF-kB regulators (Li et al., 2017), suggesting that occurrence of mutation in the negative regulators of NF-kB pathway supplants the needs for LMP1-mediated NF-kB activation during the progression of NPC. Collectively, these observations suggest that the NF-κB pathway is constitutively activated in NPC and its activation is mediated by either LMP1 or somatic mutations to confer an inflammatory response that is crucial in NPC tumorigenesis. It is of interest that mutations in TP53 and alipoprotien B mRNA editing enzyme catalytic polypeptidelike (APOBEC)-mediated signatures genes (APOBEC3B, APOBEC3A) were also identified in NPC (Lin et al., 2014a; Zheng et al., 2016). Collectively, these data have led to a genetic progression model being proposed for NPC (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Model of NPC Pathogenesis. Long-term exposure of the NPE cells to environmental carcinogens (e.g. salted food and preserved food) induces various genetic alterations in the NPE cells, including activation of telomerase activity and inactivation of RASSF1A and CDKN2A/p16 on chromosome 3p and 9p, which facilitate immortalisation and genome instability. Further de-regulation of cellular signalling of host cells (inactivation of CDKN2A/p16 and/or overexpression of cyclin D1/CCND1) promotes persistent EBV infection in NPE cells. Subsequently, the expression of latency II genes including EBERs, BARTs, EBNA1, LMP1 and LMP2A alters multiple cellular pathways and modulates host's microenvironments that encourage tumour formation. Importantly, EBV facilitates global hyper-methylation, which inactivates various tumour suppressive genes. Further, the occurrence of acquired mutations in multiple signalling pathways including NF-kB, chromatin modification, ERBB/PI3K and PI3K-MAPK alters the activities of various cancer-related genes to enhance tumour heterogeneity. NF-KB pathway is constitutively activated in NPC and its activation is mediated by either LMP1 or somatic mutations to confer an inflammatory response that is crucial in NPC tumorigenesis. Further, somatic mutations of TP53, APOBEC and other genes may also drive the tumour progression. Figure modified from Tsao et., al 2017.

2.3 Epstein - Barr virus (EBV)

EBV was discovered in 1964 as the first human tumour virus (Epstein et al., 1964) and is now classified as a Group I carcinogen. A number of malignancies are associated with EBV infection, including Burkitt lymphoma (BL), Hodgkin lymphoma (HL), post-transplant Lymphoproliferative disorders (PTLD), NPC and Gastric carcinoma (GC) (Young et al., 2016).

2.3.1 EBV genome and sequence variations

EBV was identified in a Burkitt's lymphoma biopsy by Anthony Epstein's group (Epstein et al., 1964). EBV belongs to the γ -herpesvirinae subfamily and its genome is composed of linear double-stranded DNA of approximately 184 kilobases (kb) that encodes for more than 85 genes. It is an enveloped virus that contains a DNA core surrounded by an icosahedral nucleocapsid and a tegumen. The viral genome has a series of 0.5kb terminal direct repeats (Trs) at each terminus that divide the genome into short and long unique sequences (Baer et al., 1984; Bankier et al., 1983; Kintner & Sugden, 1979). When EBV infects a cell, the Trs join to form a covalently closed circular episome. The joining of the TRs regions occurs randomly and, as a result, each circularized episome has a unique but variable number of Trs; therefore, the number of Trs can be used to determine EBV clonality in the infected cells (Bankier et al., 1983).

Two main subtypes of EBV have been identified, namely EBV-1 (type 1) and EBV-2 (type 2). These two types differ in the sequences of EBV nuclear antigen (EBNA)-2 and EBNA-3 genes (Dambaugh et al., 1984; Rowe et al., 1989; Sample et al., 1990). Compared to type 2, type 1 is more efficient in transforming B-lymphocytes and the infected cells grow significantly faster (Rickinson et al., 1987). Further, type 1 is

more predominantly observed in NPC and is the most common strain identified worldwide, while type 2 is more common in some areas of Africa (Rickinson et al., 1987; Zimber et al., 1986).

EBV strain variations are postulated to contribute to different EBV-associated diseases in different geographical locations. It was not until 1984 that the first complete EBV genome of the B95.8 strain was sequenced by Sanger sequencing (GenBank accession no. NC_007605) (Baer et al., 1984). In 2003, a "wild-type" EBV genome of 171kb was constructed using B95.8 as a backbone whilst a 12kb deleted segment was provided by the Raji sequences (de Jesus et al., 2003). With the advancement of next-generation sequencing (NGS) technology, almost 100 EBV strains from all over the world have been sequenced and published, including EBV strains isolated from NPC (GD1, GD2, HKNPC1-9 and M81) and BL (AG876, Mutu and Akata) biopsies (Dolan et al., 2006; Kwok et al., 2012; Kwok et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2013; Palser et al., 2015; Santpere et al., 2014; Tsai et al., 2013; Zeng et al., 2005).

Analysis of the EBV genomes demonstrated that the differences in EBNA2, EBNA3A, 3B and 3C gene sequences remain the major variations among different strains (Palser et al., 2015). Recently, studies have shown that different EBV strains possess different transforming abilities and there is a correlation between the cell tropism and the lineage of the tumours they induce. For example, the M81 EBV strain (isolated from an NPC) infected primary epithelial cells more efficiently than, B95.8 (isolated from an IM patient) and Akata (isolated from a BL) EBV strains, which displayed a stronger tropism for B cells (Tsai et al., 2017; Tsai et al., 2013).

Variations in some EBV latent genes might also result in functional differences, and LMP1 is of particular interest. An LMP1 variant containing a 10-amino acid (30bp) deletion at a region upstream of C-terminal activating region (CTAR)-2 (amino acids 346-355) was commonly found in NPC from the endemic regions (Cheung et al., 1998; Cheung et al., 1996; Hu et al., 1991; Miller et al., 1994). LMP1 has been detected in EBV isolates from various parts of the world, however from NGS analysis, sequences variations have been identified in LMP1 isolated from NPC tumours (Kwok et al., 2012; Kwok et al., 2014; Palser et al., 2015). Compared to the prototype B95.8-LMP1, LMP1 isolated from NPC tumours (NPC-LMP1) has an increased transforming ability *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Hu et al., 1993; Lo et al., 2004a). Further, NPC-LMP1 has been shown to activate NF-κB signalling more efficiently (Lo et al., 2004a; Miller et al., 1998; Rothenberger et al., 1997). Notably, sequence variations of EBNA1, EBNA2 and EBNA3 and there is no substantial evidence of disease association with these sequence variations (Kwok et al., 2012; Kwok et al., 2014; Palser et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2012).

2.3.2 Dual tropism of EBV infection

More than 95% of the adult population worldwide is infected with EBV (Young et al., 2016). In most developing countries, primary EBV infection in healthy individuals occurs within the first few years of life and is generally asymptomatic. In developed countries, primary infection is often delayed until late adolescence or adulthood and is often accompanied by infectious mononucleosis (IM). IM is a self-limiting lymphoproliferative disease that is described as acute glandular fever and is characterized by expansion and proliferation of B-cells (Evans et al., 1968).

Primary EBV infection is believed to be initiated by the virus crossing the epithelium of the oropharynx, infecting naïve B cells in the tonsil and driving their proliferation to become activated B blasts (Figure 2.2). Some infected B cells escape cytotoxic T cell responses and transit through a germinal center reaction. Through a series of viral latency programs, the infected B cells are eventually driven into resting memory B cells and a life-long infection is established (Rickinson, 2014; Thorley-Lawson & Gross, 2004). The differentiation of memory B cells into plasma cells trigger EBV lytic cycle to release new virions for spreading to new hosts (Laichalk & Thorley-Lawson, 2005). The oropharyngeal epithelium is believed to be a major site for viral replication, supported by observations showing that EBV replication was found in the epithelial cells of oral 'hairy' leukoplakia in patients with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (Niedobitek et al., 1991b). Furthermore, a study has shown that EBV can establish a productive infection in the suprabasal layers of stratified epithelium in an organotypic oral keratinocyte culture system, further pointing a role for epithelial cells in the replication and spreading of EBV virions (Temple et al., 2014). This dual tropism of EBV infection appears to be crucial for the virus to maintain a persistent infection in humans.



Figure 2.2. Primary EBV infection. Primary EBV infection begins in the epithelium of the oropharynx. EBV infects naïve B cells in the tonsil and drives their proliferation to become activated B blasts. Infected B cells, which have escaped the cytotoxic T cell response, enter into a germinal center. Through a series of viral latency programs, the infected B cells are eventually driven into resting memory B cells to achieve a life-long infection. The differentiation of the infected memory B cells into plasma cells triggers EBV lytic cycle to release new virions for spreading to new host. Figure modified from Rickinson, 2014.

2.3.3 EBV entry mechanisms

EBV infection of B cells is initiated by a receptor-mediated process, whereby the EBV envelope protein, gp350, binds the CR2 (CD21) receptor on the surface of B cells (Nemerow et al., 1987). The fusion of the EBV virions into B cells is subsequently triggered by the interaction between another viral envelope glycoprotein, gp42, with the HLA class II molecule on the B cell surface. Gp42 also binds directly to another viral glycoprotein, gH, a component of the viral "core fusion machinery" that consists of a homotrimer gB and a heterodimer gHgL. These interactions trigger the fusion of the virion envelope with the host cell membrane to facilitate EBV entry (McShane et al., 2003).

Compared to B cells, EBV infection of human epithelial cells is relatively less well studied. Neither CR2 nor HLA class II molecules are expressed on the surface of epithelial cells (Imai et al., 1998; Shapiro & Volsky, 1983). Consequently, EBV infection of epithelial cells *in vitro* is not as efficient as that of B-cells (Tsang et al., 2014) and the infection rate can be enhanced by direct co-culturing of the epithelial cells with IgG-treated EBV-producing Akata cells (Daibata et al., 1990; Imai et al., 1998; Takada et al., 1991). Although EBV glycoprotein gp42 is essential for EBV entry into B cells, it impedes the entry of EBV into epithelial cells by forming a ternary complex with gHgL glycoprotein (Sathiyamoorthy et al., 2016; Wang et al., 1998). Indeed, EBV particles released from B cells lack gp42 which facilitate an efficient infection of epithelial cells was mediated by the direct interaction between EBV glycoproteins gHgL and the host integrin's ($\alpha\nu\beta5$, $\alpha\nu\beta6$ and $\alpha\nu\beta8$) (Chesnokova & Hutt-Fletcher, 2011; Chesnokova et al., 2009; Tugizov et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2015). On polarized epithelial cells, which resemble more closely the *in vivo* environment, an interaction

between the viral membrane protein BMRF-2 and the host $\beta 1$ and/or αv integrin's has been demonstrated to mediate the entry of EBV virions through basolateral membranes (Tugizov et al., 2003; Xiao et al., 2008; Xiao et al., 2007). Another mechanism of EBV entry into polarised epithelial cells via the basolateral surface was described as a process of 'transfer infection' whereby EBV-loaded CD11b+ B cells form conjugates with epithelial cells by binding to the CD44v3 and lymphocyte-endothelial-epithelial cell adhesion molecule (LEEP-CAM) (Shannon-Lowe et al., 2006; Shannon-Lowe & Rowe, 2011). Further, neuropilin 1 and non-muscle myosin heavy chain IIA, have been found to mediated EBV entry into epithelial cells by interacting with the gHgL complex (Wang et al., 2015; Xiong et al., 2015). Of note, a novel "in-cell infection" mechanism for EBV infection in an immortalised NPE cell line (NPEC1-Bmi1) and an EBVnegative NPC cell line (CNE2) has been described. This process occurs through the penetration of EBV infected B-cells into epithelial cells by forming cell-in-cell structures, resulting in the release of virions into epithelial cells (Ni et al., 2015). Very recently, a study has shown that EBV entry into epithelial cells is mediated by the binding of the viral gHgL complex to the cellular protein, Ephrin receptor tyrosine kinase A2 (EphA2) (Chen et al., 2018).

2.3.4 **EBV** infection cycle

EBV displays two distinct lifecycles, namely lytic and latent cycles. The lytic cycle is associated with viral replication in which new virions are produced while latent cycle is a state of persistent infection (Tsurumi et al., 2005).

2.3.4.1 EBV lytic infection

The lytic form of EBV infection is important for virus spreading and transmission from host to host. EBV lytic infection can be induced *in vitro* efficiently in latently infected B cells using various chemicals such as phorbol 12-mysistate 13acetate (TPA), sodium butyrate, trichostatin A and valproic acid (Countryman et al., 2009) or by cross-linking the cell surface receptor of B cells with anti-human IgG antibody (Sinclair et al., 1991). While the precise in vivo mechanisms responsible for triggering the EBV lytic cycle are not fully understood, this process is intimately associated with the differentiation of the host cells (Becker et al., 1991; Laichalk & Thorley-Lawson, 2005; Nawandar et al., 2015; Young et al., 1991). Following reactivation, the lytic genes of EBV are expressed in a temporally regulated manner and more than 80 EBV lytic genes have been identified so far (Murata, 2014; Young et al., 2007). The viral immediate-early genes, BZLF1 and BRLF1, which encode the transcription factors, Zta and Rta respectively, are the earliest viral genes, which are expressed upon lytic reactivation. These genes trigger the activation of lytic cycle by activating the transcription of EBV early genes which result in the replication of the EBV DNA and finally leading to the expression of EBV late proteins resulting in the production of infectious virions (Binne et al., 2002; Kolman et al., 1996; Le Roux et al., 1996; Ragoczy et al., 1998; Schelcher et al., 2005). It is recognised that expression of BZLF1 alone is sufficient to disrupt EBV latency, thereby activating EBV lytic genes including BRLF1. Compared to BZLF1, expression of BRLF1 alone is less potent to disrupt EBV latency, suggesting that *BZLF1* and *BRLF1* may act in synergy to activate the viral lytic cycle (Kolman et al., 1996; Le Roux et al., 1996; Ragoczy et al., 1998) (Schelcher et al., 2005). A study has shown that expression of both the BZLF1 and BRLF1 is more effective in activating EBV lytic cycle compared that either gene expressed (Liu et al., 1997). BZLF1 and BRLF1 synergistically induce the expression of multiple early lytic genes, including six viral protein required to assemble the replication machinery; BALF5 (the DNA polymerase), BALF2 (the single-stranded DNA-binding protein homologue), BMRF1 (the DNA polymerase processivity factor), BSLF1 (the primase homologue), BBLF4 (the helicase homologue) and BBLF2/3 (formed from the splicing of *BBLF2* and *BBLF3* open reading frames; a potential homologue of the third component of the helicase–primase complex) (Young et al., 2016). An abortive lytic cycle has been proposed to be the initial mode of primary EBV infection of both B cells and epithelial cells that is considered essential for the transformation process (Cochet et al., 1993; Ersing et al., 2017; Klein et al., 1974; Lin & Raab-Traub, 1987; Martel-Renoir et al., 1995). Evidence has emerged to show that lytic genes play important roles in the pathogenesis of EBV-associated malignancies, for examples, several lytic genes encode immune evasion proteins, including BNLF2a (inhibits the transporter of antigen processing), BILF1 (induces MHC class I internalization and degradation) and BGLF5 (mediates host shut-off) (Young et al., 2016).

2.3.4.2 EBV latency programs

A limited set of EBV genes is expressed during latent infection. EBV transforms resting B cells into immortalised lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs) in which the full spectrum of EBV latent genes - is expressed (latency III), including six Epstein-Barr nuclear antigens (EBNAs 1, 2, 3A, 3B, 3C and LP), three latent membrane proteins (LMP1, LMP2A and LMP2B), two non-coding Epstein-Barr virus-encoded RNAs (EBER1 and EBER2), BamHI-A rightward transcripts (BARTs), miRNAs of BARTs and BamHI fragment H rightward open reading frame 1 (BHRF1). During various stages of B cell differentiation *in vivo*, EBV expresses either the latency III or a more restricted form of latency known as latency II (expression of EBNA1, LMPs, EBERs,

BARTs, miR-BARTs) or latency 1 (only EBNA1, EBERs, BARTs and miR-BARTs are expressed) (Rowe et al., 1992). NPC expresses a latency II programs with an additional latent protein called BamHI-A fragment rightward reading frame 1 (BARF1). During latency III, all the EBNAs are transcribed from either the C promoter (Cp) or W promoter (Wp). In contrast, EBNA1 is transcribed from the Q promoter (Qp) during latency I and latency II (Figure 2.3) (Lear et al., 1992; Li & Minarovits, 2003; Salamon et al., 2001; Tao et al., 1998). EBV-associated B cell malignancies express either latency I, II or III, while EBV-associated epithelial cancers express a latency II pattern (Table 2.1).



Figure 2.3. The EBV genome. The origin of plasmid replication (OriP) is shown in orange. The short thick green arrows represent exons encoding latent proteins: six Epstein-Barr nuclear antigens (EBNAs 1, 2, 3A, 3B, 3C and LP), three latent membrane proteins (LMP1, LMP2A and LMP2B), BamHI fragment H rightward open reading frame 1 (BHRF1) and BamHI-A fragment rightward reading frame 1 (BARF1). The short blue arrows at the top represent the highly transcribed non-polyadenylated EBV-encoded RNAs (EBER1 and EBER2). The middle long green arrow represents EBV transcription during latency III, in which all the EBNAs are transcribed from either the Cp or Wp promoter. The inner red arrow represents the EBNAs transcript, which originated from Qp promoter during latency I and II. Taken from Young et al., 2016.

Latency	Malignancies				
Ι	Burkitt's lymphomas				
II	Gastric carcinoma, Extranodal natural killer (ENK)/T-cell lymphoma, Hodgkin's lymphomas, Nasopharyngeal carcinoma				
III	Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders in immunodeficiency patients				

Table 2.1. Latency programs in EBV-associated malignancies

2.3.5 Function of EBV latent genes in NPC

2.3.5.1 Epstein-Barr nuclear antigens (EBNA1)

EBNA1 is the only EBV-encoded protein that is expressed in all forms of latency. EBNA1 binds to the origin of replication (Orip) and enables the maintenance and replication of the EBV episomes in daughter cells during mitosis (Kanda et al., 2001). It also functions as a viral transcriptional transactivator to regulate its own expression and that of other EBV latency genes (EBNAs and LMP1) required for cell immortalisation (Altmann et al., 2006; Reisman & Sugden, 1986). A number of studies have described the ability of EBNA1 to contribute to the oncogenesis of NPC. Expression of EBNA1 in NPC cells, which were then inoculated into both nude and severe combined immunodeficiency mice, significantly enhanced tumour growth and metastasis (Sheu et al., 1996). EBNA1 has been shown to enhance the survival of epithelial cells with DNA damage by destabilizing p53 through the disruption of promyelocytic leukaemia (PML) nuclear bodies (Sivachandran et al., 2008). In addition, EBNA1 promotes genetic instability in NPC cells by inducing DNA damage and oxidative stress (Cao et al., 2012). EBNA1 was also shown to contribute to the pathogenesis of NPC by promoting epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), metastasis and angiogenesis (Cao et al., 2012; O'Neil et al., 2008; Valentine et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2013b), partly through its ability to modulate various signalling pathways, including NF-κB, STAT, TGF-β1, AP-1 and IL-6 (O'Neil et al., 2008; Valentine et al., 2010; Wood et al., 2007). Notably, a dual role for EBNA1 in regulating EBV life cycle was demonstrated. EBNA1 was able to suppress spontaneous EBV lytic reactivation and facilitate lytic infection once the lytic cycle was induced (Sivachandran et al., 2012). Recent evidence also showed that EBNA1 maintained EBV latency by reducing

29

the levels of Dicer (a protein that promotes EBV reactivation) through the induction of host let-7 miRNAs (Mansouri et al., 2014).

2.3.5.2 Latent membrane proteins (LMP1 and LMP2)

The transforming ability of LMP1 is well documented. LMP1 is a classical oncogene due to its ability to transform rodent fibroblasts in vitro and promote tumour formation in mice (Wang et al., 1985). Functionally, LMP1 mimics the tumour necrosis receptor (TNFR) family members, TNFR1 and TNFR superfamily member 5 (CD40), but signals in a ligand independent manner (Mosialos et al., 1995; Uchida et al., 1999). LMP1 activates multiple signalling pathways, including PI3K-AKT, ERK-MAPK, JNK-p38, JAK-STAT and NF-KB (Dawson et al., 2012), mainly through its C-terminal activation region 1-3 (CTAR 1-3) (Dawson et al., 2012; Tsao et al., 2002). LMP1 exerts an array of effects that favour epithelial tumorigenesis, such as promoting cell proliferation, EMT, angiogenesis, cell motility, invasion and metastasis as well as inhibiting apoptosis (Chen et al., 2014; Dawson et al., 2012; Gou et al., 2003; Guo et al., 2012; He et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2007a). Notably, NPC cells expressing LMP1 acquired stem cell/progenitor-like properties, possibly via activating the Hedgehog signalling pathway (Port et al., 2013). A number of studies also revealed the involvement of LMP1 in energy metabolism of epithelial cells by inhibiting the LKB1-AMPK pathway or promoting the aerobic glycolysis pathway (Lo et al., 2015; Lo et al., 2013; Xiao et al., 2014). In addition, LMP1 can stimulate the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in NPC cells, for example, IL-1 and tumour necrosis factor (TNF), implying a potential role in modulating tumour microenvironment (Busson et al., 1987; Eliopoulos et al., 1997). In recent years, increasing evidence suggests that LMP1 can target the host miRNAs to promote carcinogenesis of both B cells and epithelial cells (Allaya et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2015a; Zhu et al., 2014).

The LMP2 gene encodes two proteins, LMP2A and LMP2B, that share 12 transmembrane domains and a short cytoplasmic C-terminus, but many functional effects of LMP2 proteins are attributed to the immunoreceptor tyrosine activation (ITAM) motif within the N-terminal cytoplasmic domain of LMP2A (Dawson et al., 2012; Tsao et al., 2015). Similar to LMP1, LMP2A exhibits its oncogenic functions through regulating multiple signalling pathways, particularly activation of PI3K/AKT signalling (Fukuda & Longnecker, 2007; Scholle et al., 2000). During epithelial carcinogenesis, LMP2A induces anchorage-independent growth, enhances cell adhesion and motility, inhibits cell differentiation and counteracts growth inhibition and apoptotic effects of TGF-B1 (Allen et al., 2005; Morrison & Raab-Traub, 2005; Scholle et al., 2000). In addition, LMP2A can induce EMT in NPC cells, which is associated with the acquisition of stem cell like properties and the increased expression of metastatic tumour antigen 1 (MTA1) through the mTOR pathway (Kong et al., 2010; Lin et al., 2014b). Importantly, LMP2A was shown to cooperate with LMP1 to modulate DNA damage signalling to provide survival advantage for NPC cells (Wasil et al., 2015). Apart from directly promoting tumour cell growth and survival, LMP2A has also been shown to contribute to immune evasion. Both LMP2A and LMP2B confer resistance to the antiviral effects of interferon α/β in epithelial cells (Shah et al., 2009), an effect that can be linked to the modulation of NF-kB and IL-6/STAT3 signalling by LMP2A (Stewart et al., 2004). LMP2A has also recently been shown to down-regulate MHC class I and class II expression and to impair the recognition of EBV-infected cells by cytotoxic T cells (Deb Pal & Banerjee, 2015; Lin et al., 2015b; Rancan et al., 2015).

2.3.5.3 Epstein-Barr virus-encoded RNAs (EBER1 and EBER2)

EBERs are the most abundant viral transcripts in cells with latent EBV infection and serve as sensitive targets for detecting EBV infection in cells and tissues. EBERs exist as EBER1 and EBER2, which are non-polyadenylated (non-coding) RNAs that form double-stranded RNA (dsRNA)-like structures. In BL, EBERs induce the production of type 1 IFN through retinoic acid-inducible gene 1 (RIG-1) signalling or activation of toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3), contributing to the activation of innate immunity (Iwakiri et al., 2009; Samanta et al., 2006). In contrast, in epithelial cells, EBERs counteract the antiviral and anti-proliferative effects of IFNs by directly binding and inhibiting dsRNA-activated protein kinase R (PKR), protecting the EBV-infected cells from IFN-induced and Fas-mediated apoptosis (Nanbo et al., 2005). EBER1 or EBER2 also shown to stimulate the secretion of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) which may act as an autocrine growth factor for NPC cells (Iwakiri et al., 2005).

2.3.5.4 BamHI-A rightward transcripts (BARTs)

Until recently, the role of BARTs in NPC remained largely unknown. BART transcripts have been consistently detected in NPC and the discovery that the BARTs can encode miRNAs was a major advance in understanding its role in NPC pathogenesis. To date, 44 mature BART miRNAs have been verified (Chen et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2017). Evidence has emerged to show that BART miRNAs promotes NPC pathogenesis by targeting a variety of viral and cellular genes. BART miRNAs maintain and facilitate EBV latency by limiting the expression of several lytic genes, including viral DNA polymerase (*BALF5*) and immediate early genes (*BZLF1* and *BRLF1*) (Barth et al., 2008; Iizasa et al., 2010). Further, BART miRNAs can suppress the expression of LMP1 and LMP2A in NPC cells and reduce the sensitivity of LMP1-expressing cells to

cisplatin (Lo et al., 2007; Lung et al., 2009). One of the major functions of BART miRNAs is to prevent apoptosis of malignant epithelial cells. A number of pro-apoptotic proteins are targeted by BART miRNAs, including p53 up-regulated modulator of apoptosis (PUMA), Bcl-2 interacting mediator of cell death (BIM), translocase of the outer mitochondrial membrane 22 (TOMM22), caspase 3 and BH3-interacting domain death agonist (Bid) (Choy et al., 2008; Dolken et al., 2010; Marquitz et al., 2011; Shinozaki-Ushiku et al., 2015; Vereide et al., 2014). BART miRNAs also appear crucial in modulating host immune responses as they have been shown to suppress the expression of histocompatibility complex class I-related chain B (MICB), which is involved in eliminating infected cells (Nachmani et al., 2009). Other cellular targets of BART miRNAs include tumour suppressor genes, DICE1, PTEN and E-cadherin, all of which are involved in tumour growth and metastasis (Cai et al., 2015; Hsu et al., 2014; Lei et al., 2013).

2.3.5.5 BamHI-A fragment rightward reading frame 1 (BARF1)

BARF1 was originally thought to be a lytic gene because it is expressed upon the induction of lytic cycle in BL cell lines (Zhang et al., 1988). However, subsequent studies in primary NPC and EBV-associated gastric cancer (EBVaGC) tissues confirmed that BARF1 is a latent gene (Seto et al., 2005). BARF1 is consider as an oncogene through its ability to induce malignant transformation of rodent fibroblasts (Sheng et al., 2001; Wei & Ooka, 1989) and immortalise primary monkey kidney epithelial cells (Wei et al., 1997), as well as enhance the tumorigenicity of EBVnegative BL and NPC cell lines (Seto et al., 2008; Sheng et al., 2001). BARF1 is a decoy receptor for macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF/CSF-1) that can block the CSF-1 signalling and interferes with the functions of macrophages, thereby showing an immune-evasive role of BARF1 in acute and persistent EBV infection (Hoebe et al., 2012; Ohashi et al., 2012; Shim et al., 2012). In EBV-positive gastric cancer cells, BARF1 was shown to exerts an anti-apoptotic role by increasing Bcl-1 to Bax ratio and facilitates cell proliferation by up-regulating the expression of NF- κ B RelA as well as NF- κ B-dependent cyclin D1 proteins (Chang et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2006). Recently, BARF1 was shown to suppress Smad4 expression and inactivate TGF- β signalling through the induction of miR-146a expression in EBV-positive gastric cancer cells (Kim et al., 2016). The role of BARF1 in NPC is not well explored.

2.3.6 EBV latent infection in NPE cells

The ability of EBV to transform B cells into LCL *in vitro* has greatly facilitated the study of EBV infection in B cell tumours. However, the inability of EBV to transform epithelial cells *in vitro* and the difficulties in generating EBV-positive cell lines have hampered progress in elucidating the mechanisms regulating EBV latent infection in epithelial cells (Tsao et al., 2017; Young et al., 2016).

EBV infection of B cells leads to an increase in the proliferation of the infected cells. In contrast, EBV infection of epithelial cells has been shown to cause growth inhibition or cellular senescence that eventually results in the loss of EBV genomes (Tsang et al., 2010). These growth-inhibitory effects of EBV infection can be overridden in cells displaying *p16* inactivation and/or overexpressing *CCND1* (Tsang et al., 2012). Given that EBV infection is closely associated with a number of undifferentiated carcinomas, the undifferentiated properties of epithelial cells may be a prerequisite for establishing persistent EBV latent infection. In this regard, overexpression of *CCND1* suppressed serum-induced differentiation, indicating that differentiation status of epithelial cells is important in the establishment of a stable EBV infection (Tsang et al., 2012).

Identification of monoclonal EBV genomes in preinvasive dysplastic lesions suggested that EBV infection of pre-malignant NPE cells is an early event in the pathogenesis of NPC (Pathmanathan et al., 1995). It is generally recognised that NPE cells with specific genetic abnormalities are susceptible to EBV latent infection, and once infected, the EBV latent genes provide survival benefits to drive the transformation process in these cells. However, currently only one study has shown that deletion of *p16* and/or overexpression of *CCND1* contributed to a persistent EBV infection in immortalised NPE cells (Tsang et al., 2012). A fuller understanding on genetic events that regulate EBV latent infection in NPE cells is crucial and the present study focused on the role of transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) signalling pathway in this context.

2.4 Transforming growth factor (TGF)-β

The TGF- β superfamily is a group of multifunctional proteins comprising of more than 40 members that are clustered in several subfamilies, such as TGF- β itself, activins/inhibins, bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), nodal and growth differentiation factors (GDFs) (Derynck & Zhang, 2003; Siegel & Massague, 2003). TGF- β 1 was the first member to be identified and was named due its ability to transform normal rat fibroblasts in soft agar assays (Roberts et al., 1980). TGF- β 1 plays an important role in regulating numerous biological processes such as proliferation, apoptosis, cell differentiation, senescence, angiogenesis, epithelial mesenchyme transition (EMT) and immune suppression (Derynck et al., 2001; Siegel & Massague, 2003).

2.4.1 Synthesis and activation of TGF-β

There are three TGF- β isoforms ubiquitously expressed in mammals, namely TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2 and TGF- β 3, each encoded by different genes (Assoian et al., 1983; Childs et al., 1982; Derynck et al., 1985; Derynck et al., 1988; Seyedin et al., 1987). These isoforms are highly similar and share around 70-80% homology within their sequences (Derynck et al., 1988; Segarini et al., 1987; Sporn et al., 1986). TGF- β 1 was the first isoform to be characterized and studied (Assoian et al., 1983; Childs et al., 1982) and is considered as the prototype factor of the TGF- β superfamily (Lebrun, 2012). Most of the work describing the role of TGF- β in cancer has focused on TGF- β 1 and, therefore, the following review will focus primarily on this isoform.

TGF- β 1 is synthesized in a latent form as a large precursor protein that consists of 390 amino acids (Derynck et al., 1985). The precursor protein undergoes proteolytic digestion by the endopeptidase furin to produce two proteins, namely latency-associated peptide (LAP; 278 amino acids) and mature TGF- β 1 (112 amino acids) (Dubois et al., 1995; Gentry et al., 1988). Despite the cleavage of the precursor protein, the LAP remains bound to the mature TGF- β 1 making the TGF- β 1 biologically inactive (Gentry & Nash, 1990). The activation of TGF- β 1 can be mediated by several factors, such as changes in the cellular environment (for example extreme acidification or alkalinisation and high temperature), activation of proteases including plasmin and metalloprotease, release of thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) in response to tissue injury, release of irradiationinduced reactive oxygen species (ROS) and induction of integrin $\alpha v \beta 6$ in response to inflammation (Annes et al., 2003; Barcellos-Hoff et al., 1994; Gentry & Nash, 1990; Jullien et al., 1989; Khalil, 1999; Munger et al., 1999; Sato & Rifkin, 1989; Yu & Stamenkovic, 2000).

2.4.2 TGF-β signalling pathway

2.4.2.1 TGF-β receptors

Three types of TGF-β1 receptors have been identified, namely TGFR-1, TGFR-2 and TGFR-3 (Cheifetz et al., 1988; Derynck & Feng, 1997; Massague et al., 1982; Massague & Like, 1985). All the three receptors exist as homodimers at the cell surface and each receptor consists of a N-terminal extracellular domain, a transmembrane region and a C-terminal cytoplasmic domain (Ebner et al., 1993; Lin et al., 1992; Lopez-Casillas et al., 1991; Wang et al., 1991).

Both TGFR-1 and TGFR-2 are transmembrane serine/threonine kinase receptors (Ebner et al., 1993; Lin et al., 1992). TGFR-1 consists of 503 amino acids and contains a glycerine and serine (GS) rich domain (Ebner et al., 1993; Wieser et al., 1995). TGFR-2 consists of 567 amino acids and has a large number of cysteine residues in its extracellular domain (Lin et al., 1992; Suzuki et al., 1994). TGF- β signalling is activated upon binding one of the active TGF- β ligand (TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2 and TGF- β 3) to TGFR-2 an event that triggers the phosphorylation of its serine/threonine kinase domain (Figure 2.4) (Franzen et al., 1993; Wrana et al., 1992). This leads to the recruitment and phosphorylation of serine/threonine residues in the GS rich domain of TGFR-1 (Franzen et al., 1993; Wrana et al., 1994). The activated heterotetramer TGFR-1/TGFR-2 complex subsequently triggers the canonical Smad-dependent signalling pathway, as well as non-canonical Smad-independent signals.

In contrast to TGFR-1 and TGFR-2, TGFR-3 is a membrane proteoglycan that consists of 853 amino acids (Cheifetz et al., 1988; Wang et al., 1991). TGFR-3 acts as a co-receptor of TGF- β signalling by presenting activated TGF- β ligands directly to

TGFR-2, thereby enhancing the binding of the activated ligands to the TGFR-2. This is particularly important for TGF- β 2 because it has a low binding affinity towards TGFR-2 (Lopez-Casillas et al., 1993).

2.4.2.2 The canonical TGF-β/Smad signalling pathway

Smad proteins were the first identified downstream signalling transducers of TGF-β1 (Zhang et al., 1996). The proteins of the SMAD family are the vertebrate homologs of the *Drosophila* mothers against decapentaplegic (MAD) protein and the *Caenorhabditis elegans* small body size (SMA) protein (Raftery et al., 1995; Sekelsky et al., 1995). These proteins are divided into three groups based on their functions; receptor-activated Smads (R-Smad; Smad2 and Smad3), common mediator Smad (Co-Smad; Smad4) and inhibitory Smads (I-Smads; Smad6 and Smad7) (Heldin et al., 1997; Moustakas et al., 2001; Savage et al., 1996). Structurally, the Smad contain two highly conserved Mad homology (MH) domains, MH1 and MH2, located at the N-terminal and C-terminal end, respectively (Shi et al., 1997; Shi et al., 1998). The MH1 and MH2 domains have an affinity for each other, therefore, in the basal state, the MH1 and MH2 domains interact with each other resulting in autoinhibition of Smad signalling (Shi et al., 1998).

Following TGF- β 1 binding and receptor activation, the Smad anchor for receptor activation (SARA) protein binds TGFR-1 and the MH2 domains of Smad2 and/or Smad3 simultaneously, resulting in the phosphorylation of the Smad2 and/or Smad3 by TGFR-1 (Abdollah et al., 1997; Macias-Silva et al., 1996; Savage et al., 1996; Tsukazaki et al., 1998). Upon activation, Smad2 and/or Smad3 are released from the receptor complex and SARA, and oligomerize with Smad4 through their MH2 domains (Chacko et al., 2004; Tsukazaki et al., 1998; Wu et al., 2000; Wu et al., 2001).

The Smad2/Smad4 and/or Smad3/Smad4 complexes then translocate to the nucleus to activate various TGF-β1 target genes (Figure 2.4) (Nakao et al., 1997).

The activation of TGF- β signalling is tightly controlled by the two I-Smads, Smad6 and Smad7. Compared to Smad6, Smad7 has been shown to inhibit TGF- β signalling more efficiently through various mechanisms (Hanyu et al., 2001; Yan et al., 2009). These include inhibition of the phosphorylation of R-Smads by forming a complex with activated TGFR-1, degradation of the activated TGFR-1 by recruiting ubiquitin E3 ligases, such as Smurf1/2 or disruption of the formation of functional Smad-DNA complexes in the nucleus (Ebisawa et al., 2001; Hayashi et al., 1997; Kavsak et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2007). Recent evidence also demonstrated that Smad7 may directly oligemerize with R-Smads and inhibit their activities (Yan et al., 2016).

2.4.2.3 The non-canonical TGF-β/Smad-independent signalling pathway

Apart from the canonical TGF- β /Smad-dependent signalling pathway, there is also evidence to suggest that TGF- β 1 can signal through non-canonical Smadindependent signalling pathways, including ERK-MAPK, p38-MAPK, PI3K-AKT and JNK (Figure 2.4) (Derynck & Zhang, 2003; Siegel & Massague, 2003). Previous studies have revealed different mechanisms employed by TGF- β 1 to trigger these pathways. For example, the activation of ERK-MAPK pathway is mediated by the phosphorylation of TGFR-1, whereas the activation of both TGFR-1 and TGFR-2 are required for the induction of PI3K-AKT signalling pathway (Galliher & Schiemann, 2007; Lee et al., 2007b; Yi et al., 2005). Notably, activation of the canonical Smad-dependent and the non-canonical Smad-independent signalling pathways is not mutually exclusive (Kamaraju & Roberts, 2005; Ohshima & Shimotohno, 2003). For example in breast cancer cells lines, both pathways act together to mediate TGF-β1-induced growth arrest (Kamaraju & Roberts, 2005).



Figure 2.4. TGF- β **signalling pathway.** Binding of an activated TGF- β ligand to TGFR-2 recruits and activates TGFR-1. This, in turn, phosphorylates Smad2 and/or Smad3, which then form complexes with Smad4 and translocate into nucleus to regulate the transcription of various target genes. In addition to the canonical Smad-dependent signalling, activated TGF- β receptors can trigger other signalling pathways including ERK-MAPK, p38-MAPK, PI3K-AKT and JNK. TGF- β signalling regulates a wide range of biological processes including proliferation, apoptosis, cellular differentiation, senescence, immune suppression, EMT and angiogenesis. Figure modified from Siegel & Massague., 2003.

2.4.3 Dual role of TGF-β signalling in cancer progression

TGF-β signalling has been shown to exhibit both tumour suppressive and tumour promoting functions depending on the cancer stage (Lebrun, 2012; Siegel & Massague, 2003). In the early stages of cancer development, TGF-β signalling functions as a tumour suppressor by inhibiting cell cycle progression from G1 to S phase and inducing apoptosis, senescence and differentiation (Lebrun, 2012; Moses et al., 1987; Siegel & Massague, 2003; Yanagihara & Tsumuraya, 1992). Conversely in late stage diseases, it acts as a tumour promoter by inducing EMT, migration, invasion, metastasis, angiogenesis and immune suppression (Lebrun, 2012; Oft et al., 1998; Siegel & Massague, 2003; Torre-Amione et al., 1990; Ueki et al., 1992). Frequently, cancer cells become resistant to the tumour suppressive effects of TGF-β1, however functional TGF-β signalling still persists in these cells enabling TGF-β1-induced tumour promoting phenotypes (Chen et al., 2001; Lehmann et al., 2000; McEarchern et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2004). For example, TGF-β1 directly contributed to the metastatic behavior of a mammary carcinoma cell line, yet these cells did not respond to TGF-β1-mediated growth inhibition (McEarchern et al., 2001).

2.4.3.1 TGF-β1 as a tumour suppressor

TGF- β 1 inhibits cell cycle progression from G1 to S phase in many normal and neoplastic epithelial cell lines and the effect is reversible, where the cells continue to proliferate in the absence of exogenous TGF- β 1 (Moses et al., 1987; Shipley et al., 1986). The transition from G1 to S phase of the cell cycle is regulated by the cyclindependent kinase (CDK) complexes (Pines, 1995). Dimerization of cyclin D1 to CDK4 and/or CDK6 leads to the phosphorylation of retinoblastoma (Rb) protein, resulting in the release of transcription factors E2Fs from the phosphorylated Rb protein (Baldin et

al., 1993; Ewen et al., 1993a). The free E2Fs translocate into nucleus and trigger the transcription of cyclin E gene, leading to the formation of cyclin E-CDK2 complex, which drives further phosphorylation of Rb protein and results in its complete functional inactivation. This, in turn, allows the transcription of genes that usher the cells from G1 to S phase (Geng et al., 1996; Schulze et al., 1995). TGF-β1 inhibits the progression of the cell cycle from G1 to S phase by inducing the expression of CDK inhibitors, p15 and p21, thereby blocking the phosphorylation of Rb protein (Harper et al., 1993; Laiho et al., 1990; Reynisdottir et al., 1995). p15 binds to CDK4 and/or CDK6, blocking their association with cyclin D1 (Ewen et al., 1993b; Reynisdottir et al., 1995). In addition, the increase in p15 levels in response to TGF-B1 induces the release of p27 from CDK4 and/or CDK6 (Reynisdottir et al., 1995). p21 and the free p27 bind to CDK2, hence inhibit the formation of cyclin A-CDK2 and/or cyclin E-CDK2, thereby blocking the progression to S phase (Harper et al., 1993; Reynisdottir et al., 1995). Further, TGF-B1 suppresses the expression of the c-MYC protein, preventing c-MYC from inhibiting the expression of p15, p21 and p27 (Claassen & Hann, 2000; Gartel & Shchors, 2003; Seoane et al., 2001; Staller et al., 2001; Warner et al., 1999; Yang et al., 2001). This safeguards the induction of the CDK inhibitors and thereby leads to G1 cell cycle arrest (Claassen & Hann, 2000; Warner et al., 1999).

Additionally, TGF- β 1 has been shown to induce apoptosis *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Bursch et al., 1993; Havrilesky et al., 1995; Hsing et al., 1996; Oberhammer et al., 1992; Sanchez et al., 1996). A role for TGF- β 1 in apoptosis was initially identified from the finding that the TGF- β -inducible early gene (*TIEG*) is an early target gene of TGF- β 1 (Tachibana et al., 1997). *TIEG* is a Sp1/Kruppel-like zinc finger transcription factor which was shown to trigger apoptosis in a human pancreatic cancer cell line (PANC1), the mink lung epithelial cell line (Mv1Lu) and hepatocytes (Hep 3B) (Chalaux et al., 1999; Ribeiro et al., 1999; Tachibana et al., 1997). *TIEG* induces apoptosis through the

generation of ROS, which leads to a decrease in Bcl-2 protein levels and subsequently results in the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential (Chalaux et al., 1999; Ribeiro et al., 1999). It is now recognised that TGF-B1 induces both the intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic programs in a cell-type dependent manner (Siegel & Massague, 2003). In lymphoma, TGF- β 1 induces the intrinsic apoptotic pathway by stimulating the expression of several pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members (such as Bmf, Bim and Bax), which in turns suppress the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins (Bcl-X_L and Bcl-2) (Bakhshayesh et al., 2012). The ability of TGF-β1 in inducing the extrinsic apoptotic program was shown in liver and lung cancer cells in which the expression of deathassociated protein kinase (DAPK) and Fas-mediated apoptosis was increased upon the exogenous addition of TGF-β1 respectively (Hagimoto et al., 2002; Jang et al., 2002; Perlman et al., 2001). Additionally, a study has revealed a synergistic action of TGF-B1 on cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. In a gastric cancer cell line (SNU-16), exogenous addition of TGF-B1 induced G1 cell cycle arrest in accordance with the activation of caspase-3. The activated caspase-3 subsequently cleaved p21, p27 and Rb proteins, resulting in the disruption of cell cycle arrest and aberrant CDK2 activation which subsequently leads to apoptosis (Kim et al., 2001).

Further, TGF-β1 is able to induce cellular senescence in cultures of normal fibroblasts and epithelial cells (Frippiat et al., 2001; Katakura et al., 1999; Kumar et al., 2017; Senturk et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2014; Yoon et al., 2005). It has been shown that TGF-β1 treatment induced senescence in the Mv1Lu, HCC cell lines and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells through the accumulation of ROS (Senturk et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2005). Additionally, recent evidence has demonstrated crosstalk between TGF-β1 and NF- κ B signalling in stimulating senescence in a human corneal epithelial cell line (Li et al., 2016). In human mammary epithelial cells, Ras-

induced senescence has been shown to be mediated through the activation of TGF- β signalling (Cipriano et al., 2011; Lin et al., 2012).

There is increasing evidence to show that TGF- β 1 signalling can regulate the differentiation of different cell types. A number of studies have shown that TGF- β 1 can induce cellular differentiation of the immortalised human skin keratinocytes, HaCaT, through NF- κ B signalling (Buschke et al., 2011; Cho et al., 2004; Descargues et al., 2008; Matsumoto et al., 1990). Further, *in vivo* studies have shown that tumours that formed from human oral keratinocytes and mouse epidermal keratinocytes carrying a dominant negative *TGFBR2* or *SMAD4* gene respectively was associated with the loss of cellular differentiation, data that demonstrated a role for TGF- β signalling in cellular differentiation (Huntley et al., 2004; Iglesias et al., 2000).

In summary, TGF- β 1 exerts its tumour suppressive effects by inhibiting cell cycle progression from G1 to S phase and by inducing apoptosis, senescence and cellular differentiation. In order to evade TGF- β 1-mediated tumour suppressive effects, cancer cells often develop genetic abnormalities on key molecules within the TGF- β signalling pathway, in particularly the canonical Smad-dependent signalling pathway (Table 2.2) (Paterson et al., 2001; Pring et al., 2006; Siegel & Massague, 2003; Tang et al., 1999; Yanagisawa et al., 1998; Yang et al., 2009).

T 11 0 0	D 1.1	CTOT (`` 11'	.1	. •
Table 77	Do rogulation		1 aignolling	nothway	components in concord
I a D C Z Z		01 1 (11)-1) Signating	Dalliway	
		01 I OI I		p	

TGF-β signalling component	Cancer Types	References	
Loss of TGFR-2 and Smad4	Breast	Lynch et al., 2001; Stuelten et al.,	
expression		2006	
Mutations of TGFBR2 gene	Colon	Grady et al., 1999; Biswas et al.,	
		2004	
Mutations of TGFBR2, SMAD4	Colorectal	Boulay et al., 2003; Fukushima et	
and SMAD7 genes		al., 2003	
Loss of Smad4 expression	Cervical	Baldus et al., 2005	
Hypermethylation of TGFBR1 and	Gastric	Ohue et al., 1996; Pinto et al., 2003	
mutations of TGFBR2			
Loss of TGFR-2, TGFR-3 and	Oral	Meng et al., 2011; Peng et al.,	
Smad4 expression		2006; X. M. Wang et al., 2009	
Mutations of TGFBR2 gene	Ovarian	Lynch et al., 1998	
Mutations of TGFBR1 gene	Prostate	Kim et al., 1996	
Mutations of <i>TGFBR2</i> and <i>SMAD4</i>	Pancreatic	Baldwin et al., 1996; Hahn et al.,	
genes		1996	

2.4.3.2 TGF-β1 as a tumour promoter

One of the important functions of TGF- β 1 as a tumour promoter is its ability to induce an EMT in both normal and cancer cells (Heldin et al., 2012; Miettinen et al., 1994; Oft et al., 1998; Piek et al., 1999). EMT is a naturally occurring process that takes place during embryogenesis and development, however, increasing evidence has suggested that EMT can be abnormally reactivated in adult tissues during pathological conditions especially in cancer (Heldin et al., 2012; Siegel & Massague, 2003). It is a process whereby highly organized and tightly connected epithelial cells transdifferentiate into disorganized and mobile mesenchyme cells (Heldin et al., 2012; Miettinen et al., 1994; Xu et al., 2009). Cells undergoing EMT are best exemplified by the loss of epithelial markers (such as E-cadherin, Zonula occludens 1, occludin, claudins, despmoplakin, β -catenin, cytokeratins 8, 18 and 19) and the induction of mesenchymal markers (such as N-cadherin, fibronectin and vimentin) (Miettinen et al., 1994; Oft et al., 1998; Piek et al., 1999; Xu et al., 2009). TGF-B1 induces EMT in cancer cells through various mechanisms, that include the up-regulation of the Snail

family of proteins (Snail and Slug), the basic helic-loop-helix protein (Twist), zincfinger proteins (Zeb1 and Zeb2), the forkhead factor (FoxC3) (Dave et al., 2011; Fan et al., 2015; Peinado et al., 2003; Shirakihara et al., 2007) as well as down-regulation of miR-200 (Gregory et al., 2008; Gregory et al., 2011; Park et al., 2008). A number of *in vitro* studies have shown that exogenous addition of TGF- β 1 promotes the migration and invasion of various epithelial cancer cells is through a mechanism involving activation of an EMT (Fischer et al., 2007; Oft et al., 1998; Pang et al., 2016). These observations were also confirmed *in vivo* where treatment of the skin of transgenic mice with TGF- β 1 enhanced the conversion of benign skin tumours to carcinoma through the activation of EMT (Portella et al., 1998).

Importantly, several *in vivo* studies have also shown that TGF-B1 can directly contribute to a more metastatic phenotype of cancer cells independent of EMT. For example, TGF- β signalling enhanced the metastasis of breast cancer cells to bone by directly inducing the expression of parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP), receptor activator of NF- κ B ligand (RANKL), connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) and IL-11 (Kang et al., 2003; Thomas et al., 1999; Yin et al., 1999). Further, TGF-B signalling was shown to enhance the extravasation of breast cancer cells into lung parenchyma by inducing the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2), EGF and angiopoietin-like 4 (ANGPTL4) (Bos et al., 2009; Padua et al., 2008). Similar observations were also reported in a number of *in vitro* studies. TGF- β 1 has been shown to promote the migration and invasion of different types of cancer cells through the modulation of miRNA expression (for example, miR-584 and miR-181) or the induction of various protein expression, such as CCAAT displacement protein (CUTL1), receptor tyrosine kinase (ErbB2), α3-integrin, MDM2 and NET1 (Araki et al., 2010; Fils-Aime et al., 2013; Giannelli et al., 2002; Michl et al., 2005; Seton-Rogers et al., 2004; Shen et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2010).

Angiogenesis is the formation of new capillaries from pre-existing blood vessels. This process is crucial to supply nutrients and oxygen to cancer cells as well as facilitating cancer cells to metastasize through the blood stream (Guerrero & McCarty, 2017; Nishida et al., 2006). TGF- β 1 has been shown to stimulate tumour-associated angiogenesis, partly through the induction of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) (Fang et al., 2012; Kang et al., 2003; Pertovaara et al., 1994; Shimo et al., 2001). In addition, *in vivo* study has shown that additional of TGF- β 1 promote angiogenesis by induce the expression of miR-29a (Wang et al., 2013a).

TGF- β 1 also promotes tumour progression by facilitating immune evasion (Miller et al., 1992; Strassmann et al., 1991; Yoshimura & Muto, 2011; Young et al., 1992). One of the early studies identified TGF- β 1 as an immunosuppressor came from the observation that TGF- β 1-expressing fibrosarcoma cells were resistant to cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL)-dependent killing (Torre-Amione et al., 1990). A number of studies subsequently showed that TGF- β 1 inhibited the production of various cytolytic proteins such as IL-2, interferon- γ , Fas-ligand, caspase activating factors granzymes A and B and pore-forming protein perforin, which are collectively responsible for the killing of tumour cells by T-cells (Brabletz et al., 1993; Thomas & Massague, 2005). Further, TGF- β 1 was shown to decrease the expression of MHC class II antigens on the surface of tumour cells, contributing to the inhibition of antigen recognition and presentation (Dong et al., 2001; Geiser et al., 1993; Wallick et al., 1990). TGF- β 1 also directly impairs the function of immune cells by inhibiting the maturation of dendritic cells and suppressing the activity of natural killer (NK) cells (Geissmann et al., 1999; Strobl & Knapp, 1999).

In summary, TGF- β 1 exerts its tumour promoting effects by inducing EMT, migration, invasion, metastasis, angiogenesis and immune suppression. High levels of TGF- β 1 are commonly detected in many types of solid tumour and positively correlate with disease stage (Dalal et al., 1993; Friedman et al., 1995; Gorsch et al., 1992; Shim et al., 1999). TGF- β 1 can be produced by the tumour cell itself or stromal cells in the tumour microenvironment including macrophages and platelets (Calon et al., 2012; Hawinkels et al., 2007). As tumours progress, most of the cancer cells develop genetic abnormalities within the pathway to escape the tumour suppressive effects of TGF- β signalling, therefore the produced TGF- β 1 functions to promote tumour progression (Pickup et al., 2013). Although it is suggested that the tumour promoting effects of TGF- β 1 are mainly mediated through the non-canonical Smad-independent signalling pathway (Bakin et al., 2000; Dumont et al., 2003; Han et al., 2005; Vinals & Pouyssegur, 2001), there is evidence to show the canonical Smad-dependent signalling pathway can also be responsible for these effects (Derynck et al., 2001; Derynck & Zhang, 2003; Siegel & Massague, 2003).

2.4.4 TGF-β signalling in NPC

There is some evidence to show that the TGF- β signalling pathway is deregulated in NPC. Mutations of in *TGFBR2* gene were initially reported in a subset of primary NPC tissues and a gene expression microarray study subsequently showed that TGF- β signalling pathway was de-regulated in EBV-positive NPC tissues compared to normal NP tissues (Harn et al., 2002; Sriuranpong et al., 2004). These observations were further supported by data showing that the expression of *TGFBR1* and *TGFBR2* mRNA and protein were down-regulated in primary NPC tissues (Fang et al., 2008; Lyu et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2012). Importantly, low levels of TGFR-1 and TGFR-2 were
correlated with increased cancer aggressiveness, as well as poor overall survival rates in NPC patients (Zhang et al., 2012).

Increasing evidence has shown that EBV infection contributes to the deregulation of TGF- β signalling pathway in NPC. The EBV-positive NPC cell line, C666.1, lacks expression of TGFR-2 (Wood et al., 2007). Further, expression of EBVencoded EBNA1 and EBV infection of NPC cells repressed TGF- β 1-induced gene transcription via increased Smad2 turnover (Wood et al., 2007), pointing to a role for EBV in regulating TGF- β signalling in NPC. EBNA1 was also shown to decrease the expression of miR-200 and miR-200b, leading to the up-regulation of the EMT mediators, ZEB1 and ZEB2, through TGF- β -mediated signalling pathway (Wang et al., 2014). In addition, EBV-encoded miRNAs BART3 and BART5 were found to be upregulated in NPC tissues and through pathway analyses, and these miRNAs target genes within the TGF- β signalling pathway to modulate apoptosis and transformation of NPC cells (Wan et al., 2015). Notably, the levels of TGFR-1 and TGFR-2 were negatively correlated with the expression of the EBER gene in NPC primary tissues (Zhang et al., 2012).

Evidence also exists to indicate that TGF- β 1 can function as a tumour promoter in NPC. For example, elevated levels of active and total TGF- β 1 were found in sera of NPC patients compared to healthy individuals and the levels of TGF- β 1 were positively correlated with the cancer stage and local relapse rates, but were negatively associated with the overall survival rates in NPC patients (Sun et al., 2007; Xu et al., 1999). There are also some functional data to support this concept. For example, treatment of NPC cells with exogenous TGF- β 1 led to the activation of the TGF- β signalling pathway in cells that were unresponsive to the growth inhibitory or pro-apoptotic apoptosis effects of the ligand (Poh et al., 2012; Xiao et al., 2010). Furthermore, it has been shown that miR-93 reduced the expression of *TGFBR2* in two NPC cell lines (CNE1 and CNE2) and lead to the activation of PI3K/AKT signalling pathway to promote the NPC cell growth, invasion, metastasis and EMT (Lyu et al., 2014). Additionally, flotillin (FLOT)-1, a component of lipid raft, and high-mobility AT-hook2 (HMGA2), a member of high-mobility group family were overexpressed in primary NPC tissues and induced the secretion of TGF- β 1. Overexpression of FLOT-1 and HMGA2 enhanced the migratory and invasive abilities of NPC cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* via TGF- β /Smad3-dependent signalling pathway mediated EMT induction (Cao et al., 2016; Xia et al., 2015). Further studies have shown that high levels of FLOT2 expression were positively correlated with cancer stage and associated with poorer overall survival in NPC patients (Liu et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2015). Suppression of FLOT2 in NPC cells reversed the metastatic effect induced by TGF- β 1 and inhibited TGF- β -induced Src phosphorylation (Zhao et al., 2015).

These data collectively show that the TGF- β signalling pathway is defective in NPC leading to escape from the various tumour suppressive functions of the ligand and that TGF- β 1 can promote a more aggressive phenotype in NPC.

CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Cell lines

Three telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTert)-immortalised NPE cell lines, NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert, were kindly provided by Prof. SW Tsao (University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong). The primary NPE cells (NP361, NP460 and NP550) were derived from nonmalignant nasopharyngeal biopsies and subsequently immortalized by over-expressing *hTert* gene to establish the hTert-immortalised NPE cell lines (Li et al., 2006a; Tsang et al., 2010). These cell lines were cultured in a 1:1 mixture of defined keratinocyte-serum free medium (Gibco Life technologies, NY) and Epilife[®] medium with growth supplements (Cascade BiologiesTM, NY). A simian virus 40 (SV40)-immortalised NPE cell line, NP69 (also a gift from Prof. SW Tsao) was cultured in keratinocyte-serum free medium (Gibco Life technologies, NY), containing 25µg/ml of bovine pituitary extract (BPE; Gibco Life technologies, NY), 0.2ng/ml of epidermal growth factor (EGF; Gibco Life technologies, NY) and 0.3mM of calcium chloride (CaCl₂, Sigma-Aldrich, USA). A BL cell line, Akata, carrying a green fluorescent protein (GFP)-tagged recombinant EBV was obtained from Dr Christopher Dawson (University of Birmingham, UK) and maintained in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) medium containing 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS; Gibco Life technologies, USA) with 800ng/ml of Geneticin (G418; Biowest, France). Two NPC cell lines, HK1 and HONE1, were cultured in RPMI medium containing 10% FBS. HEK293T, a human embryonic kidney cell line, was maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM; Gibco Life technologies, USA) containing 10% FBS. All the cells were cultured at 37°C with 95% air and 5% CO₂ in a humidified chamber.

3.2 Materials

Human recombinant TGF-β1 (Miltenyi Biotec, USA) was dissolved in 4mM hydrochloric acid (HCI, Sigma-Aldrich, USA) containing 1mg/ml of bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma-Aldrich, USA) to yield a stock concentration of 20µg/ml and stored in 50µl aliquots at -20°C. For routine use, the stock solution was further diluted with the same diluent to 1ug/ml and stored in 4°C. A TGFR-1 kinase inhibitor (SB431542; Tocris, UK) was dissolved in 100% molecular grade ethanol (Merck, Germany) to achieve a stock concentration of 10mM and stored in -20°C in small aliquots. Human anti-IgG (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was dissolved in 0.135M sodium chloride (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and filtered through a 0.2µm filter to achieve a stock concentration of 10mg/ml dihyrochloride hydrate (Fisher Scientific, US) was dissolved in sterile water to obtain a stock concentration of 10mg/ml; the solution was filtered through a 0.2µm filter and stored in -20°C. Puromycin was further diluted in sterile water to achieve a working concentration of 1µg/ml and stored in 4°C. For FISH analyses the EBV probe was kindly provided by Professor B. Sugen (University of Wisconsin-Madison, Wisconsin).

3.3 Cell culture

3.3.1 Maintenance of cell lines

Adherent cells were grown in either 25cm² or 75cm² culture flasks (Corning, USA) and sub-cultured when they reached 80% confluency. The cells were washed with Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (DPBS; Gibco Life technologies, USA) and subjected to cell dissociation using 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA (Gibco Life technologies, USA). For NP361hTert cells, TrypLETM Express (Gibco Life technologies, USA) was

used as the dissociation agent. Media containing 10% FBS (complete growth medium) were added to neutralize the trypsin reactions and the cells pelleted by centrifugation at 112g for 8 minutes. The supernatants were discarded and the cells re-suspended in growth medium.

Non-adherent cells were maintained in 75cm² culture flasks in 10ml of complete growth medium. Cells were passaged twice weekly by replacing 8 ml of the cell suspension with fresh complete growth medium. To remove dead cells, the cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 152g for 5 minutes and re-suspended in fresh complete growth medium every two weeks.

3.3.2 Cryopreservation and recovery of cell lines

One million cells were re-suspended in 1ml of freezing medium containing 90% FBS and 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO; Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and added to cryovials (Nunc, USA). The cryovials were stored at -80°C for overnight in MrFrostyTM Cryo 1°C freezing container (Nalgene, USA) before transferring into liquid nitrogen for long term storage.

The cryopreserved cells were recovered by rapid thawing in 37°C water bath. The thawed cells were transferred into medium containing 10% FBS and pelleted by centrifugation at 112g for 8 minutes. The supernatants were discarded and the cell pellet re-suspended in growth medium and transferred to a 25cm² culture flask.

3.3.3 Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with chemical inhibitor, SB431542

NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert cell lines were seeded in 100mm^2 dishes and cultured overnight to obtain a confluency of 50%. The cells were treated with a range of SB431542 concentrations (0, 2.5, 5 and 10µM) and incubated for 72 hours. The medium was removed and the cells were re-fed with fresh growth medium containing 1ng/ml TGF- β 1 and incubated for additional one hour before harvesting for Western blotting. The concentration of SB431542 which showed the maximum reduction in phosphorylation of Smad2 was used for subsequent experiments.

3.3.4 Expression of wild type *TGFBR2* and dominant negative (Dn) *TGFBR2* in NPE cells

3.3.4.1 Generating antibiotics selection killing curves

Cells were seeded in a 6-well plate one day before the experiments in order to obtain a confluency of 60%. The cells were treated with either puromycin (0.25, 0.5, 1, 2 and 4μ g/ml) or blasticidin (1, 2.5 and 5μ g/.ml) for three days. The minimum concentration of puromycin and blasticidin that killed 90% of the cells was used to select stable transfectants in subsequent experiments.

3.3.4.2 Transfection of virus producing cells, HEK293T

HEK293T cells were transfected with expression plasmids (Table 3.1) together with lentiviral packaging plasmids to generate lentiviral particles. 12×10^6 HEK293T cells were seeded in 150cm² culture flasks and cultured overnight to obtain a confluency of 80%. 40µg of expression plasmid and packaging plasmids (30µg psPAX and 10µg pMD2.G) was added to 5ml of OptiMEM (Gibco Life technologies, USA) and filtered through a 0.2µm filter. 1µl of 10mM polyethylenimine (PEI) was added to another tube containing 5ml OptiMEM and filtered through a 0.2µm filter. The plasmid DNA and PEI solutions were mixed and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature. After washing the HEK293T cells with OptiMEM, the plasmid/PEI mixture was added to the cells. The cells were incubated at 37°C for 4 hours and the medium then replaced with 15ml DMEM containing 10% FBS. The supernatant containing the lentiviruses was collected 48 hours later, filtered through a 0.45µm filter (Sartorius, Germany) and stored in 1ml aliquots at -80°C.

Table 3.1. Plasmid DNA used for transfection

Plasmid DNA	Controls
pLVX-Puro/DnTGFBR2 (TGFBR2 with deletion in the	pLVX-Puro
cytoplasmic region)	
FUGW/TGFBR2 (wild-type TGFBR2)	pFUGW

3.3.4.3 Transduction of NPE cells

Cells were seeded in 25 cm² culture flasks and cultured overnight to obtain a confluency of 60%. The lentiviral stock was reconstituted with fresh complete growth medium at 1:1 ratio and then polybrene (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was added to give a final concentration of 8μ g/ml. The growth medium was removed from the cells and the viral supernatant and polybrene mixture was then added to the cells and incubated at 37° C, 5% CO₂ overnight. The cells were cultured in fresh growth medium for an additional 48 hours before adding either 0.25μ g/ml puromycin or 5μ g/ml blasticidin to select stable transfectants.

3.3.5 Generation of *TGFBR2* knockout cells using the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-associated protein 9 (Cas9) system

Two different guide RNAs (gRNAs), gRNA-1 (5'AGTGAGTCACTCGCGCGCA 3') and gRNA-2 (5'GAAGGAAAGTTCAGTTGCA3'), targeting specific regions in the TGFBR2 gene were synthesized (Integrated DNA technologies, USA). The gRNAs were ligated separately into a pCas-guide plasmid, puro-PX459, to generate CRISPR9/TGFBR2 gRNA-1 and CRISPR9/TGFBR2 gRNA-2. 2 x 10⁵ NP460hTert cells per well were seeded in a 6-well plate and cultured overnight in order to obtain a confluency of 60%. A transfection complex was prepared by adding 2µg CRISPR9/TGFBR2 gRNA-1 and 2µg CRISPR9/TGFBR2 gRNA-2 plasmid DNA in 250µl OptiMEM before the addition of 12µl TransIT®-Keratinocyte transfection reagent (Mirus, USA). The transfection complex was incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes and cells were re-fed with fresh growth medium before adding the transfection complex in a drop-wise manner. 48 hours post-transfection, the cells were treated with 500ng/ml puromycin for 16 hours. The cells were then trypsinized and pelleted by centrifugation at 112g for 8 minutes, re-suspended in growth medium and seeded in 96-well plates at a predicted density of 3 cells per well. After 24 hours, the wells that contained only one cell (single clone) were selected and the media replaced every 48 hours. At 80% confluence, the cells were passage into 24-well plates and subsequently passaged again into 6-well plates when 80% confluent. DNA and protein were extracted from these monoclonal cells and were subjected to PCR and Western blotting, respectively. Cells which demonstrated knockout of TGFBR2 gene were further propagated and designated as CRISPR9/NP460hTert.

3.4 Infection of epithelial cells with EBV

Epithelial cells, NP361hTert, NP460hTert, NP550hTert and their corresponding control cells were infected with a recombinant EBV (Akata strain) using an established protocol (Tsang et al., 2010). Briefly, 12×10^6 Akata cells carrying a green fluorescent protein (GFP)-tagged recombinant EBV were cultured in 6ml complete growth medium. The cells were treated with 5µg/ml of human anti-IgG for 24 hours to stimulate the lytic production of infectious EBV virions. Epithelial cells were seeded in 100mm² dishes at 6 x 10⁵ cells per dish in 6ml growth medium. Following overnight incubation, 6ml of IgG-treated Akata cell suspension was added directly to the epithelial cells and cocultured for 48 hours. The Akata cells were then removed by washing the culture three times thoroughly with DPBS. The infected epithelial cells were trypsinised and pelleted by centrifugation at 112g for 8 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the cells were re-suspended in DPBS. The cells suspension was subjected to fluorescentactivated cell sorting (FACS) to count and isolate EBV-positive cells.

3.5 Fluorescent-activated cell sorting (FACS)

GFP expression was used as an indicator of EBV-positive cells. The EBVinfected cell suspension was passed through a BD-FACS tube with a cell strainer cap (BD biosciences, USA) to achieve a single cell suspension. The EBV-positive cells were counted and isolated using a BD FACSARIA III system (BD biosciences, USA). The isolated EBV-positive cells were then seeded into 6-well plates at a density of 1 x 10⁴ cells per well and cultured for 7, 14 or 21 days. The growth media were replaced every 48 hours. In experiments to inhibit TGFR-1 kinase, chemical inhibitor SB431542 was added to the fresh medium. At the desired time points, the cells were trypsinised and pelleted by centrifugation at 112g for 8 minutes. The cells were re-suspended in DPBS and the percentage of EBV-positive cells was determined using the BD FACSARIA III system.

3.6 In vitro assays

3.6.1 Cell proliferation assays

3.6.1.1 MTT [3-(4, 5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-Diphenyltetrazolium Bromide] assays

Cells were seeded in 96-well plates and cultured overnight followed by treatment with a range of TGF- β 1 concentrations (0.5, 1, 2.5, 5 and 10ng/ml) for 24, 48 and 72 hours. At the desired time points, 5mg/ml MTT in DPBS solution was added into each well and incubated for 4 hours. The culture medium containing MTT was then removed and 150µl DMSO added into each well to dissolve the purple formazan product. Spectrophotometric absorbance of the colored solution, which corresponds to the number of viable cells, was determined at 575nm in an Infinite 200 Pro NanoQuat microplate reader (Tecan, Switzerland) with a reference wavelength of 650nm. The growth response to TGF- β 1 was determined by comparing the viabilities of the TGF- β 1-treated cells and controls, diluent (4mM HCI containing 1mg/ml BSA)-treated cells.

3.6.1.2 Cell count assays

To determine the growth response to TGF- β 1 in the SB431542-treated and *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells, cells were seeded in 6-well plates for overnight growth followed by treatment with 1ng/ml TGF- β 1 for 48, 72 and 96 hours. At the desired time points, the cells were trypsinised and pelleted by centrifugation at 112g for 8 minutes.

The number of viable cells was counted using a LunaTM automated cell counter (Logos biosystems, USA).

3.6.2 Luciferase reporter assays

The *SMAD3*-dependent reporter plasmid (CAGA)₁₂-Luc which contains 12 repeats of the *SMAD*-binding element AGCCAGACA and the *SMAD2*-dependent reporter plasmid activin responsive element (ARE)-Luc containing part of the MIX.2 gene promoter were used to determine the activation of TGF- β /Smad signalling. Following TGF- β 1 treatment, Smad2 and/or Smad3 bind to Smad4 forming complexes of Smad2/Smad4 and/or Smad3/Smad4, leading to translocation of the Smad complexes to nucleus. In the nucleus, Smad3 directly binds to the Smad-binding element (SBE) CAGA sequences, to activate TGF- β target genes (Dennler et al., 1998). In contrast, Smad2 lacks intrinsic DNA binding activity and does not bind to the SBE. Therefore, the cells are co-transfected with together with forkhead activin signal transducer (FAST-1), which has the ability to bind to the ARE, acting as a cofactor that interacts with Smad2/Smad4 complexes (Chen et al., 1997).

For luciferase reporter assays, cells were transfected with the *SMAD*-responsive reporter plasmids using a Neon® Transfection System (Invitrogen Life technologies, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. To determine Smad2-dependent transcription activation, a solution containing 7.2ug ARE₃-Luc plasmid DNA, 0.8µg XFast-1 plasmid DNA and 8µg *Renilla reniformis*-thymidine kinase (RL-TK)-Luc plasmid DNA was prepared. To determine Smad3-dependent transcription activation, a solution containing 8µg (CAGA)₁₂-Luc plasmid DNA and 8µg RL-TK-Luc plasmid DNA was prepared. 3.2 x 10^5 cells were collected in an eppendorf tube and pelleted by centrifugation at 112g for 8 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the cells re-

suspended in 50µl DPBS. The cell suspension was then mixed with the plasmid DNA and the final volume was adjusted to 60µl using DPBS prior to electroporation. For electroporation, 3 ml DPBS was added into the Neon® Tube before connecting to the Neon® Pipette Station. The mixture of plasmid DNA and cell suspension was aspirated using Neon® Tip. The Neon® Tip was then inserted into the Neon® Tube and the desired electroporation program was selected (Table 3.2). After electroporation, the transfected cells were immediately transferred into a new 1.5ml eppendorf tubes containing 940µl of growth medium. The cells were then seeded in 96-well plates with a seeding density of 1 x 10^4 cells per well and incubated for overnight followed by treatment with 1ng/ml TGF- β 1 for 24 hours. For experiments targeting *TGFBR1*, the cells were pre-treated with SB431542 for 30 minutes before the addition of TGF- β 1.

Luciferase activity was measured using a Dual-Glo Luciferase assay kit (Promega, USA). 48 hours of post-transfection the culture medium was removed and 20µl of 1x Passive Lysis Buffer was added to the transfected cells. The cells were incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes with gentle vortex to achieve complete cell lysis and homogenization. Subsequently, 100µl of LARII reagent was added to the lysed cells and luciferase activity was immediately quantified using a Victor plate reader (Wallac, USA). RL-TK luciferase activity which acts as an internal control for the transfection efficiency was measured after adding 100µl of Stop & Glo reagent to the cells. Relative luciferase activity of the reporter plasmids was determined by normalizing the luciferase activity of the reporter plasmid against RL-TK activity.

Cell lines	Voltage	Width	Pulse
NP361hTert	1100	20	3
NP460hTert	1200	20	4
NP550hTert	1200	20	2

Table 3.2. Electroporation programs used in the Neon® Transfection System

3.6.3 Senescence associated–β-galactosidase (SA-β-Gal) assays

Cells were seeded in 6-well plates at 1×10^4 cells per well and SA- β -Gal assays were performed at day 7 using a senescence detection kit (Biovision, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, cells were washed once in DPBS and 1ml fixative solution was added to each well. After 15 minutes of incubation, the cells were washed twice in DPBS and 1ml solution containing 940µl staining solution, 10µl staining supplement and 50µl X-gal solution in DMSO (20mg/ml) was added to each well. The cells were incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for overnight with the culture plates covered with aluminium foil. The cells were then washed twice with DPBS and senescent cells were stained blue around the perinuclear region. Phase-contrast photographs at 20x magnification were taken and the number of senescent cells was counted in five random fields.

3.6.4 Differentiation assays

 $1 \ge 10^4$ cells were seeded in a 100mm^2 dish 24 hours prior to the experiments in order to obtain a confluency of 20%. To induce differentiation, the cells were treated with growth medium containing 10% FBS and 2.8mM CaCl₂ with or without 1ng/ml TGF- β 1. The culture medium was changed every 48 hours for 14 days. The cells were harvested for immunofluorescence staining and western-blotting analyses to examine the expression of the terminal differentiation marker, involucrin (ThermoFisher, USA). For immunofluorescence staining, phase-contrast photographs at 20x magnification were taken.

3.7 Molecular biology techniques

3.7.1 DNA extraction

Cells were grown in 6-well plates and harvested when they were 80% confluent. DNA extraction was performed using a QIAamp DNA blood mini kit (Qiagen, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocols. Briefly, cells were pelleted and resuspended in 200µl DPBS in a 1.5ml eppendorf tube. To lyse the cells, 20µl proteinase K and 200µl AL buffer were added to the cells and incubated at 56°C for 10 minutes. The tube was briefly centrifuged and 200µl of 100% molecular grade ethanol was added to the lysate and mixed well. The mixture was loaded to a QiAamp mini spin column followed by centrifugation at 6,000g for 1 minute. The flow through was discarded and 500µl AW1 buffer added to the spin column. The spin column was centrifuged at 6,000g for 1 minute to wash the column. The flow through was discarded and the column was further washed twice with 500µl AW2 buffer. The spin column was then transferred to a new 1.5ml eppendorf tube and 100µl AE buffer was loaded directly onto the spin column membrane and incubated for 1 minute followed by centrifugation at 6,000g for 1 minute to elute the DNA. The DNA concentration was measured using a Nanodrop 2000 spectrophotometer (ThermoFisher, USA) and the DNA sample was stored in -20°C.

3.7.2 Total RNA extraction

Cells were trypsinised and pelleted when they reached 60% confluency. Total RNA was extracted using a RNeasy Mini kit (Qiagen, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 350µl RLT buffer containing 3.5µl βmercaptoethanol (Bio-basic, Canada) was added to the cell pellet to lyse the cells. The lysate was transferred to a QIAshredder column and centrifuged at 15,871g for 2 minutes to homogenize the lysed cells and to reduce viscosity of the lysate. The flow through was mixed with 350µl of 70% ethanol and the mixture was loaded to a RNeasy Mini spin column followed by centrifugation at 8,000g for 15 second. The flow through was discarded and 350µl RW1 buffer was added to the spin column and centrifuged at 8,000g for 15 seconds to wash the spin column. After discarding the flow through, DNase1 solution was loaded directly onto the spin column membrane and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes to digest DNA. Before centrifuging at 8,000g for 15 seconds, 350µl RW1 buffer was added to the spin column. The flow through was discarded and the column was further washed twice with 500µl RPE buffer and then transferred to a new 1.5ml eppendorf tube. RNA was eluted from the spin column membrane by adding 40μ l elution buffer and centrifuge at 8,000g for 15 second. The RNA samples were stored in -80°C until use.

3.7.3 cDNA synthesis

The purified total RNA was used to synthesize cDNA using a High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription kit (Applied biosystems, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNase free water was added to 1µg RNA to obtain a final volume of 10µl. To prepare 10µl of reverse transcription master mix, 2µl of 10x RT buffer, 2µl of 10x RT random primers, 0.8µl of 25x dNTP mix, 1µl MultipScribeTM

Reverse Transcriptase and 4.2µl RNAse-free water were mixed in a 1.5ml eppendorf tube. The reverse transcription master mix was added to the 10µl of the RNA samples and mixed well. The tubes were briefly centrifuged and cDNA synthesis was carried out in a thermal cycler (Applied biosystems, USA). The thermal cycler condition was programmed as follows: 25°C for 10 minutes, 37°C for 120 minutes and 85°C for 5 minutes and 4°C for 10 minutes. The synthesized cDNA was diluted using nuclease-free water (Gibco Life Technologies, USA) at a 1:20 ratio and stored in -20°C.

3.7.4 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

PCR amplification was performed by using either 1µl of the diluted cDNA or 100ng of extracted DNA as the template. To prepare a PCR master mix, 12.5µl Hot-Start DNA polymerase (Promega, USA), 1.25µl of 100µM forward primer, 1.25µl of 100µM reverse primer and 9µl sterile water was mixed in an eppendorf tube. The master mix was added to the diluted cDNA to give a final volume of 25µl and mixed well. PCR was carried out in a thermal cycler (Applied biosystems, USA) using the programs as follows: 94°C for 2 minutes, 94°C for 30 seconds, 60°C for 45 seconds, 72°C for 1 minutes, 72°C for 10 minutes and 4°C for 10 minutes. The primer sequences of GAPDH and TGFβR2 are listed in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3. PCR primer sequences

Gene	Primer sequences	PCR product size (bp)
GAPDH	Forward: 5'CCACCCATGGCAAATTCCATGGC 3'	600
	Reverse: 5'TCTAGACGGCAGGTCAGGTCCAC 3'	
TGFBR2	Forward: 5'ACTTGGAGCGAGGAACTCCT 3'	900
	Reverse: 5'CACAACGCCTTTCCTGCTCG 3'	

3.7.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis

PCR products were analyzed by electrophoresis using 2% agarose gels. To prepare 20ml of agarose gel solution, 0.4g agarose powder (1st Base, Singapore) was weighed and dissolved in 20ml of 1x Tris/Borate/EDTA buffer (TBE; 1st Base, Singapore) by boiling in a conical flask. The agarose solution was allowed to cool down before addition of 0.5µg/ml ethidium bromide (EtBR; Sigma-Aldrich, USA). The solution was poured into a casting tray with a gel comb inserted and left for 20 minutes for the gel to harden. The gel was then placed into an electrophoresis tank (Bio-rad, USA) containing 1x TBE buffer and the comb was removed. After mixing 5µl of PCR products with 1µl of 6x DNA dye (Promega, USA), the sample was loaded into the well along with either 100bp or 1kb ladder (Promega, USA). Gel electrophoresis was performed at 100V for 40 minutes and the PCR products were visualized using a UVP Gel-doc imaging system (UVP, US).

3.7.6 Real-time quantitative (qPCR)

3.7.6.1 Probe-based qPCR for gene expression

Commercially available Taqman® gene expression assays (Applied biosystems, USA) were used to determine the expression of two genes: GAPDH (4326317E) and *TGFBR2* (Hs00947893_m1). To determine the expression of EBV genes, customized primers and probes according to the published sequences (Bell et al., 2006) were used (Table 3.4). Firstly, 5µl of the diluted cDNA was loaded into a MicroAmp® Fast Optical 96-well plate (Applied biosystems, USA). Master mixes for Taqman® gene expression assays and assays using customized primers and probes were prepared as shown in Table 3.5 and Table 3.6, respectively. The master mix was added to the cDNA

and the plate was sealed with a MicroAmp® optical adhesive film (Applied biosystems, USA). The plate was briefly centrifuged at 112g for 5 minutes and loaded to an ABI 7500 fast real-time PCR system (Applied biosystems, USA). GAPDH was served as the endogenous control to normalize the expression of target genes and each reaction was done in triplicate. Analysis was performed using the delta delta Ct ($\Delta\Delta$ Ct) method using the 7500 software v2.0 (Applied biosystems, USA). A cycle threshold (Ct) value is defined as the number of cycles required for the fluorescent signal to exceed background level. Ct value of each gene was then normalized against the Ct value of GAPDH to obtain Δ Ct values. The expression of target genes relative to references samples was calculated using the following formula: 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct}.

Table 3.4. Primer and probe sequences for EBV ger	ies	

Gene	Sequences
EBNA1	Primer Forward : 5'GTGCGCTACCGGATGGC 3'
	Primer Reverse : 5'CATGATTCACACTTAAAGGAGACGG 3'
	Probe : TCCTCTGGAGCCTGACCTGTGATCG
LMP1	Primer Forward : 5'AATTTGCACGGACAGGCATT 3'
	Primer Reverse : 5'AAGGCCAAAAGCTGCCAGAT 3'
	Probe : TCCAGATACCTAAGACAAGTAAGCACCCGAAGAT
LMP2A	Primer Forward : 5'CGGGATGACTCATCTCAACACATA 3'
	Primer Reverse : 5'GGCGGTCACAACGGTACTAACT 3'
	Probe : CAGTATGCCTGCCTGTAATTGTTGCGC

Table 3.5. Master mix for commercially available TaqMan® gene expression assays

Reagents	Volume (µl)
2x FastStart Universal Probe master mix (Roche, Germany)	10
TaqMan [®] gene expression assays consist of a pair of	1
unlabeled primer and Taqman® probe labeled with FAM at	
5'end	
Human GAPDH TaqMan [®] gene expression assay consist	1
of a pair of unlabeled primer and Taqman® probe labeled	
with VIC at 5'end	
Sterile distilled water	3
Total	15

T 11	2 1	- 1		•	C		•		· · 1	•	1	1
Table	- 4 h	n ľ	Vlaster	mix	tor	assavs	11010	o cus	tomized	nrimers	and	nrohes
1 4010	5.0	·. 1	viusici	IIIIA	101	ussu ys	usin	s cus	UIIIZCU	princis	ana	proces

Reagents	Volume (µl)
2x FastStart Universal Probe master mix (Roche, Germany)	12.5
3µM Forward primer	2.5
3µM Reverse primer	2.5
5µM probe labeled with FAM at 5'end	1
Human GAPDH TaqMan [®] gene expression assay consist of a pair	1
of unlabeled primer and Taqman® probe labeled with VIC at 5'end	
Sterile distilled water	0.5
Total	20

3.7.6.2 Dye-based qPCR for gene expression

The expression of EBV lytic genes, BZLF1, was determined using a QuantiNova® SYBR® green PCR kit (Qiagen, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The primer sequences of BZLF1 are shown in Table 3.7. Briefly, 5µl of the diluted cDNA was loaded into a 96-well plate and a master mix containing 10µl of 2x QuantiNova SYBR Green PCR Master Mix, 0.1µl QN ROX reference dye, 1.4µl of 10µM forward primer, 1.4µl of 10µM reverse primer and 2.1µl sterile distilled water was added to the diluted cDNA. The plate was sealed with an adhesive film and briefly centrifuged at 112g for 5 minutes before loading to an ABI 7500 fast real-time PCR system. GAPDH was served as the endogenous control to normalize the expression of target genes. Experiments were performed in triplicate for each reaction. Analysis was performed using the delta delta Ct ($\Delta\Delta$ Ct) method using the 7500 software v2.0. A cycle threshold (Ct) value is defined as the number of cycles required for the fluorescent signal to exceed background level. Ct value of each gene was then normalized against the Ct value of GAPDH to obtain Δ Ct values. The expression of target genes relative to references samples was calculated using the following formula: $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$.

Table 3.7. Primer sequences for *BZLF1*

Gene	Sequences
BZLF1	Primer Forward : 5'CCGGCTTGGTTAGTCTGTTG3'
	Primer Reverse : 5'AGCTTATGCAGCACCTCAGC3'

3.7.7 Plasmid preparation

3.7.7.1 Bacterial transformation

A 25µl aliquot of DH5 α competent *E. coli* cells was thawed on ice prior to the addition of 100ng plasmid DNA. The plasmid-DH5 α mixture was incubated on ice for 30 minutes before placing in a Thermomixer®R (Eppendorf, USA) for heat shock at 42°C for 45 seconds. The mixture was then immediately returned to ice for 2 minutes followed by the addition of 200µl Terrific-broth (TB). The cells were incubated at 37°C for 1 hour in an orbital shaker. 50µl of the transformed cells were plated onto TB-agar plates containing carbenicillin (100ug/ml; Fisher Scientific, USA) and incubated at 37°C for 16 hours.

3.7.7.2 Plasmid DNA extraction

Following bacterial transformation, single bacterial colonies on the TB-agar plate were picked with sterile pipette tips and grown in 5ml TB containing 100µg/ml carbenicillin overnight at 37°C in an orbital shaker. The overnight bacterial culture was used for plasmid DNA extraction.

Plasmid DNA was extracted from 1.5ml of the overnight bacteria culture using a NucleoSpin® Plasmid DNA purification kit (Macherey-Nagel, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instruction. Briefly, the bacteria cells were pelleted by centrifugation

at 11,000g for 30 seconds. The supernatant was discarded and the cells were resuspended in 250µl A1 buffer. The cells were lysed in 250µl A2 buffer at room temperature for 5 minutes. To neutralize the lysis buffer, 350µl A3 buffer was added and the mixture was centrifuged at 11,000g for 5 minutes. The supernatant was transferred to a NucleoSpin® Plasmid QuickPure column and centrifuged at 11,000g for 1 minute. The flow through was discarded and 450µl AQ buffer was added into the column followed by centrifugation at 11,000g for 3 minutes to wash the column. The flow through was discarded and the column was centrifuge at 11,000g for 3 minutes to remove any remaining solution. 40µl AE buffer was added to the column and the plasmid DNA was eluted by centrifugation at 11,000g for 1 minute. The concentration of the plasmid DNA was measured using a Nanodrop 2000 spectrophotometer.

To obtain higher concentration of plasmid DNA, 3ml of the overnight bacteria culture were transferred to 250ml TB containing 100µg/ml carbenicillin and incubated overnight at 37°C in an orbital shaker. Plasmid DNA from 250ml overnight bacterial culture was extracted using a Qiagen® Plasmid Purification Maxi kit (Qiagen, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, bacteria cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 3381g for 15 minutes. The supernatant was decanted and the cells were re-suspended in 10ml P1 buffer containing RNaseA. The cells were then lysed in 10ml P2 buffer at room temperature for 5 minutes. To neutralize the lysis buffer, 10ml pre-chilled P3 buffer was added to the cells and incubated on ice for 15 minutes. The mixture was centrifuged at 19,000g for 30 minutes at 4°C. Meanwhile, a Qiagen-tip 500 column (DNA binding column) was equilibrated by addition of 10ml QBT buffer and allowed to drain by gravity flow. The supernatant of the lysed cells was transferred to the Qiagen-tip 500 column and allowed to drain by gravity flow. The column was washed twice with 30ml QC buffer. 15ml of QF buffer was added to the column and the elute was collected in a 15ml tube. Subsequently, 10.5ml isopropanol

was added to the elute and the mixture was centrifuged at 18,000g for 30 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was decanted carefully and the precipitated plasmid DNA was washed with 5ml of 70% ethanol. The plasmid DNA was pelleted by centrifugation at 18,000g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed carefully and the DNA pellet was air-dried for 10 minutes. The plasmid DNA was re-suspended in 450µl TE (Tris-EDTA) buffer and the concentration of the plasmid DNA was determined using a Nanodrop 2000 spectrophotometer. The plasmid DNA was stored in -20°C.

3.7.7.3 Preservation and retrieval of bacterial cultures

A bacterial glycerol stock was prepared by mixing 800µl of overnight bacteria culture with 200µl of 75% sterile glycerol and stored in -80°C. To recover the bacteria cells, a small amount of frozen bacteria was scraped into 5ml TB containing 100µg/ml of carbenicillin and incubated overnight at 37°C in an orbital shaker.

3.8 Western blotting

3.8.1 Protein isolation

Cells were grown in 100mm² cell culture dishes and harvested when they reached 70% confluency. Cells were washed with DPBS, scraped and pelleted by centrifugation at 16,363g for 2 minutes. The cells were lysed in 40µl of NP40 lysis buffer (150mM sodium chloride, 1% NP-40, 50mM Tris, pH 8.0) or 1x RIPA buffer (Biotech, Canada) containing Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Set III (Calbiochem, Germany) and Halt Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail (Thermo Scientific, USA). The lysate was sonicated for 2 minutes and incubated on ice for 30 minutes prior to

centrifugation at 16,363g for 30 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant (crude protein) was transferred to a pre-chilled 1.5ml eppendorf tube and stored at 80°C.

3.8.2 Determination of protein concentration

Protein concentrations were determined using a Bradford Protein Assay kit (Biorad, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, protein samples were prepared in eppendorf tubes by mixing 1µl of the protein lysate and 9µl of DPBS. 250µl of 1x Bradford dye reagent was added into a 96-well plate. 5µl of the protein samples, DPBS and BSA (0.125, 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1.0, 1.5 and 2.5µg/µl) was added to the 1x Bradford dye reagent. The samples were incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes and the absorbance was measured at 595nm using an Infinite 200 Pro NanoQuat microplate reader. Protein concentrations were determined from the standard curve generated using the BSA standards.

3.8.3 Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

Protein lysates (30µg) were mixed with 2x Laemmli sample buffer (Bio-rad, USA) containing 5% β -mercaptoethanol (Bio-rad, USA) and boiled at 95°C for 5 minutes. Bio-rad apparatus was used for SDS-PAGE. To prepare one gel, 7ml of 10% pre-mixed EZ-runTM protein gel solution (Fisher Scientific, USA), 4.2µl tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED; Merck, Germany) and 10% ammonium persulfate (APS; Merck, Germany) were mixed in a 15ml-falcon tube. The gel solution was poured into a gel cassette. A gel comb was inserted and removed after the gel had solidified. The gel was transferred into electrophoresis tank containing 1x EZ-runTM running buffer (Fisher Scientific, US). The denatured protein samples and 3.5µl

Precision Plus ProteinTM All Blue Standards (Bio-rad, USA) were loaded into the wells. The proteins were separated at 100V for 2 hours.

3.8.4 Protein transfer and detection

Following SDS-PAGE, the separated proteins were electro-transferred onto a polyvnylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane (Millipore, MA) using a Mini Trans-Blot® Cell (Bio-rad, USA) according to the manufacturer's instruction. A transfer sandwich (fiber pad-filter papers-gel-membrane-filter papers-fiber pad) was prepared and placed into a buffer tank containing transfer buffer (25mM tris, 190mM glycine, 20% methanol). Protein transfer was carried out at 100V for 2 hours. The membrane was then blocked with blocking buffer containing 5% non-fat milk in Tris-Buffered Saline (TBS) with 0.1% Tween 20 (TBST) for 1 hour at room temperature followed by incubation with primary antibodies diluted in blocking buffer (Table 3.8) for overnight at 4°C. The next day, the membrane was washed three times in TBST for 5 minutes each time. The membrane was subsequently incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies diluted in blocking buffer at room temperature for 1 hour. After three washes in TBST for 15 minutes each and a final wash in TBS for 5 minutes, the membrane was incubated with WesternBright Sirius chemiluminescence (ECL) substrate (Advansta, USA) for 5 minutes. The target proteins were visualized using an Odyssey fc imaging system (Li-COR Biosciences, USA) and β -actin was used as a loading control.

Table 3.8.	List of	primary	antibodies	used in	Western	blotting
		r				0

Antibody	Species	Dilution	Manufacturer	
Anti-TGFR-2	Mouse monoclonal	1:500	Abcam, US	
Anti-Total Smad2	Rabbit polyclonal	1:1000	Cell Signalling	
			Technology, USA	
Anti-Total Smad3	Rabbit polyclonal	1:1000	Cell Signalling	
			Technology, USA	
Anti-Total Smad4	Rabbit polyclonal	1:1000	Cell Signalling	
			Technology, USA	
Anti-Phospho-Smad2	Rabbit polyclonal	1:1000	Cell Signalling	
(Ser465/467)			Technology, USA	
Anti-Phospho-Smad3	Rabbit monoclonal	1:1000	Cell Signalling	
(Ser463/464)			Technology, USA	
Anti-SIRT1	Rabbit polyclonal	1:10000	Santa-cruz, USA	
Anti-β-Actin	Mouse monoclonal	1:3000	Sigma-Aldrich, USA	
Anti-Involucrin	Mouse monoclonal	1:1000	ThermoFisher, USA	

3.9 Fluorescent staining techniques

3.9.1 Immunofluorescence staining (IF)

Cells were seeded in 24-well plates at 2.5 x 10³ cells per well and allowed to grow for 14 days after EBV infection. The cells were washed twice with DPBS before fixing with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) at room temperature for 30 minutes. The cells were then permeabilised in methanol for 10 minutes, followed by washing twice with DPBS and blocking with 5% BSA in DPBS for 30 minutes. After washing with DPBS, the cells were incubated overnight with primary antibodies diluted in 1% BSA-DPBS (Table 3.9) at 4°C. The following day, the cells were washed three times in DPBS containing 0.1% Tween 20 (DPBST) for 5 minutes each time followed by incubation with secondary antibodies in 1% BSA-DPBS for 1 hour at room temperature in the dark. After three washes in DPBST with 15 minutes each time, the cells were mounted with fluoroshield containing DAPI (Abcam, USA) and viewed under a fluorescence microscope (Leica MICROSYSTEMS, Germany). Photographs at 20x magnification were taken and the staining intensity was analyzed using image J software (National Institute of Health, USA).

Table 3.9. List of primary antibodies used in IF

Antibody	Species	Dilution	Manufacturer
Anti-p16 ^{INK4a}	Rabbit monoclonal	1:100	Abcam, US
Anti-p21 ^{WAF1}	Mouse monoclonal	1:100	Santa Cruz, USA
Anti-Involucrin	Mouse monoclonal	1:100	ThermoFisher, USA

3.9.2 Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH)

3.9.2.1 Sample preparation

FISH was performed in NP550hTert cells at day 14 of post-EBV infection to detected EBV DNA. The EBV-positive cells were seeded in a 6-well plate at 2.5 x 10^4 cells per well and pelleted by centrifugation at 112g for 8 minutes. The cells were resuspended in 2ml of 0.8% sodium citrate (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes. 5ml washing solution (1:3 ratio of acetic acid to methanol) was added to the cells and incubated at 37°C for 5 minutes followed by centrifugation at 135g for 4 minutes. The cells were re-suspended in 5ml washing solution and pelleted by centrifugation at 13,523g for 4 minutes. The washing steps were repeated three times. After the final centrifugation, the cells were re-suspended in 50µl washing solution. 15µl of the cell suspension was spread onto a microscope slide (ThermoFisher, USA) in a circular direction and the slide was stored at room temperature for one week until staining.

3.9.2.2 Staining

One week after the cells were fixed on the microscope slide, the slide was submerged in 0.1mg/ml RNase (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) solution in 2x saline sodium citrate (SCC; Merck, Germany) for 1.5 hours at 37°C. The slide was then rinsed with water and submerged in 2x SSC at room temperature for 10 minutes followed by submerging in 0.025mg/ml proteinase K solution (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) for 15 minutes at 37°C. After rinsing the slide with water followed by incubation in 2x SCC at room temperature for 10 minutes, the slide was submerged in cold 3% PFA for 10 minutes. The slide was then submerged in 2x SCC for 10 minutes, dehydrated by sequential incubation in graded alcohol (70%, 85% and 95% ethanol for 2 minutes each time) and air-dried at room temperature for 30 minutes. The samples was then denatured by incubating in 70% formamide in 2x SCC at 80°C for 4 minutes. After dehydrating again in graded alcohol (70%, 85% and 95% ethanol for 2 minutes each time), the slide was dried using a stream of nitrogen gas. Meanwhile, 1µl biotin-labeled EBV probe was mixed with 2.5µl hybridization buffer (Cytocell, UK) in an eppendorf tube. The probe was denatured in 70% formamide/2x SCC at -80°C for 5 minutes followed by 37°C for 20 minutes. 3.5µl of the denatured EBV probe was then applied to the cells. A cover slip was placed on top of the cells and the edge of the slide was sealed with rubber cement to avoid evaporation during overnight incubation at 37°C. The following day, the rubber cement and cover slip were removed and the slide was washed twice in 50% formamide/2x SCC at 45°C for 6 minutes each time. 45µl of detection solution containing Cy3-conjugated streptavidin (Cytocell, UK) was applied to the cells and the slide was incubated in the dark at 37°C for 30 minutes. The slide was washed twice in 2x SCC at 45°C for 6 minutes each time and dehydrated using graded alcohol (70%, 85% and 95% ethanol for 2 minutes each time). After drying using stream of nitrogen gas, the slide was mounted in mounting solution containing DAPI (Applied spectra imaging, Italy). A cover slip was placed on top of the cells and photographs at 100x magnification were taken.

3.10 Statistical analysis

One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used for statistical analysis in cell proliferation assays where more than one variable is tested. Meanwhile Student T-test were used in luciferase reporter assays, SA-β-Gal assays, differentiation assay, IF and qPCR. The statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad PRISM 5.0 software (GraphPad, La Jolla, USA). FISH analyses, online software For https://www.medcalc.org/calc/comparison_of_proportions.php was used to calculate the significant differences between the test and control groups. P values <0.05 were considered as statistically significant and all the graphs were plotted using GraphPad PRISM 5.0 software.

CHAPTER 4: EFFECT OF DISRUPTING THE TGF-BETA SIGNALLING PATHWAY ON THE OUTCOME OF EBV INFECTION IN NPE CELLS 4.1 Introduction

Undifferentiated NPC is strongly associated with EBV infection. Deletion of p16 or overexpression of CCND1 are commonly found in primary NPC tissues and these genetic alterations have been shown to contribute to the susceptibility of immortalised NPE cells to stable EBV latent infection (Tsang et al., 2012; Tsang et al., 2010). Once infected, EBV latent genes drive the malignant transformation of NPE cells by inducing additional genetic alterations (Tsao et al., 2015). A microarray study has shown that the TGFBR2 gene was down-regulated in primary NPC tissues compared to non-cancerous NP tissues (Fang et al., 2008). Subsequently, these results were supported by other research groups who showed that TGFBR2 mRNA and protein expression were reduced in NPC tissues and NPC cell lines compared to non-cancerous NP tissues and NP69 cells, respectively (Lyu et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2012), implying that the TGF- β signalling pathway is de-regulated in NPC. Furthermore, a negative correlation was identified between the expression of TGFR-1 and TGFR-2 and that of EBER1/2 genes, suggesting a role for TGF- β signalling in the pathogenesis of EBVassociated NPC (Zhang et al., 2012). However, the role of TGF-B signalling in regulating stable EBV infection in NPE cells has not been studied.

TGF- β signalling is mediated through its serine/threonine kinase receptors, TGFR-1 and TGFR-2. Binding of activated TGF- β ligands (TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2 and TGF- β 3) to TGFR-2 leads to the recruitment and phosphorylation of TGFR-1 (Derynck et al., 2001). This, in turn, activates Smad2 or Smad3, which form complexes with Smad4, leading to transcription of various target genes (Feng et al., 2000). In normal epithelial cells, the addition of exogenous TGF- β 1 results in a G1 cell cycle arrest and this effect is reversible, where the cells continue to proliferate in the absence of exogenous TGF- β 1 (Shipley et al., 1986). A number of studies have shown that, genetic abnormalities of various components within the TGF- β signalling pathway cause defects in TGF- β 1-mediated growth arrest (Kretschmer et al., 2003; Papageorgis, 2015; Piek et al., 2001; Wang et al., 1997). For example, resistance to TGF- β 1-mediated growth inhibition was shown in a EBV-positive NPC cell line, C666.1 (Dr. CW. Dawson, University of Birmingham, unpublished data), which is consistent with the loss of TGFR-2 expression reported in these cells (Wood et al., 2007).

It has been reported previously that EBV infection in HONE1, an undifferentiated NPC-derived cell line is much higher compared to the welldifferentiated NPC-derived cell line, HK1 (Tsang et al., 2010). Furthermore, our preliminary data demonstrated that HONE1 that were not growth inhibited by TGF- β 1 were susceptible to EBV infection, whereas differentiation-competent squamous epithelial cells (e.g. HaCaT), which were unable to sustain EBV infection were responsive to the cytostatic effects of TGF- β 1 (Dr. CW. Dawson, University of Birmingham, unpublished data). Therefore, the hypothesis of the present study is that disruption of the TGF- β signalling pathway contributes to stable EBV maintenance in epithelial cells. This chapter describes the development of *in vitro* models to study the impact of TGF- β signalling pathway disruption on the outcome of EBV infection in NPE cells.

4.2 Response of NPE and NPC cells to TGF-β1-mediated growth inhibition

To select cells that were responsive to TGF- β 1-mediated growth inhibition, MTT assays were performed following the treatment of cells with TGF- β 1 for 24, 48 and 72 hours. Six cell lines were used, namely four immortalised NPE cell lines (NP69, NP361hTert, NP460hTert, NP550hTert), HK1 and HONE1. Among these, the growth of four cell lines, NP361hTert, NP460hTert, NP550hTert and HK1, was significantly inhibited 40-60% following TGF- β 1 treatment (Figure 4.1A-D, p<0.05). NP69 and HONE1 were not responsive to TGF- β 1-mediated growth inhibition (Figure 4.1E&F). Given that NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert are non-malignant NPE cells that represent more suitable models than NPC cells in studying the mechanism of EBV infection, these three cell lines were selected for subsequent experiments.



Figure 4.1. Responsiveness of immortalised NPE and NPC cell lines to TGF-\beta1-mediated growth inhibition. MTT assays were used to examine the growth of epithelial cells following treatment with a range of TGF- β 1 concentrations. Compared to controls, the growth of A) NP361hTert, B) NP460hTert, C) NP550hTert and D) HK1 were significantly inhibited by TGF- β 1. No growth inhibition was observed in E) NP69 and F) HONE1 following TGF- β 1 treatment. The data presented are representative of three independent experiments. *** denotes p-value <0.001 and ** denotes p-value <0.01.

8



Figure 4.1, continued



Figure 4.1, continued

4.3 Generation and validation of cells with disrupted TGF-β signalling

To inhibit TGF- β signalling in NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert, two different approaches were used, by targeting different genes within the TGF- β signalling pathway (*TGFBR1* and *TGFBR2*).

4.3.1 Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542

The first approach was to target the TGFR-1 kinase by treating cells with a chemical inhibitor, SB431542 (Callahan et al., 2002; Inman et al., 2002; Matsuyama et al., 2003). Data from our laboratory have shown that SB431542 treatment of mink lung epithelial cells (MLEC) transfected with a constitutively active TGFBR1 significantly decreased Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity (Appendix A), indicating that SB431542 is a selective inhibitor of TGFR-1, thereby inactivating the TGF-B/Smad signalling pathway. Following treatment of cells with SB431542 for 72 hours, the levels of phosphorylated Smad2 (pSmad2) were decreased in all three NPE cell lines, NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert. A maximum reduction in the levels of pSmad2 was observed at 5µM of SB431542 in NP361hTert and NP460hTert (Figure 4.2A&B). In NP550hTert the maximum reduction was observed at 10µM of SB431542 (Figure 4.2C). To further confirm the disruption of TGF- β signalling, cell proliferation assays were performed to determine the effect of SB431542 on the responsiveness of these cells to TGF-β1-mediated growth inhibition. Following treatment with SB431542, NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert cells grew faster than cells treated with diluent (ethanol) (Figure 4.3; p<0.05), demonstrating that the cells treated with SB431542 are less responsive to growth inhibition mediated by TGF- β 1.



Figure 4.2. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase reduced expression of pSmad2 in NPE cells. The levels of pSmad2 in A) NP361hTert, B) NP460hTert and C) NP550hTert were decreased following treatment of cells with SB431542 (2.5, 5 and 10 μ M) for 72 hours prior to the addition of 1ng/ml TGF- β 1 for 1 hour, as determined by Western blotting. Diluent (ethanol)-treated cells served as controls. Representative images from two independent experiments are presented.


Figure 4.3. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase abrogated TGF- β 1-mediated growth inhibition in NPE cells. Reduced growth inhibitory responses in A) NP361hTert, B) NP460hTert and C) NP550hTert treated with 10 μ M SB431542 for 30 minutes followed by addition of 1ng/ml of TGF- β 1 for 48, 72 and 96 hours compared to their respective controls, with diluent (ethanol)-treated cells. The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. ** denotes p-value <0.01 and * denotes p-value <0.05.

To examine whether TGF-β/Smad-dependent transcription is lost following SB431542 treatment, NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert were transiently transfected with SMAD2 (ARE3-Luc) or SMAD3 (pCAGA12-luc) luciferase reporter plasmids. Upon addition of TGF-\u00b31, an increase in Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity with fold changes of 11.5-fold, 5.3-fold and 5.9-fold were shown in NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert, respectively (Figure 4.4; p<0.05). Treatment with SB431542 prior to TGF-\beta1 stimulation resulted in a small increase in the Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in NP361hTert (1.3-fold) and NP460hTert (2.5-fold; p<0.05) while no change was evident in NP550hTert (Figure 4.4). Similarly, addition of TGF-B1 resulted in an increase in the Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity with fold changes of 8.5-fold, 12.1-fold and 30.2-fold in NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert, respectively (Figure 4.5; p<0.05). Treating these cells with SB431542 prior to TGF-\u00b31 stimulation abolished their Smad3-dependent transcriptional activities (Figure 4.5). Taken together, these results confirmed that SB431542 treatment was able to functionally disrupt TGF-β/Smad signalling in these cell lines.



Figure 4.4. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase reduced Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in NPE cells. ARE3-Luc reporter analyses showed that TGF- β 1 stimulation (1ng/ml) led to a significant increase in Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in A) NP361hTert (11.5-fold), B) NP460hTert (5.3-fold) and C) NP550hTert (5.9-fold). Treatment with 10µM SB431542 prior to TGF- β 1 stimulation resulted in a small increase of Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in NP361hTert (1.3-fold) and NP460hTert (2.5-fold) while no change was observed in NP550hTert. The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. ***denotes p-value <0.001, ** denotes p-value <0.01 and * denotes p-value <0.05.



Figure 4.5. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase reduced Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity in NPE cells. pCAGA12-luc reporter analyses showed that TGF- β 1 stimulation (1ng/ml) led to a significant increase in Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity in A) NP361hTert (8.5-fold), B) NP460hTert (12.1-fold) and C) NP550hTert (30.2-fold). No increase in Smad3-dependent transcriptional activities in 10µM SB431542-treated cells prior to TGF- β 1 treatment. The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. ** denotes p-value <0.01 and * denotes p-value <0.05.

4.3.2 Overexpression of a DnTGFBR2

The second approach to inhibit TGF- β signalling was to target the *TGFBR2* gene by overexpressing a DnTGFBR2 cDNA in NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert. DnTGFBR2 encodes a truncated TGFR-2 protein with no cytoplasmic domain and overexpression of a DnTGFBR2 in human oral carcinoma cell lines has been demonstrated to result in a functional loss of TGF- β signalling (Paterson et al., 2001). The NPE cells were transduced with lentiviruses carrying a DnTGFBR2 cDNA, puromycin-resistant cells were pooled and designated as DnTGFBR2/NP361hTert, DnTGFBR2/NP460hTert and DnTGFBR2/NP550hTert. QPCR analyses using a probe that detects wild type and DnTGFBR2 showed that the expression of TGFBR2 mRNA was 12.2-fold, 5.9-fold and 17.2-fold higher in the DnTGFBR2/NP361hTert, DnTGFBR2/NP460hTert and DnTGFBR2/NP550hTert, respectively, compared to their corresponding vector controls (pLVX-Puro) (Figure 4.6, p<0.001). In addition, overexpression of DnTGFR-2 protein was demonstrated in the DnTGFBR2-expressing cells compared to their respective vector controls (Figure 4.7). To confirm the TGF-B signalling pathway was disrupted in these cells, the expression of pSmad2 following TGF-β1 treatment was determined by Western blotting. Compared to their respective vector controls all the three DnTGFBR2-expressing cell lines showed a decrease in the levels of pSmad2, with the maximum reduction at 15 minutes of post-TGF-B1 treatment (Figure 4.8). In addition, a significant reduction in the growth inhibitory responses to TGF-B1 was noted in all the three DnTGFBR2-expressing cell lines compared to their corresponding vector controls (Figure 4.9; p<0.05).





A) NP361hTert

pLVX-Puro DnTGFBR2

DnTGFR-2

β-Actin



B) NP460hTert

pLVX-Puro DnTGFBR2



C) NP550hTert

pLVX-Puro DnTGFBR2

DnTGFR-2

β-Actin



Figure 4.7. Expression of DnTGFR-2 in *DnTGFBR2***-expressing cells.** Western blotting analyses showed that the DnTGFR-2 was overexpressed in A) *DnTGFBR2*/N361hTert, B) *DnTGFBR2*/NP460hTert and C) *DnTGFBR2*/NP550hTert compared to their respective vector controls (pLVX-Puro).



Figure 4.8. Expression of pSmad2 in *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells. Western blotting analyses showed that the levels of pSmad2 in A)
DnTGFBR2/NP361hTert, B) *DnTGFBR2*/NP460hTert and C) *DnTGFBR2*/NP550hTert were decreased following 1ng/ml TGF-β1 treatment compared to their respective vector controls (pLVX-Puro). Representative images from three independent experiments are presented.

93



Figure 4.9. TGF-\beta1-mediated growth suppression in *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells. Reduced growth inhibitory responses towards TGF- β 1 (1ng/ml) in A) *DnTGFBR2*/NP361hTert, B) *DnTGFBR2*/NP460hTert and C) *DnTGFBR2*/NP550hTert compared to their respective vector controls (pLVX-Puro). The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. *** denotes p-value <0.001, ** denotes p-value <0.01 and * denotes p-value <0.05.

To determine the extent to which TGF-B/Smad-dependent transcription was abrogated in the DnTGFBR2-expressing cells, NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert were transiently transfected with SMAD2 or SMAD3 luciferase reporter plasmids. Upon addition of TGF-\u00b31, an increase in Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity was observed, with fold changes of 8.8-fold, 3.5-fold and 5-fold in the vector controls of NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert, respectively (Figure 4.10; p<0.05). In the *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells, TGF- β 1 stimulation resulted in a small increase of Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in NP460hTert (1.5-fold) and NP550hTert (3-fold) while no change was evident in NP361hTert (Figure 4.10). Similarly, the addition of TGF- β 1 increased Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity with fold changes of 28.6-fold, 17-fold and 17.4-fold in NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert, respectively (Figure 4.11; p<0.05). In the *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells, TGF-\u03b31-induced Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity was markedly reduced in NP361hTert (7.1-fold) and NP550hTert (2.0-fold), while no change was observed in NP460hTert cells after TGF-β1 stimulation (Figure 4.11). Taken together, these results confirmed the functional disruption of TGF-B/Smad signalling in cells expressing DnTGFBR2.



Figure 4.10. Reduction of Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells. Luciferase reporter analyses showed that TGF- β 1 stimulation (1ng/ml) led to a significant increase in Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in the vector controls (pLVX-Puro) A) NP361hTert (8.8-fold), B) NP460hTert (3.5-fold) and C) NP550hTert (5-fold). In *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells, only small increased of Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in NP460hTert (1.5-fold) and NP550hTert (3-fold) while no change was observed in NP361hTert after TGF- β 1 treatment. The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. * denotes p-value <0.05.



B) NP460hTert



Figure 4.11. Reduction of Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity in *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells. Luciferase reporter analyses showed that TGF- β 1 stimulation (1ng/ml) led to a significant increase in Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity in the vector controls (pLVX-Puro) A) NP361hTert (28.6-fold), B) NP460hTert (17-fold) and C) NP550hTert (17.4-fold). In *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells, increased of Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity in NP361hTert (7.1-fold) and NP550hTert (2.0-fold) while no change was observed in NP460hTert after TGF- β 1 stimulation. The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. ***denotes p-value <0.001, ** denotes p-value <0.01 and * denotes p-value <0.05.

4.4 Effect of disrupting the TGF-β signalling pathway on the outcome of EBV infection

4.4.1 Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 resulted in an increased numbers of EBV-positive cells

To examine how the inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 affects the outcome of EBV infection, NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert cells were infected with a GFP-tagged recombinant EBV (Akata strain). The EBV-infected cells were isolated using FACS, placed back into culture and treated with either SB431542 or with diluent (ethanol) every 48 hours for 7, 14 or 21 days. At the desired time point, the cells were harvested and subjected to FACS analysis. In NP361hTert and NP460hTert, SB431542 treatment led to a consistent increase in the numbers of EBV-positive cells from day 7 to day 21 (Figure 4.12A&B; p<0.05). Similarly, treatment of NP550hTert with SB431542 significantly increased the percentage of EBV-positive cells at day 14 and 21 post-EBV infection (Figure 4.12C; p<0.05).



Figure 4.12. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase increased numbers of EBV-positive cells in NPE cells. Following 10 μ M SB431542 treatment, FACS analyses showed higher percentages of EBV-positive cells in A) NP361hTert, B) NP460hTert and C) NP550hTert, compared to their respective controls, with diluent (ethanol)-treated cells. The data presented are representative of three independent experiments. ***denotes pvalue <0.001, ** denotes p-value <0.01 and * denotes p-value <0.05. To further support these observations, the isolated EBV-positive NP550hTert cells were analysed by FISH, using a probe that detects BamH1 region of EBV DNA, 14 days post infection. The results demonstrated that the percentage of EBV-positive cells, as well as the copy number of EBV episomes per EBV-positive cell, was higher in NP550hTert following SB431542 treatment compared to the controls, with diluent (ethanol)-treated cells (Figure 4.13, p<0.05).

4.4.2 Expression of *DnTGFBR2* resulted in an increased numbers of EBV-positive cells

To examine how the disruption of TGFBR2 affects the outcome of EBV infection, the three DnTGFBR2-expressing cell lines and their respective vector controls (pLVX-Puro) were infected with a GFP-tagged recombinant EBV (Akata strain). The EBV-positive cells were isolated using FACS and grown for 7, 14 or 21 days. The percentage of EBV-positive cells was significantly higher in DnTGFBR2/NP361hTert cells than that of the vector controls at day 21 post-EBV infection (Figure 4.14A; p<0.05). Similarly, a significant increase in the percentage of EBV-positive cells was evident in both the DnTGFBR2/NP460hTert (Figure 4.14B) and DnTGFBR2/NP550hTert (Figure 4.15C) cells at day 14 and 21 post-EBV infection (p<0.05).



Figure 4.13. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase increased numbers of EBV-positive in NP550hTert. At day 14 post-EBV infection, the number of EBV-positive cells in NP550hTert following 10μM SB431542 treatment was determined by FISH analyses. A) A higher percentage of EBV-positive cells was observed in cells treated with SB431542 than that of with diluent (ethanol)-treated cells; B) Among the EBV-positive cells, a higher copy number of EBV episome per cell was shown in cells treated with SB431542 than those treated with diluent (ethanol); C) Representative images at 100x magnification, showing EBV episomes (red dots) in EBV-infected cells. ***denotes pvalue <0.001 and * denotes p-value <0.05.





The isolated NP550 (DnTGFBR2 and pLVX-Puro) EBV-positive cells were subjected to FISH analysis 14 days after EBV infection. The results demonstrated that the percentage of EBV-positive cells, as well as the copy number of EBV episomes per EBV-positive cell, was higher in the DnTGFBR2-expressing cells compared to the vector controls (Figure 4.15, p<0.05).

Taken together, the results suggested that inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 and overexpression of a *DnTGFBR2* may facilitate the maintenance of EBV genomes in NPE cells.



Figure 4.15. Increased number of EBV-positive cells in DnTGFBR2/NP550hTert. post-EBV infection, the number of EBV-positive cells At day 14 in DnTGFBR2/NP550hTert was determined by FISH analyses. A) A higher percentage of EBV-positive cells was demonstrated in DnTGFBR2-expressing cells compared to the vector controls (pLVX-Puro); B) Among the EBV-positive cells, a higher copy number of EBV episome per cell was shown in DnTGFBR2-expressing cells compared to the vector controls (pLVX-Puro); C) Representative images at 100x magnification, showing EBV episomes (red dots) in EBV-infected cells. The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. * denotes p-value <0.05.

4.5 Summary

This study examined the effects of disruption TGF- β signalling on the outcome of EBV infection in NPE cells. The responsiveness of six cell lines, NP69, NP361hTert, NP460hTert, NP550hTert, HK1 and HONE1 to TGF- β 1-mediated growth inhibition was first determined using MTT assays. The growth of NP361hTert, NP460hTert, NP550hTert and HK1 was significantly inhibited by 40-60% following TGF- β 1 treatment. In contrast, NP69 and HONE1 were not responsive to TGF- β 1-mediated growth inhibition. Consistent with our preliminary results, the undifferentiated NPC cell line, HONE1 was not responsive to TGF- β 1-mediated growth inhibition, while TGF- β 1 inhibited the growth of the well-differentiated cell line, HK1. Non-malignant immortalised NPE cells are likely to represent more suitable model systems than NPC cell lines to study the mechanism of EBV infection. Therefore, NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert were chosen for subsequent experiments.

Two different approaches were used to disrupt TGF- β signalling in these, namely, inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with chemical inhibitor SB431542 and overexpression of a dominant negative *TGFBR2* (*DnTGFBR2*) gene. The disruption of TGF- β /Smad signalling pathway was confirmed in SB431542-treated cells and *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells by the demonstration of a reduced growth inhibitory response to TGF- β 1, inhibition of TGF- β 1-induced phosphorylation of Smad2 and loss of Smad2/3-dependent transcription activity. Next, the effects of disrupting the TGF- β signalling pathway on the outcome of EBV infection were examined. Compared to the controls, inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 and overexpression of *DnTGFBR2* resulted in higher percentages of EBV-positive cells in all the three cell lines. In agreement with these observations, an increase in copy number of EBV episomes was demonstrated in SB431542-treated and *DnTGFBR2*-expressing NP550hTert cells.

Collectively, the results of this study suggest that disruption of the TGF- β signalling pathway may facilitate the maintenance of the EBV genomes in NPE cells.

university

CHAPTER 5: THE EFFECT OF DISRUPTING THE TGF-BETA SIGNALLING ON CELLULAR DIFFERENTIATION, EBV-INDUCED SENESCENCE AND EBV LYTIC CYCLE INDUCTION

5.1 Introduction

Non-keratinizing NPC was initially known as lymphoepithelioma of the nasopharynx due to the prominent reactive lymphocytes in the tumour microenvironment (Hang et al., 1991; Herait et al., 1987). Lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma (LELC) is defined as an undifferentiated carcinoma with intense lymphoplasmacytic infiltrates (Gulley et al., 1995). Apart from NPC, EBV infection has also been detected in LELC of other organs such as stomach, esophagus, hepatobiliary tract, lung, thymus, and the salivary gland (Burke et al., 1990; Castro et al., 2001; Mori et al., 1994; Tsai et al., 1996; Vortmeyer et al., 1998), suggesting a close relationship between differentiation status of the host cells and EBV infection. There are also some evidence to support a link between differentiation status and stable maintenance of EBV in epithelial cells. It was shown that inhibition of differentiation prevent the EBVinfected cells from entering lytic cycle, whilst support stable EBV maintenance in these cells (Knox et al., 1996; Tsang et al., 2012). TGF- β signalling is known to induce differentiation in epithelial cells (Derynck & Akhurst, 2007; Kowanetz et al., 2004; Wells et al., 2009). Disruption of TGF- β signalling might suppress cellular differentiation, which in turn might facilitate stable EBV infection. To test this hypothesis, the differentiation status of NPE cell lines following the disruption of TGF- β signalling was examined.

EBV infection has been shown to induce senescence and growth inhibition in NPE cells, which in turn prohibited the stable maintenance of EBV (Tsang et al., 2012). Recently, a study has shown that EBV-infected primary human B cells initially undergo

a period of hyperproliferation leading to senescence-like growth arrest at the G1/S phase of the cell cycle (McFadden et al., 2016), further strengthening the link between EBV infection and senescence. Given that TGF- β signalling has been shown to induce senescence in primary mouse embryo fibroblasts (Zerlanko et al., 2012), the effect of TGF- β signalling disruption on EBV-induced senescence was investigated.

The regulation of the latent and lytic switch plays a crucial role in the persistence of EBV genomes in infected cells (Kenney & Mertz, 2014; Tsang et al., 2014). It has been shown that the establishment of stable EBV infection in B-cells and epithelial cells requires the suppression of *BZLF1*, an EBV gene that controls the switch from latent to lytic cycle (Murata et al., 2012; Tsang et al., 2012). In EBV positive B-cells and gastric cancer cell lines, exogenous addition of TGF- β 1 could activated the expression of *BZLF1* that led to the reactivation of EBV lytic cycle (Fahmi et al., 2000; Fukuda et al., 2001). To investigate whether disruption of TGF- β signalling inhibit the induction of EBV lytic cycle in NP550hTert, the expression of *BZLF1* post-EBV infection was determined. NP460hTert cells were not used in these experiments because they habour a *p16* deletion and a *p16*-resistant form of CDK4 has been shown to counteract the EBV-induced growth arrest and senescence in NPE cells, enabling persistent infection of EBV in these cells. (Tsang et al., 2012). Therefore, NP361hTert and NP550hTert cells were used to determine the mechanisms associated with TGF- β signalling disruption in facilitating the maintenance of EBV genomes in NPE cells.

5.2 Disruption of TGF-β signalling suppressed cellular differentiation of NPE cells

Given that CaCl₂ and FBS are commonly used to induce differentiation of epithelial cells in culture (Borowiec et al., 2013; Tsang et al., 2012), they were used to induce differentiation in NP361hTert and NP550hTert following inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 or overexpression of *DnTGFBR2*. Involucrin was used as an indicator of cellular differentiation (Chou et al., 2004).

5.2.1 Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 suppressed cellular differentiation of NPE cells

Prior to the addition of CaCl₂, FBS and/or TGF- β 1, NP361hTert and NP550hTert cells were treated with 10 μ M SB431542 for 30 minutes to disrupt TGF- β signalling. The media were replaced every alternate day for 14 days before the cells were collected for Western blot analysis. The expression of involucrin was increased in NP361hTert and NP550hTert following treatment with CaCl₂ and FBS, and the expression was further enhanced by the addition of TGF- β 1 (Figure 5.1). In contrast, treatment with SB431542 suppressed the differentiation of both cell lines, as shown by the lower expression of involucrin compared to diluent (ethanol)-treated cells (Figure 5.1). In line with the Western blotting results, immunofluorescence staining demonstrated that the expression of involucrin in NP550hTert was detectable following treatment with CaCl₂ and FBS, and the expression was further enhanced by TGF- β 1 (Figure 5.2). Inhibition of TGFR-1 with SB431542 reduced the expression of involucrin in these cells (Figure 5.2).

A) NP361hTert



+ Ethanol + SB431542 TGF-β1 - - + - - + FBS - + + - + + CaCl₂ - + + - + + Involucrin - - - + β-Actin - - - + - - + +

B) NP550hTert

Figure 5.1. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase suppressed the expression of involucrin in NPE cells. Western blotting analyses showed that compared to the diluent (ethanol)-treated cells, the levels of involucrin in A) NP361hTert and B) NP550hTert were lower in cells pre-treated with 10 μ M SB431542 for 30 minutes prior to the addition of 2.8mM CaCl₂ and 10% FBS in the presence or absence of 1ng/ml TGF- β 1 for 14 days. Representative images from two independent experiments are presented.



Figure 5.2. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase suppressed the expression of involucrin in NP550hTert. Immunofluorescence analyses showed that compared to the diluent (ethanol)-treated cells, the expression of involucrin in NP550hTert were lower in cells treated with 10 μ M SB431542 for 30 minutes prior to the addition of 2.8mM CaCl₂ and 10% FBS in the presence or absence of 1ng/ml TGF- β 1 for 14 days. Involucrin was not detected in cells that were not treated with any of the reagents (Untreated cells). Representative images at 20x magnification from two independent experiments are presented.

5.2.2 Expression of DnTGFBR2 suppressed cellular differentiation of NPE cells

DnTGFBR2-expressing cells and their respective vector controls were treated with CaCl₂ and FBS in the presence or absence of TGF- β 1. The media were replaced every alternate day for 14 days before the cells were collected for Western blotting analysis. In vector controls, the expression of involucrin was increased in NP361hTert and NP550hTert following treatment with CaCl₂ and FBS, and the expression was further enhanced by the addition of TGF- β 1 (Figure 5.3). In contrast, differentiation was suppressed in cells expressing *DnTGFBR2*, as shown by the reduced levels of involucrin (Figure 5.3). In accordance with these results, immunofluorescence staining of NP550hTert demonstrated that the expression of involucrin in the vector controls was induced following treatment with CaCl₂ and FBS, and the expression was further enhanced with the addition of TGF- β 1 (Figure 5.4). Compared to the vector controls, the *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells expressed lower levels of involucrin following these treatments (Figure 5.4).

Taken together, these results demonstrated that disruption of TGF- β signalling suppressed cellular differentiation in NPE cells.

A) NP361hTert



B) NP550hTert

	р	pLVX-Puro			DnTGFBR2		
TGF-β1	-	+	+	-	+	+	
FBS	-	+	+	-	+	+	
CaCl ₂	-	+	+	-	+	+	
Involucrin			-			-	
β-Actin	-	-	-	-	-	-	

Figure 5.3. Decreased expression of involucrin in *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells. Western blotting analyses showed that the levels of involucrin in A) *DnTGFBR2*/NP361hTert and B) *DnTGFBR2*/NP550hTert were lower following treatment with 2.8mM CaCl₂ and 10% FBS in the presence or absence of 1ng/ml TGF- β 1 for 14 days compared to their respective vector controls (pLVX-Puro). Representative images from two independent experiments are presented.



Figure 5.4. Decreased expression of involucrin in *DnTGFBR2*/NP550hTert. Immunofluorescence analyses showed that the levels of involucrin in *DnTGFBR2*/NP550hTert were lower following treatment with 2.8mM CaCl₂ and 10% FBS in the presence or absence of 1ng/ml TGF- β 1 for 14 days compared to the vector controls (pLVX-Puro). Involucrin was not detected in cells that were not treated with any of the reagents (Untreated cells). Representative images at 20x magnification from two independent experiments are presented.

5.3 Disruption of TGF-β signalling suppressed EBV-induced senescence in NPE cells

Initially, to examine whether disruption of TGF- β signalling could override senescence in NPE cells, SA- β -Gal assays were performed (Dimri et al., 1995). Consistenly lower percentages of senescent cells were observed in the SB431542treated cells and *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells in both cell lines compared to their corresponding controls (Figure 5.5A&B; p<0.05) after seven days of culturing, suggesting that distruption of TGF- β signalling might suppress cellular senescence in NPE cells. However, unlike a NPC cell line (HK1), an oral cancer cell line (H400) and a culture of normal human oral fibroflasts (NHOF1), the number of SA- β -Gal-positive cells was considerably high (approximately 40-50%) in the untreated parental cells of NP361hTert and NP550hTert (Figure 5.5C). These observations were puzzling because parental cells of NP361htert and NP550hTert grew in a normal culture condition and did not show any sign of senescence.

Therefore, instead of using SA- β -Gal assays, the expression of three other markers of senescence (SIRT1, p16 and p21) were examined in the subsequent experiments. SIRT1 is a NAD-dependent protein deacetylase that modulates various cellular functions such as cell cycle and loss of SIRT1 expression was positively correlated with senescence (Huang et al., 2008; Sasaki et al., 2006). The expression of SIRT1 was determined by Western blotting analysis and the levels of p16 and p21 were determined by immunofluorescence analyses.



Figure 5.5. Disruption of TGF- β signalling decreased the numbers of senescent cells. Compared to the diluent (ethanol)-treated cells or vector controls (pLVX-Puro), treatment with 10µM SB431542 or overexpression of *DnTGFBR2* decreased the percentages of senescent cells in (A) NP361hTert and (B) NP550hTert; however, higher percentages of senescent cells in untreated parental cells of NP361hTert and NP550hTert were demonstrated compared to NHOF-1, H400 and HK1 (C). The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. *** denotes p-value <0.001, ** denotes p-value <0.01 and * denotes p-value <0.05.

5.3.1 Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 suppressed EBV-induced senescence in NPE cells

To examine whether disruption of TGF- β signalling could override EBVinduced senescence, NP361hTert and NP550hTert were infected with a GFP-tagged recombinant EBV and the EBV-positive cells were isolated and cultured for 14 days in the presence of SB431542 or diluent (ethanol). Western blotting analysis showed that the expression of SIRT1 protein was detected in both uninfected parental cell lines (Figure 5.6), indicating that senescence did not occur in these cells. In the EBV-positive cells, the expression of SIRT1 protein was lost following treatment with the diluent (ethanol), indicating the induction of senescence. Notably, treatment of both cell lines with SB431542 protected the cells from EBV-induced cellular senescence, as shown by the restoration of SIRT1 protein expression (Figure 5.6).

A) NP361hTert



Figure 5.6. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase resulted in the restoration of SIRT1 protein following EBV infection . The expression of SIRT1 protein was detected in uninfected parental cells of A) NP361hTert and B) NP550hTert. EBV infection led to loss of SIRT1 expression in the diluent (ethanol)-treated cells. Addition of 10μ M SB431542 restored the expression of SIRT1 in the EBV-positive cells. Representative images from two independent experiments are presented.

To further confirm the disruption of TGF- β signalling suppressed EBV-induced senescence, the expression of p16 and p21 was determined in NP550hTert by immunofluorescence analysis. While no p16 expression was observed in the uninfected parental cells, p16 was readily detected in the EBV-positive NP550hTert cells treated with the diluent (ethanol), indicating that senescence was induced following EBV infection (Figure 5.7). The expression of p16 was noticeably reduced in the EBV-positive cells treated with SB431542 (Figure 5.7; p<0.05). Similar results were obtained with the expression of p21 (Figure 5.8; p<0.05).



Figure 5.7. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase decreased p16 expression in EBV-positive NP550hTert. No p16 expression was detected in the uninfected parental cells of NP550hTert. In EBV-positive cell populations, p16 expression was reduced following treatment with 10μM SB431542 compared to the diluent (ethanol) treatment. The signal intensity was measured as integrated intensity (AU) per cell using image J software. Representative images at 20x magnification from two independent experiments are presented. ** denotes p-value<0.01.



Figure 5.8. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase decreased p21 expression in EBV-positive NP550hTert. Compared to the EBV-infected cells, weak p21 expression was detected in the uninfected parental cells of NP550hTert. In EBV-positive cell populations, the p21 expression was reduced following treatment with 10µM SB431542 compared to the diluent (ethanol) treatment. The signal intensity was measured as integrated intensity (AU) per cell using image J software. Representative images at 20x magnification from two independent experiments are presented.* denotes p-value<0.05.
5.3.2 Suppression of EBV-induced senescence in *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells

NP361hTert and NP550hTert were infected with a GFP-tagged recombinant EBV and the EBV-positive cells were isolated and cultured for 14 days. Western blot analysis showed that the expression of SIRT1 protein was detected in both uninfected parental cell lines (Figure 5.9), indicating there is no sign of senescence. The expression of SIRT1 was lost in the vector controls following EBV infection, indicating the induction of senescence. Notably, overexpression of a *DnTGFBR2* in both cell lines protected the cells from EBV-induced cellular senescence, as shown by the restoration of SIRT1 protein expression (Figure 5.9). To further confirm the disruption of TGF- β signalling suppressed EBV-induced senescence, the expression of p16 and p21 was determined in NP550hTert by immunofluorescence analysis. While no p16 expression was observed in the uninfected parental cells, p16 was readily expressed in the EBV-positive vector controls, indicating that senescence was induced following EBV infection (Figure 5.10). The expression of p16 was noticeably reduced in the EBV-positive cells expressing *DnTGFBR2* (Figure 5.10; p<0.01). Similar results were obtained with the expression of p21 (Figure 5.11; p<0.01).

Taken together, these results showed that disruption of TGF- β signalling protected NPE cells from EBV-induced senescence, representing a possible mechanism to support stable EBV infection in these cells.

A) NP361hTert



Figure 5.9. Expression of *DnTGFBR2* **resulted in the restoration of SIRT1 protein following EBV infection.** The expression of SIRT1 protein was detected in uninfected parental cells of A) NP361hTert and B) NP550hTert. Following EBV infection, the expression of SIRT1 protein was lost in the vector controls (pLVX-Puro) while detected in the *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells. Representative images from two independent experiments are presented.



Figure 5.10. Decreased p16 expression in EBV-positive *DnTGFBR2*/NP550hTert. No p16 expression was detected in the uninfected parental cells of NP550hTert. Following EBV infection, the expression of p16 was reduced in *DnTGFBR2*-expressing NP550hTert compared to the vector controls (pLVX-Puro). The signal intensity was measured as integrated intensity (AU) per cell using image J software. Representative images at 20x magnification from two independent experiments are presented. ** denotes p-value<0.01.



Figure 5.11. Decreased p21 expression in EBV-positive *DnTGFBR2/NP550hTert.* Compared to the EBV-infected cells, week p21 expression was detected in the uninfected parental cells of NP550hTert. Following EBV infection, the expression of p21 was reduced in *DnTGFBR2*-expressing NP550hTert compared to the vector controls (pLVX-Puro). The signal intensity was measured as integrated intensity (AU) per cell using image J software. Representative images at 20x magnification from two independent experiments are presented. ** denotes p-value<0.01.

5.4 Disruption of TGF-β signalling inhibited the induction of EBV lytic cycle in NPE cells

5.4.1 Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 decreased expression of the EBV-encoded *BZLF1* gene in NP550hTert

To determine if disruption of TGF- β signalling suppressed the induction of EBV lytic cycle, the expression of *BZLF1* mRNA was measured following treatment with SB431542. NP550hTert cells were infected with a GFP-tagged recombinant EBV and the EBV-positive cells were isolated and cultured in growth media containing either 10 μ M SB431542 or diluent (ethanol) for 14 days. QPCR analysis showed that compared to the diluent (ethanol)-treated cells, the expression of *BZLF1* was significantly down-regulated in cells treated with SB431542 following EBV infection (Figure 5.12; p<0.05).

5.4.2 Decreased expression of the EBV-encoded *BZLF1* gene in *DnTGFBR2*/NP550hTert

The NP550hTert cells expressing *DnTGFBR2* or vector controls were infected with a GFP-tagged recombinant EBV and the EBV-positive cells were isolated and cultured for 14 days. Compared to the vector controls, the expression of *BZLF1* was significantly down-regulated in the *DnTGFBR2*-expressing cells following EBV infection (Figure 5.13; p<0.05). Collectively, these results suggested that disruption of TGF- β signalling could suppress the induction of EBV lytic cycle, a mechanism that might support stable EBV latent infection in NPE cells.



Figure 5.12. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase decreased *BZLF1* expression in EBVpositive NP550hTert. QPCR analysis showed that compared to the diluent (ethanol)treated cells, the expression of *BZLF1* mRNA was significantly down-regulated in NP550hTert treated with 10μ M SB431542 following EBV infection. The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. * denotes p-value <0.05.



Figure5.13.DecreasedBZLF1expressioninEBV-positiveDnTGFBR2/NP550hTert.QPCR analysis showed that compared to the vector controls(pLVX-Puro), the expression of BZLF1 mRNA was significantly down-regulated inDnTGFBR2-expressing cells following EBV infection. The data presented arerepresentative of two independent experiments. * denotes p-value <0.05.</td>

5.5 Summary

The results of the previous chapter (Chapter 4) showed that the disruption of TGF- β signalling facilitated the maintenance of EBV in three NPE cell lines (NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert). In this chapter, possible mechanisms that are responsible for these effects were investigated in two NPE cell lines, NP361hTert and NP550hTert.

Most, if not all, undifferentiated NPCs are associated with EBV infection. To examine whether the disruption of TGF- β signalling could influence the differentiation of NPE cells that lead to EBV maintenance, NP361hTert and NP550hTert were treated with CaCl₂ and FBS in the presence or absence of TGF- β 1 and the levels of involucrin protein was measured. Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 and overexpression of *DnTGFBR2* reduced the expression of involucrin in both cell lines. These data suggested that disruption of TGF- β signalling suppressed cellular differentiation in NPE cells, which might support EBV maintenance in these cells.

EBV infection has been shown to induce senescence and growth inhibition in NPE cells (Tsang et al., 2012), implying that repression of senescence might be essential for EBV maintenance. To examine whether disruption of TGF- β signalling could override EBV-induced senescence, the expression of three senescence markers (SIRT1, p16 and p21) was determined in EBV-positive NP361hTert and NP550hTert cells following inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 and overexpression of *DnTGFBR2*. Western blot analysis showed that the expression of SIRT1 protein was detected in both uninfected parental cell lines. Following EBV infection, the expression of SIRT1 protein was lost in the control cells, indicating the induction of senescence.

Notably, treatment of both cell lines with SB431542 and overexpression of a DnTGFBR2 protected the cells from EBV-induced senescence, as shown by the restoration of SIRT1 protein expression. In agreement with these data, immunofluorescence analysis showed that SB431542 treatment and DnTGFBR2 expression resulted in a noticeable reduction of p16 and p21 expression following EBV infection in these cells. These results demonstrated that disruption of TGF- β signalling protected NPE cells from EBV-induced senescence that in turn facilitated persistence of EBV infection in these cells.

Suppression of EBV-encoded *BZLF1*, the gene responsible for the latent to lytic switch, is required to establish stable EBV maintenance in B-cells and epithelial cells (Murata et al., 2012; Tsang et al., 2012). To examine whether disruption of TGF- β signalling could suppress EBV lytic cycle induction, the expression of *BZLF1* was determined in NP550hTert following EBV infection. Compared to the diluent (ethanol)-treated cells and vector controls, the expression of *BZLF1* mRNA was significantly down-regulated in SB431542-treated and *DnTGFBR2*-expressing NP550hTert cells following EBV infection, suggesting that disruption of TGF- β signalling may support latent EBV infection in these cells by suppressing the induction of EBV lytic cycle.

Taken together, these data suggest that disruption of TGF- β signalling facilitates stable EBV infection in NPE cells through a variety of mechanisms. These include the suppression of cellular differentiation, protection against EBV-induced senescence and inhibition of EBV lytic cycle reactivation

CHAPTER 6: EFFECT OF CRISPR/CAS9-MEDIATED *TGFBR2* KNOCKOUT ON THE OUTCOME OF EBV INFECTION IN NP460HTERT

6.1 Introduction

It is now recognised that epithelial cells carrying pre-malignant genetic alterations (for example, *p16* deletion or *CCND1* overexpression) are susceptible to stable EBV infection (Tsao et al., 2017). Among the immortalised NPE cell lines, only NP460hTert which harbors a p16 deletion can maintain EBV genomes in prolonged culture (Tsang et al., 2010). The results of Chapter 4 showed that disruption of TGF- β signalling by inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 or overexpression of DnTGFBR2 facilitated stable EBV infection in three immortalised NPE cell lines; namely, NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert. To confirm these data and to conclusively demonstrate a role for TGF- β in regulating stable EBV infection in NPE cells, the present study used the CRISPR/Cas9 system to knockout TGFBR2 in NP460hTert. This is a powerful approach to study gene function and edits cell genomes by co-expressing the Cas9 endonuclease with a single guide RNA (sgRNA) specific to the target gene (Cong et al., 2013). Cas9 endonuclease is guided by the sgRNA to introduce double-stranded breaks in the target DNA sequences, resulting in the loss-offunction of the target gene. The results presented in this chapter describe the outcome of EBV infection in NP460hTert following TGFBR2 knockout.

6.2 The effect of *TGFBR2* knockout on the outcome of EBV infection in NP460hTert

6.2.1 Generation and validation of CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knockout of *TGFBR2* in NP460hTert

To knockout *TGFBR2* in NP460hTert using CRISPR/Cas9, cells were cotransfected with two plasmids separately encoding Cas9 endonuclease and sgRNAs. Two sgRNAs (sgRNA1 and sgRNA2) were designed to target exon 1 of the *TGFBR2* gene. A cell which carries both the sgRNAs is expected to have a deletion of 600bp and yield a PCR product of 300bp that represents intronic region flanking exon 1 (with exon 1 being deleted). The transfected cells were grown in puromycin and single colonies selected to isolate monoclonal cell populations. Out of 12 clones, five (C1-C5) were able to grow continuously. PCR analysis showed that two clones (C3 and C4) displayed the expected size of the amplicon (300bp), indicating a successful deletion of *TGFBR2* gene in these cells (Figure 6.1). Given that C3 showed a stronger band than C4, it was selected for subsequent experiments and designated as CRISPR9/NP460hTert.



Figure 6.1. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knockout of *TGFBR2* **in NP460hTert.** PCR analysis showed that among the five clones, only C3 and C4 displayed the expected size of the amplicon (300bp), indicating a successful deletion in the exon 1 of *TGFBR2*. The band from C4 was very faint and difficult to be visualized on copied images.

To further validate the knockout of TGFBR2 in CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells, Western blot analysis showed that the CRISPR9/NP460hTert cell line did not express TGFR-2 (Figure 6.2). Similarly, pSmad2 was not detected in the CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells following treatment with TGF-\beta1 (Figure 6.3). To examine whether TGF-\beta/Smaddependent transcription was lost in the CRISPR9/NP460hTert, the cells were transiently transfected with SMAD2- or SMAD3-dependent luciferase reporter plasmids. Upon addition of TGF-\beta1, an increase in Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity with a fold change of 3.4-fold was shown in NP460hTert (Figure 6.4; p<0.01). In contrast, no change Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity was in shown in CRISPR9/NP460hTert following TGF-\u00df1 treatment (Figure 6.4). Similarly, addition of TGF-β1 resulted in an increase in Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity with a fold change of 9.7-fold in NP460hTert (Figure 6.5; p<0.01), whilst no change was evident in CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells (Figure 6.5). Taken together, these results confirmed the functional loss of TGF- β /Smad signalling in the CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells.



Figure 6.2. Loss of TGFR-2 expression in CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells. The expression of TGFR-2 was readily detected in the parental controls (NP460hTert), but not in CRISPR9/NP460hTert. Representative images from two independent experiments are presented.



Figure 6.3. Expression of pSmad2 in CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells. No expression of pSmad2 was detected in CRISPR9/NP460hTert following treatment with 1ng/ml TGF- β 1 for 30 and 60 minutes. Representative images from two independent experiments are presented.



Figure 6.4. Reduction of Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells. Luciferase reporter analyses showed that TGF- β 1 stimulation (1ng/ml) led to a significant increase in Smad2-dependent transcriptional activity in parental controls (NP460hTert). However, no change in Smad-dependent transcriptional activity was observed in CRISPR9/NP460hTert following TGF- β 1 stimulation. The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. ** denotes p-value<0.01.



Figure 6.5. Reduction of Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity in CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells. Luciferase reporter analyses showed that TGF- β 1 stimulation (1ng/ml) led to a significant increase in Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity in parental controls (NP460hTert). However, no change in Smad3-dependent transcriptional activity was evident in CRISPR9/NP460hTert following TGF- β 1 stimulation. The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. ** denotes p-value<0.01.

6.2.2 Increased numbers of EBV-positive cells in CRISPR9/NP460hTert

Data in Chapter four showed that expression of a *DnTGFBR2* cDNA resulted in a more persistent EBV infection of NP460hTert cells. To examine whether knockout of *TGFBR2* would also lead to the same outcome, CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells were infected with a GFP-tagged recombinant EBV (Akata strain) and the EBV-positive cells were isolated and grown for 7, 14 and 21 days. Compared to the parental controls (NP460hTert), the numbers of EBV-positive cells in CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells were significantly higher at each time point (Figure 6.6; p<0.001), confirming the previous results showing that disruption of TGF- β signalling facilitated the maintenance of EBV genomes in NP460hTert.



Figure 6.6. Increased numbers of EBV-positive cells in EBV infected CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells. FACS analyses showed that the numbers of EBV-positive cells were higher in CRISPR9/NP460hTert compared to the parental controls (NP460hTert). The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. *** denotes p-value <0.001.

6.3 Re-expression of *TGFBR2* in CRISPR9/NP460hTert impaired the maintenance of EBV infection

To rescue the loss of TGFBR2, CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells were transduced with lentiviruses carrying either a wild-type TGFBR2, or an empty vector. The expression of TGFR-2 in the CRISPR9/NP460hTert-expressing TGFBR2 was confirmed by Western blotting (Figure 6.7). To validate the restoration of functional TGF-β signalling in these cells, Western blotting of pSmad2 was performed following the addition of TGF-B1 for 30 and 60 minutes. Whilst no expression of pSmad2 was observed in the vector controls, pSmad2 was readily detected in the TGFBR2expressing CRISPR9/NP460hTert following TGF-β1 stimulation (Figure 6.8). To examine if the re-expression of TGFBR2 influenced the maintenance of EBV genomes, TGFBR2-expressing CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells were infected with a GFP-tagged recombinant EBV (Akata strain) and the EBV-positive cells were isolated and grown for 7, 14 and 21 days. Compared to the vector controls, the numbers of EBV-positive cells in the TGFBR2-expressing CRISPR9/NP460hTert were significantly decreased at each time point (Figure 6.9; p<0.05), further confirming that a functional TGF- β signalling pathway plays an important role in facilitating stable EBV infection in NPE cells.



Figure 6.7. Expression of TGFR-2 in *TGFBR2***-expressing CRISPR9/NP460hTert.** Expression of TGFR-2 was shown in CRISPR9/NP460hTert transduced with a wild type *TGFBR2* compared to the vector controls (pFUGW). Representative images from two independent experiments are presented.



Figure 6.8. Expression of pSmad2 in *TGFBR2*-expressing CRISPR9/NP460hTert. Expression of pSmad2 was shown in CRISPR9/NP460hTert transduced with a wild type *TGFBR2* following treatment with 1ng/ml TGF- β 1 for 30 and 60 minutes. Representative images from two independent experiments are presented.



Figure 6.9. Restoration of *TGFBR2* **decreased the numbers of EBV-positive cells in CRISPR9/NP460hTert.** FACS analyses showed that the numbers of EBV-positive cells were decreased in *TGFBR2*-expressing CRISPR9/NP460hTert compare to the vector controls (pFUGW). The data presented are representative of two independent experiments. * denotes p-value <0.05 and *** denotes p-value <0.001.

6.4 Summary

Previous chapters have described that disruption of TGF- β signalling facilitated the maintenance of EBV genomes in NPE cell lines, most likely through the suppression of cellular differentiation, EBV-induced senescence, and EBV lytic cycle reactivation. In this chapter, the effects of TGF- β signalling disruption on EBV persistence was further confirmed in NP460hTert following CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knockout of the *TGFBR2*. The *TGFBR2* knockout cells (CRISPR9/NP460hTert) were generated by transfecting NP460hTert with plasmid DNA encoding Cas9 endonuclease and sgRNAs targeting exon 1 of the *TGFBR2*.

Having confirmed the loss of TGFR-2 in the CRISPR9/NP460hTert, the disruption of TGF- β /Smad signalling pathway was verified by the inhibition of TGF- β 1induced phosphorylation of Smad2 and loss of Smad2/3-dependent transcriptional activity. Next, these cells were infected with a recombinant EBV and, compared to the parental controls (NP460hTert), the TGFBR2 knockout cells sustained higher numbers of EBV-positive cells. To rescue the loss of TGFBR2, CRISPR9/NP460hTert cells were transduced with lentiviruses carrying a wild type TGFBR2. The expression of TGFR-2 and TGF-\beta1-induced phosphorylation of Smad2 was restored in the TGFBR2expressing CRISPR9/NP460hTert. EBV infection of TGFBR2-expressing CRISPR9/NP460hTert showed that restoration of TGFBR2 impaired the maintenance of EBV genomes. Collectively, these results demonstrate that loss of TGF- β signalling is a critical event in supporting stable EBV infection in NPE cells.

CHAPTER 7: DISCUSSION

7.1 Introduction

The contribution of EBV infection to the development of NPC is thought to be a consequence of the establishment of virus latency in epithelial cells displaying premalignant genetic changes. Indeed, NPC cells carry monoclonal EBV genomes, indicating that EBV infection takes place before the expansion of the malignant cells. Although EBV replication has been found within oral epithelial cells (Niedobitek et al., 1991b), it has been a challenge to establish persistent EBV latent infection in epithelial cells in vitro. To date, only one study has investigated a mechanistic link between premalignant genetic changes and EBV infection, which demonstrated that inactivation of p16 or overexpression of CCND1, two characteristic features of NPC tumours, contributed to stable EBV infection in immortalised NPE cells (Tsang et al., 2012). Interestingly, we noted that less-differentiated NPC cell lines (e.g. HONE1) did not respond to TGF-\beta1-mediated growth inhibition but were susceptible to EBV infection. In contrast, differentiation-competent squamous epithelial cell lines (e.g. immortalised oral keratinocytes, OKF6), which could not sustain EBV infection were responsive to the cytostatic effects of TGF- β 1. These observations suggested that disruption of TGF- β signalling might be a crucial event in supporting stable EBV latent infection in epithelial cells. There is evidence to suggest that TGF-β signalling is de-regulated in NPC. In particular, reduced expression of both TGFR-1 and TGFR-2 has been reported in primary NPC tissues and cell lines (Fang et al., 2008; Lyu et al., 2014; Sriuranpong et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2012). Although de-regulation of TGF-β signalling has been shown to promote NPC tumorigenesis, the functional significance of this pathway in regulating EBV latency has not been investigated.

The present study aimed to investigate the influence of TGF- β signalling disruption on the outcome of EBV maintenance in NPE cells. Three immortalised NPE cell lines (NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert) with disrupted TGF-β signalling were generated by inhibiting the TGFR-1 kinase using a chemical inhibitor (SB431542) or by the overexpression of a dominant negative TGFBR2 (DnTGFBR2) gene. Following EBV infection, the number of cells carrying EBV genomes was significantly higher in these cells compared to their respective controls. Having shown that disruption of TGF- β signalling contributed to the maintenance of EBV genomes in NPE cells, the possible mechanisms that were responsible for these effects were investigated. The results showed that disruption of TGF-B signalling significantly suppressed cellular differentiation in response to serum/calcium and TGF- β 1, protected cells from EBVinduced senescence and inhibited the induction of the EBV lytic cycle. To conclusively demonstrate the role of TGF- β signalling in regulating persistent EBV infection in NPE cells, the TGFBR2 gene was knocked out in NP460hTert cells using the CRISPR/Cas9 system. Similarly, increased numbers of EBV-positive cells were observed in the TGFBR2 knockout cells and these effects were reversed following re-expression of a wild-type TGFBR2 gene.

7.2 The effect of TGF-β signalling disruption on the outcome of EBV infection in NPE cell lines

7.2.1 TGF-β1-mediated growth inhibition

The responsiveness of six epithelial cell lines, namely four immortalised NPE cells (NP69, NP361hTert, NP460hTert, NP550hTert), a well-differentiated NPC-derived cell line (HK1) and an undifferentiated NPC-derived cell line (HONE1),

towards TGF-\beta1-mediated growth inhibition was first determined. As expected, HONE1 cells that were able to sustain EBV infection did not respond to the cytostatic effects of TGF-β1. In line with our unpublished observations that HK1 could not sustain EBV genomes without numerous cycles of selection, its growth was suppressed in response to TGF- β 1 treatment. This might be due to the fact that HK1 was derived from a well-differentiated NPC and its cellular characteristics do not favor the maintenance of EBV genomes. It would be informative to examine whether these cells harbor any defects in the components of the TGF- β signalling pathway that contribute to the differences in their responsiveness to TGF- β 1. Interestingly, the SV40T-immortalised NP69 cells did not respond to TGF-β1-mediated growth inhibition. These observations can be partly explained by the data showing that overexpression of the SV40-T antigen can override the suppressive effects of TGF-B1 on c-MYC expression, thereby allowing c-MYC to inhibit the expression of p15, p21 and p27 induced by TGF-B1 (Laiho et al., 1990; Laiho et al., 1991; Pietenpol et al., 1990). Further, SV40-T antigen can directly bind Rb protein and trigger the release of E2F proteins, resulting in cell cycle progression (Hume & Kalejta, 2009). Among the three telomerase-immortalised NPE cell lines, only NP460hTert, which harbor a p16 deletion can maintain EBV genomes after multiple cycles of selection, while NP361hTert and NP550hTert are only able to sustain EBV infection after overexpressing CCND1 (Tsang et al., 2012; Tsang et al., 2010). However, their responsiveness towards cytostatic effects of TGF-β1 was similar, suggesting that the degree of inhibition did not directly reflect the susceptibility to EBV infection.

7.2.2 Disruption of TGF-β signalling and EBV infection

The TGF- β receptors; TGFBR1 and TGFBR2 are essential molecules within the TGF- β signalling pathway. Given that reduced expression of these receptors is a frequent feature of NPC (Fang et al., 2008; Lyu et al., 2014; Sriuranpong et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2012), they were selected as targets to disrupt the TGF- β signalling pathway. The kinase activity of TGFR-1 was inhibited using a chemical inhibitor, SB431542 (Inman et al., 2002; Matsuyama et al., 2003) and data from our laboratory have shown that SB431542 is a selective inhibitor of TGFR-1 kinase and the TGF-B signalling pathway (Appendix A). The DnTGFBR2 construct has been previously used and its expression was sufficient to inhibit the function of TGFBR2 (Paterson et al., 2001). To infect the NPE cells with a recombinant EBV (Akata strain), the established co-culture method was used given its ability to infect epithelial cells more efficiently than cell-free infection using the viral supernatant harvested from EBV-producing cell lines (Imai et al., 1998). Following EBV infection, GFP-positive cells were isolated and cultured for 7, 14 or 21 days. Compared to the respective controls, treatment with SB431542 or overexpression of DnTGFBR2 resulted in higher percentages of EBVpositive cells in all three cell lines tested. These results were not affected by the EBV infection rates as an infection rate of approximately 10% was observed in all the cells examined. Interestingly, TGF- β 1 was previously shown to enhance the infection rate of EBV in both the primary and immortalised NPE cells, possibly by up-regulating the integrin receptors (Tsang et al., 2010). Taken together, it can be speculated that TGF-B1 treatment can enhance the EBV infection efficiency of epithelial cells, but once infected, the cells need to develop resistance to TGF-B1-induced growth inhibition in order to maintain the EBV genomes.

The present study was designed to determine the percentage of EBV-positive cells sustained post infection over a 21-day period. Attempts were made to passage the cells after 21 days, however, the loss of EBV genomes was rapid, and re-growth of EBV-positive cells after passaging was not successful. It has previously been shown that EBV-positive cells grew significantly slower compared to their EBV-negative counterparts (Tsang et al., 2010). As such it was possible that in a culture of mixed cell populations, the EBV-negative cells outgrew the EBV-positive cells, and eventually leading to the loss of cells carrying EBV genomes. To overcome this hurdle, multiple cycles of selection would be required to enrich the EBV infected cells and to achieve persistent EBV infection in prolonged culture (personal communication with Prof. Dr. George Tsao from the University of Hong Kong). It is anticipated that cells with the disrupted TGF- β signalling would achieve a stable EBV infection quicker than their respective controls.

During the course of this study, one of our collaborators, Prof. Dr. Kwok-Wai Lo from the Chinese University of Hong Kong, showed that loss-of-function mutations or deletions in key molecules within the TGF- β signalling pathway occur in a significant proportion of primary NPC tissues using whole genome sequencing (unpublished data). To conclusively demonstrate a role for TGF- β signalling in regulating persistent EBV infection in epithelial cells, CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knockout of the *TGFBR2* gene was performed. Similar to the results obtained from the inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with inhibitor SB431542 and overexpression of *DnTGFBR2*, numbers of EBV-positive cells were higher following the knockout of *TGFBR2*. More importantly, re-expression of a wild-type *TGFBR2* impaired the ability of cells to maintain the EBV genomes, providing convincing evidence that disruption of TGF- β signalling supports stable EBV infection in NPE cells.

7.3 Cellular responses to TGF-β that regulate the maintenance of EBV genomes in NPE cells

7.3.1 Effect on cellular differentiation and EBV lytic cycle

Undifferentiated NPC is invariably associated with EBV infection and also known as lymphoepithelioma of the nasopharynx. Lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma (LELC) is defined as an undifferentiated carcinoma with an intense lymphoplasmacytic infiltrates (Gulley et al., 1995). Apart from NPC, EBV infection has also been detected in LELC of other organs such as stomach, esophagus, hepatobiliary tract, lung, thymus and salivary gland (Burke et al., 1990; Castro et al., 2001; Mori et al., 1994; Tsai et al., 1996; Vortmeyer et al., 1998), suggesting a close relationship between the loss of differentiation of the host cells and EBV infection. The regulation of the latent and lytic switch is crucial in the maintenance of EBV genomes in the infected cells (Kenney & Mertz, 2014; Tsang et al., 2014). Suppression of the EBV-encoded immediate early gene, BZLF1, which controls the switch from latent to lytic cycle, is required for the establishment of stable EBV infection in epithelial and B cells (Murata et al., 2012; Tsang et al., 2012). It was shown that differentiation of epithelial and B cells induced by the cellular differentiation regulator B-lymphocyte-induce maturation protein 1 (BLIMP1) triggered EBV lytic reactivation in latently infected B cells (Reusch et al., 2015). These observations suggest that latently infected cells need to suppress cellular differentiation and override viral lytic induction in order to establish persistent latent infection. In line with this concept, an early study using SVK epithelial cells showed that compared to acutely infected cells, clones that stably carried EBV genomes were impaired in their ability to differentiate and enter the virus lytic cycle (Knox et al., 1996). Using an organotypic raft culture of telomerase-immortalised normal oral

keratinocytes, lytic replication of EBV was confined to the more differentiated cell layers and this process was synergistically mediated by Kruppel-like factor 4 (KLF4) and BLIMP1 (Nawandar et al., 2015). In *CCND1*-overexpressing NPE cells, the maintenance of EBV genomes was accompanied by the suppression of serum-induced differentiation and low expression of *BZLF1* (Tsang et al., 2012). These data suggest that stable maintenance of EBV in epithelial cells require an undifferentiated cellular environment that links to the suppression of viral lytic cycle.

A role for TGF- β signalling in the regulation of epithelial cell differentiation has been demonstrated. A number of studies have shown that TGF- β signalling can induce differentiation of the immortalised skin keratinocyte cell line, HaCaT (Buschke et al., 2011; Cho et al., 2004; Descargues et al., 2008; Matsumoto et al., 1990). In agreement with these previously published findings, results obtained from this study demonstrate that exogenous TGF- β 1 enhances expression of involucrin in NPE cells treated with serum/calcium, while such effects were suppressed following disruption of TGF- β signalling. These data support the notion that loss of differentiation is a critical determinant in enabling epithelial cells to sustain EBV genomes.

The contribution of TGF- β signalling to induction of the EBV lytic cycle has also been documented. EBV-positive BL and gastric epithelial cells were found to produce TGF- β 1, which could stimulate EBV lytic reactivation, as, evidenced by the induced expression of *BZLF1* (Fahmi et al., 2000; Fukuda et al., 2001). Loss of functional *TGFBR2* in EBV-infected BL cells resulted in insensitivity to TGF- β 1induced lytic cycle reactivation (Fukuda et al., 2006). In support of these data, the results of the present study showed that inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase and overexpression of *DnTGFBR2* in NPE cells led to a decrease in the *BZLF1* mRNA expression following EBV infection. It has been proposed that an abortive lytic cycle is the initial mode of primary EBV infection of epithelial and B cells (Ma et al., 2012). Therefore, it is possible that EBV infection of NPE cells induces the production of TGF- β 1 and the defects in TGF- β signalling confer resistance to TGF- β 1-mediated EBV lytic induction. Recently, the differentiation of epithelial cells was shown to stimulate the expression of LMP1, which was required for an efficient EBV lytic reactivation (Nawandar et al., 2017). Although it is recognised that *BZLF1* alone is sufficient to be an indicator for lytic cycle (Kolman et al., 1996; Le Roux et al., 1996; Ragoczy et al., 1998; Schelcher et al., 2005), it would be informative to demonstrate that the expression of LMP1 and other EBV lytic genes was also suppressed in cells with disrupted TGF- β signalling.

7.3.2 Effect on EBV-induced senescence

Senescence is a process by which cells irreversibly stop dividing and enter a state of permanent growth arrest without undergoing cell death (Munoz-Espin & Serrano, 2014). Senescence can be induced by diverse stimuli, including shortening of telomeres (replicative senescence), increasing levels of ROS and DNA damage (stress-induced senescence), activation of oncogenes (oncogene-induced senescence) and increasing levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (senescence-associated secretory phenotype) (Campisi & d'Adda di Fagagna, 2007; Munoz-Espin & Serrano, 2014; Salama et al., 2014). EBV is a human oncovirus and its ability to induce senescence in normal cells has been reported. EBV infection of normal B cells has been shown to result in hyperproliferation of infected cells with accumulating DNA damage, leading to a G1/S phase growth arrest or senescence (Alfieri et al., 1991; Nikitin et al., 2010). To overcome this obstacle, EBV infected B cells express EBNA-2 and EBNA-LP to induce expression of cyclin D2, which leads to cell cycle progression and immortalisation

(Sinclair et al., 1994). Similarly, EBV infection of normal epithelial cells has been shown to induce growth arrest and senescence (Dittmer et al., 2008; Lu et al., 2010; Tsang et al., 2012; Tsang et al., 2010). The expression of LMP1 in fibroblast cells was shown to inhibit senescence by down-regulating expression of p16 (Ohtani et al., 2003; Yang et al., 2000). In NPE cells, overexpression of *CCND1* was sufficient to override senescence induced by EBV infection in a p16- and p21-dependent manner (Tsang et al., 2012).

To examine whether disruption of TGF-B signalling could override EBVinduced senescence in NPE cells, the expression of SIRT1, p16 and p21 was measured in the isolated EBV-positive cells at day 14 post-infection. SA-β-Gal is frequently used to measure senescence, but this assay could not be used in the present study because of high levels of false positive staining in NPE cells. However, SIRT1, which is a NADdependent protein deacetylase that modulates various cellular functions such as cell cycle progression, is down-regulated in senescent cells and can be used as a marker of late senescence (Huang et al., 2008; Sasaki et al., 2006). Following EBV infection of NPE cells, inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 and overexpression of DnTGFBR2 restored the expression of SIRT1, which was accompanied by the reduction of p16 and p21 levels. These findings indicate that disruption of TGF-β signalling protected cells from EBV-induced senescence that in turn, might facilitate stable, persistent infection with EBV. These findings are consistent with the role of TGF- β signalling in inducing senescence of epithelial cells. Exogenous TGF- β 1 was shown to induce ROS-dependent senescence in hepatocellular carcinoma cells in a p21- and p15dependent manner (Senturk et al., 2010). Further, TGF- β signalling has been shown to promote oncogenic Ras-induced senescence in human mammary epithelial cells (HMEC) by inducing the expression of p21 (Cipriano et al., 2011; Lin et al., 2012).

7.3.3 TGF-β signalling and EBV infection

It is well-recognised that once EBV latency is established in pre-malignant epithelial cells, EBV-encoded genes regulate multiple signalling pathways to drive the development of NPC. During the course of this study, a number of signalling pathways were identified to be de-regulated by EBV infection in NPC, including lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) signalling (Appendix B). Interestingly, a previous study by Dr. CW. Dawson (University of Birmingham, UK) has shown that EBV-encoded EBNA1 repressed TGF- β 1-induced transcription by increasing Smad2 turnover (Wood et al., 2007). Taken together, a possible loop between EBV infection and TGF- β signalling can be proposed in which cells with defects in TGF- β signalling are susceptible to EBV infection, once infected, the EBV-positive cells express EBNA1 to impair TGF- β signalling which in turns supports the maintenance of latency in these cells.

7.4 Limitations of the study

Although the study was carefully designed to address the specific research questions, there were a number of limitations, which could potentially influence the broader conclusions drawn from the data.

The GFP (EBV)-positive cells were isolated 48 hours post-EBV infection and cultured for over 21 days. A rapid loss of EBV genomes was observed after passaging the cells and therefore stable latent infection was not established. Multiple cycles of sorting to select the EBV-positive cells are required to prove that cells with disrupted TGF-β signalling could proliferate and maintain EBV genomes in prolonged culture.

Disruption of TGF- β signalling was shown to suppress cellular differentiation and to inhibit EBV lytic cycle induction in the NPE cells. Due to some technical issues, a direct link showing the maintenance of EBV genomes in cells treated with differentiation inducing reagents could not be established. It would be more informative to demonstrate that disrupting TGF- β signalling in cells with impaired ability to differentiation could sustain EBV genomes.

The mRNA expression of *BZLF1* was reduced in cells with disrupted TGF- β signalling following EBV infection. It will be more persuasive to show the reduction of *BZLF1* at the protein levels. Further, the suppressive effect of defective TGF- β signalling on lytic cycle induction would be more compelling if decreased expression of other immediate early lytic genes, such as *BRLF1*, were shown.

7.5 Future work

The results of the present study showed that disruption of TGF- β signalling facilitated EBV infection in the NPE cells. There are several areas of research arising from this work that are likely to form a fundamental basis for a better understanding of the contribution of EBV infection to the development of NPC.

Given that high levels of TGF- β 1 were found in sera of NPC patients (Sun et al., 2007; Xu et al., 1999) and TGF- β 1 represents the prototype of the three TGF isoforms, the present study used only TGF- β 1 in the experiments. It will be informative to investigate whether TGF- β 2 and TGF- β 3 are also highly expressed in NPC and exhibit similar effects as TGF- β 1.

Inhibition of TGFR-1 kinase with SB431542 or overexpression of *DnTGFBR2* was demonstrated to suppress cellular differentiation in response to calcium/serum as well as TGF- β 1. Several cellular transcription factors, such as BLIMP1, are key mediators of differentiation in epithelial cells (Nawandar et al., 2015; Reusch et al., 2015) understanding the mechanisms engaged by TGF- β signalling in the differentiation process would strengthen our understanding of the events conferring a suitable cellular environment for EBV infection of epithelial cells.

NPC is the consequence of aberrant establishment of EBV latent infection in NPE cells. Developing cell lines with defective TGF- β signalling that stably maintain EBV genomes would provide important insights into the underlying mechanisms contributing to the maintenance of EBV infection in epithelial cells. Further, TGF- β 1 was previously shown to enhance the infection rate of EBV in NPE cells (Tsang et al., 2010) and the present study demonstrated that disruption of TGF- β signalling facilitated persistent EBV infection. It would be compelling to elucidate the mechanisms employed by TGF- β signalling in regulating these events.

Overexpression of *CCND1* or a *p16*-resistant form of *CDK4* was shown to counteract the EBV-induced growth arrest and senescence in NPE cells, thus enabling persistent infection of EBV (Tsang et al., 2012). Similar results were obtained with the disruption of TGF- β signalling in the NPE cells. Taken together, these observations suggest that defects in cell cycle control may support stable EBV latent infection in NPE cells. Studies to investigate whether these events are mutually exclusive or synergistic are greatly warranted.

CHAPTER 8: CONCLUDING REMARKS

EBV infection is believed to be an initiating event in the development of NPC. Evidence suggests that epithelial cells harboring specific genetic changes are susceptible to persistent EBV infection, and that key genetic alterations or pathway disruption is required for the establishment of stable latent infection. This is the first study to show that disruption of TGF- β signalling supports stable EBV infection in NPE cells. These results provide crucial information which leads to a better understanding of the genetic events associated with the progression of NPC.

There is some evidence to show that TGF- β signalling is de-regulated in NPC. The present study showed that disrupting TGF- β signalling in NPE cells by inhibiting TGFR-1 kinase using a chemical inhibitor (SB431542) or overexpression of a *DnTGFBR2* gene facilitated the maintenance of EBV genomes in three NPE cell lines (NP361hTert, NP460hTert and NP550hTert). These results were further confirmed by knocking out the *TGFBR2* gene in NP460hTert cells using the CRISPR/Cas9 system. Significantly, restoration of wild-type *TGFBR2* in these cells reversed the effects caused by *TGFBR2* knockout. To determine the possible mechanisms responsible for these effects, the present study showed that disruption of TGF- β signalling in NPE cells resulted in the suppression of cellular differentiation, EBV-induced senescence and EBV lytic cycle induction. Taken together, these results imply that an intact TGF- β signalling pathway is required for epithelial cells to initiate a protective cellular response that prevents stable EBV infection. Loss of such protective mechanisms resulting from de-regulated TGF- β signalling during the early stages of NPC pathogenesis facilitates EBV infection and subsequent tumour progression.

REFERENCES

- Abdollah, S., Macias-Silva, M., Tsukazaki, T., Hayashi, H., Attisano, L., & Wrana, J. L. (1997). TbetaRI phosphorylation of Smad2 on Ser465 and Ser467 is required for Smad2-Smad4 complex formation and signaling. *J Biol Chem*, 272(44), 27678-27685.
- Abdullah, B., Alias, A., & Hassan, S. (2009). Challenges in the management of nasopharyngeal carcinoma: a review. *Malays J Med Sci*, 16(4), 50-54.
- Alfieri, C., Birkenbach, M., & Kieff, E. (1991). Early events in Epstein-Barr virus infection of human B lymphocytes. *Virology*, 181(2), 595-608.
- Allaya, N., Khabir, A., Sallemi-Boudawara, T., Sellami, N., Daoud, J., Ghorbel, A., . . . Ayadi, W. (2015). Over-expression of miR-10b in NPC patients: correlation with LMP1 and Twist1. *Tumour Biol*, 36(5), 3807-3814.
- Allen, M. D., Young, L. S., & Dawson, C. W. (2005). The Epstein-Barr virus-encoded LMP2A and LMP2B proteins promote epithelial cell spreading and motility. J Virol, 79(3), 1789-1802.
- Altmann, M., Pich, D., Ruiss, R., Wang, J., Sugden, B., & Hammerschmidt, W. (2006). Transcriptional activation by EBV nuclear antigen 1 is essential for the expression of EBV's transforming genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103(38), 14188-14193.
- Annes, J. P., Munger, J. S., & Rifkin, D. B. (2003). Making sense of latent TGFbeta activation. J Cell Sci, 116(Pt 2), 217-224.
- Araki, S., Eitel, J. A., Batuello, C. N., Bijangi-Vishehsaraei, K., Xie, X. J., Danielpour, D., . . . Mayo, L. D. (2010). TGF-beta1-induced expression of human Mdm2 correlates with late-stage metastatic breast cancer. *J Clin Invest*, 120(1), 290-302.
- Assoian, R. K., Komoriya, A., Meyers, C. A., Miller, D. M., & Sporn, M. B. (1983). Transforming growth factor-beta in human platelets. Identification of a major storage site, purification, and characterization. *J Biol Chem*, 258(11), 7155-7160.
- Azizah, Ab M, T, Nor Saleha I., A, Noor Hashimah, A, Asmah Z., & W, Mastulu. (2015). Malaysian National Cancer Registry Report.
- Baer, R., Bankier, A. T., Biggin, M. D., Deininger, P. L., Farrell, P. J., Gibson, T. J., . . . et al. (1984). DNA sequence and expression of the B95-8 Epstein-Barr virus genome. *Nature*, 310(5974), 207-211.
- Bakhshayesh, M., Zaker, F., Hashemi, M., Katebi, M., & Solaimani, M. (2012). TGFbeta1-mediated apoptosis associated with SMAD-dependent mitochondrial Bcl-2 expression. *Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk*, 12(2), 138-143.

- Bakin, A. V., Tomlinson, A. K., Bhowmick, N. A., Moses, H. L., & Arteaga, C. L. (2000). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase function is required for transforming growth factor beta-mediated epithelial to mesenchymal transition and cell migration. *J Biol Chem*, 275(47), 36803-36810.
- Baldin, V., Lukas, J., Marcote, M. J., Pagano, M., & Draetta, G. (1993). Cyclin D1 is a nuclear protein required for cell cycle progression in G1. *Genes Dev*, 7(5), 812-821.
- Baldus, S. E., Schwarz, E., Lohrey, C., Zapatka, M., Landsberg, S., Hahn, S. A., . . . Schwarte-Waldhoff, I. (2005). Smad4 deficiency in cervical carcinoma cells. *Oncogene*, 24(5), 810-819.
- Baldwin, R. L., Friess, H., Yokoyama, M., Lopez, M. E., Kobrin, M. S., Buchler, M. W., & Korc, M. (1996). Attenuated ALK5 receptor expression in human pancreatic cancer: correlation with resistance to growth inhibition. *Int J Cancer*, 67(2), 283-288.
- Bankier, A. T., Deininger, P. L., Satchwell, S. C., Baer, R., Farrell, P. J., & Barrell, B.
 G. (1983). DNA sequence analysis of the EcoRI Dhet fragment of B95-8 Epstein-Barr virus containing the terminal repeat sequences. *Mol Biol Med*, 1(4), 425-445.
- Barcellos-Hoff, M. H., Derynck, R., Tsang, M. L., & Weatherbee, J. A. (1994). Transforming growth factor-beta activation in irradiated murine mammary gland. J Clin Invest, 93(2), 892-899.
- Barth, S., Pfuhl, T., Mamiani, A., Ehses, C., Roemer, K., Kremmer, E., . . . Grasser, F. A. (2008). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded microRNA miR-BART2 down-regulates the viral DNA polymerase BALF5. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 36(2), 666-675.
- Becker, J., Leser, U., Marschall, M., Langford, A., Jilg, W., Gelderblom, H., . . . Wolf, H. (1991). Expression of proteins encoded by Epstein-Barr virus trans-activator genes depends on the differentiation of epithelial cells in oral hairy leukoplakia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 88(19), 8332-8336.
- Bei, J. X., Jia, W. H., & Zeng, Y. X. (2012). Familial and large-scale case-control studies identify genes associated with nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 22(2), 96-106.
- Bei, J. X., Li, Y., Jia, W. H., Feng, B. J., Zhou, G., Chen, L. Z., . . . Zeng, Y. X. (2010). A genome-wide association study of nasopharyngeal carcinoma identifies three new susceptibility loci. *Nat Genet*, 42(7), 599-603.
- Bei, J. X., Su, W. H., Ng, C. C., Yu, K., Chin, Y. M., Lou, P. J., . . . International Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma Genetics Working, Group. (2016). A GWAS Metaanalysis and Replication Study Identifies a Novel Locus within CLPTM1L/TERT Associated with Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma in Individuals of Chinese Ancestry. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 25(1), 188-192.

- Bell, A. I., Groves, K., Kelly, G. L., Croom-Carter, D., Hui, E., Chan, A. T., & Rickinson, A. B. (2006). Analysis of Epstein-Barr virus latent gene expression in endemic Burkitt's lymphoma and nasopharyngeal carcinoma tumour cells by using quantitative real-time PCR assays. *J Gen Virol*, 87(Pt 10), 2885-2890.
- Binbin Li, Huahui Li, Weiping Ye, Xiaoyan Huang, Yang Han, Jiaxu Wang, Shaopeng Du, . . . He, Zhiwei. (2017). Association of hsa-miR-423 rs6505162 polymorphism with risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Southern Chinese population. *Int J Clin Exp Med 2*(10), 3289-3296.
- Binne, U. K., Amon, W., & Farrell, P. J. (2002). Promoter sequences required for reactivation of Epstein-Barr virus from latency. *J Virol*, 76(20), 10282-10289.
- Biswas, S., Chytil, A., Washington, K., Romero-Gallo, J., Gorska, A. E., Wirth, P. S., . . . Grady, W. M. (2004). Transforming growth factor beta receptor type II inactivation promotes the establishment and progression of colon cancer. *Cancer Res*, 64(14), 4687-4692.
- Borowiec, A. S., Delcourt, P., Dewailly, E., & Bidaux, G. (2013). Optimal differentiation of in vitro keratinocytes requires multifactorial external control. *PLoS One*, 8(10), e77507.
- Borza, C. M., & Hutt-Fletcher, L. M. (2002). Alternate replication in B cells and epithelial cells switches tropism of Epstein-Barr virus. *Nat Med*, 8(6), 594-599.
- Bos, P. D., Zhang, X. H., Nadal, C., Shu, W., Gomis, R. R., Nguyen, D. X., . . . Massague, J. (2009). Genes that mediate breast cancer metastasis to the brain. *Nature*, 459(7249), 1005-1009.
- Boulay, J. L., Mild, G., Lowy, A., Reuter, J., Lagrange, M., Terracciano, L., . . . Rochlitz, C. (2003). SMAD7 is a prognostic marker in patients with colorectal cancer. *Int J Cancer*, 104(4), 446-449.
- Brabletz, T., Pfeuffer, I., Schorr, E., Siebelt, F., Wirth, T., & Serfling, E. (1993). Transforming growth factor beta and cyclosporin A inhibit the inducible activity of the interleukin-2 gene in T cells through a noncanonical octamer-binding site. *Mol Cell Biol*, 13(2), 1155-1162.

Brennan, B. (2006). Nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Orphanet J Rare Dis, 1, 23.

- Buell, P. (1974). The effect of migration on the risk of nasopharyngeal cancer among Chinese. *Cancer Res*, 34(5), 1189-1191.
- Burke, A. P., Yen, T. S., Shekitka, K. M., & Sobin, L. H. (1990). Lymphoepithelial carcinoma of the stomach with Epstein-Barr virus demonstrated by polymerase chain reaction. *Mod Pathol*, 3(3), 377-380.
- Bursch, W., Oberhammer, F., Jirtle, R. L., Askari, M., Sedivy, R., Grasl-Kraupp, B., . . . Schulte-Hermann, R. (1993). Transforming growth factor-beta 1 as a signal for induction of cell death by apoptosis. *Br J Cancer*, 67(3), 531-536.

- Buschke, S., Stark, H. J., Cerezo, A., Pratzel-Wunder, S., Boehnke, K., Kollar, J., ... Boukamp, P. (2011). A decisive function of transforming growth factorbeta/Smad signaling in tissue morphogenesis and differentiation of human HaCaT keratinocytes. *Mol Biol Cell*, 22(6), 782-794.
- Busson, P., Braham, K., Ganem, G., Thomas, F., Grausz, D., Lipinski, M., . . . Tursz, T. (1987). Epstein-Barr virus-containing epithelial cells from nasopharyngeal carcinoma produce interleukin 1 alpha. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 84(17), 6262-6266.
- Cadet, J., Sage, E., & Douki, T. (2005). Ultraviolet radiation-mediated damage to cellular DNA. *Mutat Res*, 571(1-2), 3-17.
- Cai, L. M., Lyu, X. M., Luo, W. R., Cui, X. F., Ye, Y. F., Yuan, C. C., . . . Li, X. (2015). EBV-miR-BART7-3p promotes the EMT and metastasis of nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells by suppressing the tumor suppressor PTEN. Oncogene, 34(17), 2156-2166.
- Callahan, J. F., Burgess, J. L., Fornwald, J. A., Gaster, L. M., Harling, J. D., Harrington, F. P., . . . Laping, N. J. (2002). Identification of novel inhibitors of the transforming growth factor beta1 (TGF-beta1) type 1 receptor (ALK5). *J Med Chem*, 45(5), 999-1001.
- Calon, A., Espinet, E., Palomo-Ponce, S., Tauriello, D. V., Iglesias, M., Cespedes, M. V., . . . Batlle, E. (2012). Dependency of colorectal cancer on a TGF-beta-driven program in stromal cells for metastasis initiation. *Cancer Cell*, 22(5), 571-584.
- Campisi, J., & d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2007). Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 8(9), 729-740.
- Cao, J. Y., Mansouri, S., & Frappier, L. (2012). Changes in the nasopharyngeal carcinoma nuclear proteome induced by the EBNA1 protein of Epstein-Barr virus reveal potential roles for EBNA1 in metastasis and oxidative stress responses. *J Virol*, 86(1), 382-394.
- Cao, S., Cui, Y., Xiao, H., Mai, M., Wang, C., Xie, S., . . . Lin, C. (2016). Upregulation of flotillin-1 promotes invasion and metastasis by activating TGF-beta signaling in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Oncotarget*, *7*(4), 4252-4264.
- Cao, S. M., Xu, Y. J., Lin, G. Z., Huang, Q. H., Wei, K. R., Xie, S. H., & Liu, Q. (2015). Estimation of cancer burden in Guangdong Province, China in 2009. *Chin J Cancer*, 34(12), 594-601.
- Cao, Y., Yang, L., Jiang, W., Wang, X., Liao, W., Tan, G., . . . Sun, L. Q. (2014). Therapeutic evaluation of Epstein-Barr virus-encoded latent membrane protein-1 targeted DNAzyme for treating of nasopharyngeal carcinomas. *Mol Ther*, 22(2), 371-377.
- Cao, Ya. (2017). EBV based cancer prevention and therapy in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *npj Precision Oncology*, 1(1), 10.
- Castro, C. Y., Ostrowski, M. L., Barrios, R., Green, L. K., Popper, H. H., Powell, S., ... Ro, J. Y. (2001). Relationship between Epstein-Barr virus and lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of the lung: a clinicopathologic study of 6 cases and review of the literature. *Hum Pathol*, 32(8), 863-872.
- Chacko, B. M., Qin, B. Y., Tiwari, A., Shi, G., Lam, S., Hayward, L. J., . . . Lin, K. (2004). Structural basis of heteromeric smad protein assembly in TGF-beta signaling. *Mol Cell*, 15(5), 813-823.
- Chalaux, E., Lopez-Rovira, T., Rosa, J. L., Pons, G., Boxer, L. M., Bartrons, R., & Ventura, F. (1999). A zinc-finger transcription factor induced by TGF-beta promotes apoptotic cell death in epithelial Mv1Lu cells. *FEBS Lett*, 457(3), 478-482.
- Chan, A. S., To, K. F., Lo, K. W., Ding, M., Li, X., Johnson, P., & Huang, D. P. (2002). Frequent chromosome 9p losses in histologically normal nasopharyngeal epithelia from southern Chinese. *Int J Cancer*, 102(3), 300-303.
- Chan, A. S., To, K. F., Lo, K. W., Mak, K. F., Pak, W., Chiu, B., . . . Huang, D. P. (2000). High frequency of chromosome 3p deletion in histologically normal nasopharyngeal epithelia from southern Chinese. *Cancer Res*, 60(19), 5365-5370.
- Chan, J.K.C., Bray, F., McCarron, P., Foo, W., Lee, A.W.M., Yip, T., . . W. (2005). WHO calssification of tumours :Pathology and genetics of head and neck tumours. In E. J. Barnes L, Reichart P, Sidransky D. Lyon (Ed.), (pp. 85-97): IARC press.
- Chan, K. C., Hung, E. C., Woo, J. K., Chan, P. K., Leung, S. F., Lai, F. P., . . . Lo, Y. M. (2013). Early detection of nasopharyngeal carcinoma by plasma Epstein-Barr virus DNA analysis in a surveillance program. *Cancer*, 119(10), 1838-1844.
- Chang, E. T., & Adami, H. O. (2006). The enigmatic epidemiology of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 15(10), 1765-1777.
- Chang, M. S., Kim, D. H., Roh, J. K., Middeldorp, J. M., Kim, Y. S., Kim, S., . . . Woo, J. H. (2013). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded BARF1 promotes proliferation of gastric carcinoma cells through regulation of NF-kappaB. J Virol, 87(19), 10515-10523.
- Cheifetz, S., Andres, J. L., & Massague, J. (1988). The transforming growth factor-beta receptor type III is a membrane proteoglycan. Domain structure of the receptor. *J Biol Chem*, *263*(32), 16984-16991.
- Chen, C. C., Liu, H. P., Chao, M., Liang, Y., Tsang, N. M., Huang, H. Y., . . . Chang, Y. S. (2014). NF-kappaB-mediated transcriptional upregulation of TNFAIP2 by the Epstein-Barr virus oncoprotein, LMP1, promotes cell motility in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Oncogene*, 33(28), 3648-3659.

- Chen, C. L., Wen, W. N., Chen, J. Y., Hsu, M. M., & Hsu, H. C. (1993). Detection of Epstein-Barr virus genome in nasopharyngeal carcinoma by in situ DNA hybridization. *Intervirology*, *36*(2), 91-98.
- Chen, C. R., Kang, Y., & Massague, J. (2001). Defective repression of c-myc in breast cancer cells: A loss at the core of the transforming growth factor beta growth arrest program. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *98*(3), 992-999.
- Chen, D. L., & Huang, T. B. (1997). A case-control study of risk factors of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Lett*, 117(1), 17-22.
- Chen, J. L., Huang, Y. S., Kuo, S. H., Hong, R. L., Ko, J. Y., Lou, P. J., & Wang, C. W. (2016). Intensity-modulated radiation therapy achieves better local control compared to three-dimensional conformal radiation therapy for T4-stage nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Oncotarget*.
- Chen, J., Sathiyamoorthy, K., Zhang, X., Schaller, S., Perez White, B. E., Jardetzky, T. S., & Longnecker, R. (2018). Ephrin receptor A2 is a functional entry receptor for Epstein-Barr virus. *Nat Microbiol.*
- Chen, S. J., Chen, G. H., Chen, Y. H., Liu, C. Y., Chang, K. P., Chang, Y. S., & Chen, H. C. (2010). Characterization of Epstein-Barr virus miRNAome in nasopharyngeal carcinoma by deep sequencing. *PLoS One*, 5(9).
- Chen, X., Shi, J., Zhong, J., Huang, Z., Luo, X., Huang, Y., . . . Liu, D. (2015a). miR-1, regulated by LMP1, suppresses tumour growth and metastasis by targeting K-ras in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Int J Exp Pathol*, *96*(6), 427-432.
- Chen, X., Weisberg, E., Fridmacher, V., Watanabe, M., Naco, G., & Whitman, M. (1997). Smad4 and FAST-1 in the assembly of activin-responsive factor. *Nature*, *389*(6646), 85-89.
- Chen, Y., Sun, Y., Liang, S. B., Zong, J. F., Li, W. F., Chen, M., . . . Ma, J. (2013). Progress report of a randomized trial comparing long-term survival and late toxicity of concurrent chemoradiotherapy with adjuvant chemotherapy versus radiotherapy alone in patients with stage III to IVB nasopharyngeal carcinoma from endemic regions of China. *Cancer*, 119(12), 2230-2238.
- Chen, Y., Zhao, W., Lin, L., Xiao, X., Zhou, X., Ming, H., . . . Zhang, Z. (2015b). Nasopharyngeal Epstein-Barr Virus Load: An Efficient Supplementary Method for Population-Based Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma Screening. *PLoS One*, 10(7), e0132669.
- Cheng, Y., Stanbridge, E. J., Kong, H., Bengtsson, U., Lerman, M. I., & Lung, M. L. (2000). A functional investigation of tumor suppressor gene activities in a nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell line HONE1 using a monochromosome transfer approach. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*, 28(1), 82-91.
- Chesnokova, L. S., & Hutt-Fletcher, L. M. (2011). Fusion of Epstein-Barr virus with epithelial cells can be triggered by alphavbeta5 in addition to alphavbeta6 and

alphavbeta8, and integrin binding triggers a conformational change in glycoproteins gHgL. *J Virol*, 85(24), 13214-13223.

- Chesnokova, L. S., Nishimura, S. L., & Hutt-Fletcher, L. M. (2009). Fusion of epithelial cells by Epstein-Barr virus proteins is triggered by binding of viral glycoproteins gHgL to integrins alphavbeta6 or alphavbeta8. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *106*(48), 20464-20469.
- Cheung, A. K., Lung, H. L., Ko, J. M., Cheng, Y., Stanbridge, E. J., Zabarovsky, E. R., . . Lung, M. L. (2009). Chromosome 14 transfer and functional studies identify a candidate tumor suppressor gene, mirror image polydactyly 1, in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(34), 14478-14483.
- Cheung, S. T., Leung, S. F., Lo, K. W., Chiu, K. W., Tam, J. S., Fok, T. F., . . . Huang, D. P. (1998). Specific latent membrane protein 1 gene sequences in type 1 and type 2 Epstein-Barr virus from nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Hong Kong. *Int J Cancer*, 76(3), 399-406.
- Cheung, S. T., Lo, K. W., Leung, S. F., Chan, W. Y., Choi, P. H., Johnson, P. J., ... Huang, D. P. (1996). Prevalence of LMP1 deletion variant of Epstein-Barr virus in nasopharyngeal carcinoma and gastric tumors in Hong Kong. *Int J Cancer*, 66(5), 711-712.
- Childs, C. B., Proper, J. A., Tucker, R. F., & Moses, H. L. (1982). Serum contains a platelet-derived transforming growth factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 79(17), 5312-5316.
- Cho, E. Y., Hildesheim, A., Chen, C. J., Hsu, M. M., Chen, I. H., Mittl, B. F., ... Yang, C. S. (2003). Nasopharyngeal carcinoma and genetic polymorphisms of DNA repair enzymes XRCC1 and hOGG1. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 12(10), 1100-1104.
- Cho, H. R., Hong, S. B., Kim, Y. I., Lee, J. W., & Kim, N. I. (2004). Differential expression of TGF-beta isoforms during differentiation of HaCaT human keratinocyte cells: implication for the separate role in epidermal differentiation. *J Korean Med Sci*, 19(6), 853-858.
- Chou, S. C., Azuma, Y., Varia, M. A., & Raleigh, J. A. (2004). Evidence that involucrin, a marker for differentiation, is oxygen regulated in human squamous cell carcinomas. *Br J Cancer*, *90*(3), 728-735.
- Choy, E. Y., Siu, K. L., Kok, K. H., Lung, R. W., Tsang, C. M., To, K. F., ... Jin, D. Y. (2008). An Epstein-Barr virus-encoded microRNA targets PUMA to promote host cell survival. *J Exp Med*, 205(11), 2551-2560.
- Chung, G. T., Lung, R. W., Hui, A. B., Yip, K. Y., Woo, J. K., Chow, C., . . . Lo, K. W. (2013). Identification of a recurrent transforming UBR5-ZNF423 fusion gene in EBV-associated nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *J Pathol*, 231(2), 158-167.
- Cipriano, R., Kan, C. E., Graham, J., Danielpour, D., Stampfer, M., & Jackson, M. W. (2011). TGF-beta signaling engages an ATM-CHK2-p53-independent RAS-

induced senescence and prevents malignant transformation in human mammary epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *108*(21), 8668-8673.

- Claassen, G. F., & Hann, S. R. (2000). A role for transcriptional repression of p21CIP1 by c-Myc in overcoming transforming growth factor beta -induced cell-cycle arrest. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *97*(17), 9498-9503.
- Cochet, C., Martel-Renoir, D., Grunewald, V., Bosq, J., Cochet, G., Schwaab, G., . . . Joab, I. (1993). Expression of the Epstein-Barr virus immediate early gene, BZLF1, in nasopharyngeal carcinoma tumor cells. *Virology*, 197(1), 358-365.
- Cong, L., Ran, F. A., Cox, D., Lin, S., Barretto, R., Habib, N., . . . Zhang, F. (2013). Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. *Science*, 339(6121), 819-823.
- Countryman, J., Gradoville, L., Bhaduri-McIntosh, S., Ye, J., Heston, L., Himmelfarb, S., . . Miller, G. (2009). Stimulus duration and response time independently influence the kinetics of lytic cycle reactivation of Epstein-Barr virus. *J Virol*, 83(20), 10694-10709.
- Cui, Q., Feng, Q. S., Mo, H. Y., Sun, J., Xia, Y. F., Zhang, H., . . . Bei, J. X. (2016a). An extended genome-wide association study identifies novel susceptibility loci for nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Hum Mol Genet*.
- Cui, Q., Zuo, X. Y., Lian, Y. F., Feng, Q. S., Xia, Y. F., He, C. Y., . . . Bei, J. X. (2016b). Association between XRCC3 Thr241Met polymorphism and nasopharyngeal carcinoma risk: evidence from a large-scale case-control study and a meta-analysis. *Tumour Biol*.
- Dai, W., Zheng, H., Cheung, A. K., & Lung, M. L. (2016a). Genetic and epigenetic landscape of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Chin Clin Oncol*, 5(2), 16.
- Dai, W., Zheng, H., Cheung, A. K., Tang, C. S., Ko, J. M., Wong, B. W., ... Lung, M. L. (2016b). Whole-exome sequencing identifies MST1R as a genetic susceptibility gene in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 113(12), 3317-3322.
- Daibata, M., Humphreys, R. E., Takada, K., & Sairenji, T. (1990). Activation of latent EBV via anti-IgG-triggered, second messenger pathways in the Burkitt's lymphoma cell line Akata. *J Immunol*, *144*(12), 4788-4793.
- Dalal, B. I., Keown, P. A., & Greenberg, A. H. (1993). Immunocytochemical localization of secreted transforming growth factor-beta 1 to the advancing edges of primary tumors and to lymph node metastases of human mammary carcinoma. *Am J Pathol*, 143(2), 381-389.
- Dambaugh, T., Hennessy, K., Chamnankit, L., & Kieff, E. (1984). U2 region of Epstein-Barr virus DNA may encode Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen 2. *Proc Natl* Acad Sci US A, 81(23), 7632-7636.

- Dave, N., Guaita-Esteruelas, S., Gutarra, S., Frias, A., Beltran, M., Peiro, S., & de Herreros, A. G. (2011). Functional cooperation between Snail1 and twist in the regulation of ZEB1 expression during epithelial to mesenchymal transition. J Biol Chem, 286(14), 12024-12032.
- Dawson, C. W., Port, R. J., & Young, L. S. (2012). The role of the EBV-encoded latent membrane proteins LMP1 and LMP2 in the pathogenesis of nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC). *Semin Cancer Biol*, 22(2), 144-153.
- de Jesus, O., Smith, P. R., Spender, L. C., Elgueta Karstegl, C., Niller, H. H., Huang, D., & Farrell, P. J. (2003). Updated Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) DNA sequence and analysis of a promoter for the BART (CST, BARF0) RNAs of EBV. J Gen Virol, 84(Pt 6), 1443-1450.
- Deb Pal, A., & Banerjee, S. (2015). Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 2A mediated activation of Sonic Hedgehog pathway induces HLA class Ia downregulation in gastric cancer cells. *Virology*, 484, 22-32.
- Dennler, S., Itoh, S., Vivien, D., ten Dijke, P., Huet, S., & Gauthier, J. M. (1998). Direct binding of Smad3 and Smad4 to critical TGF beta-inducible elements in the promoter of human plasminogen activator inhibitor-type 1 gene. *EMBO J*, *17*(11), 3091-3100.
- Derynck, R., & Akhurst, R. J. (2007). Differentiation plasticity regulated by TGF-beta family proteins in development and disease. *Nat Cell Biol*, 9(9), 1000-1004.
- Derynck, R., Akhurst, R. J., & Balmain, A. (2001). TGF-beta signaling in tumor suppression and cancer progression. *Nat Genet*, 29(2), 117-129.
- Derynck, R., & Feng, X. H. (1997). TGF-beta receptor signaling. *Biochim Biophys* Acta, 1333(2), F105-150.
- Derynck, R., Jarrett, J. A., Chen, E. Y., Eaton, D. H., Bell, J. R., Assoian, R. K., ... Goeddel, D. V. (1985). Human transforming growth factor-beta complementary DNA sequence and expression in normal and transformed cells. *Nature*, 316(6030), 701-705.
- Derynck, R., Lindquist, P. B., Lee, A., Wen, D., Tamm, J., Graycar, J. L., . . . et al. (1988). A new type of transforming growth factor-beta, TGF-beta 3. *EMBO J*, 7(12), 3737-3743.
- Derynck, R., & Zhang, Y. E. (2003). Smad-dependent and Smad-independent pathways in TGF-beta family signalling. *Nature*, 425(6958), 577-584.
- Descargues, P., Sil, A. K., Sano, Y., Korchynskyi, O., Han, G., Owens, P., . . . Karin, M. (2008). IKKalpha is a critical coregulator of a Smad4-independent TGFbeta-Smad2/3 signaling pathway that controls keratinocyte differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105(7), 2487-2492.

- Devi, B. C., Pisani, P., Tang, T. S., & Parkin, D. M. (2004). High incidence of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in native people of Sarawak, Borneo Island. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 13(3), 482-486.
- Dimri, G. P., Lee, X., Basile, G., Acosta, M., Scott, G., Roskelley, C., . . . et al. (1995). A biomarker that identifies senescent human cells in culture and in aging skin in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 92(20), 9363-9367.
- Dittmer, D. P., Hilscher, C. J., Gulley, M. L., Yang, E. V., Chen, M., & Glaser, R. (2008). Multiple pathways for Epstein-Barr virus episome loss from nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Int J Cancer*, 123(9), 2105-2112.
- Dolan, A., Addison, C., Gatherer, D., Davison, A. J., & McGeoch, D. J. (2006). The genome of Epstein-Barr virus type 2 strain AG876. *Virology*, *350*(1), 164-170.
- Dolken, L., Malterer, G., Erhard, F., Kothe, S., Friedel, C. C., Suffert, G., . . . Haas, J. (2010). Systematic analysis of viral and cellular microRNA targets in cells latently infected with human gamma-herpesviruses by RISC immunoprecipitation assay. *Cell Host Microbe*, 7(4), 324-334.
- Dong, Y., Tang, L., Letterio, J. J., & Benveniste, E. N. (2001). The Smad3 protein is involved in TGF-beta inhibition of class II transactivator and class II MHC expression. *J Immunol*, 167(1), 311-319.
- Dubois, C. M., Laprise, M. H., Blanchette, F., Gentry, L. E., & Leduc, R. (1995). Processing of transforming growth factor beta 1 precursor by human furin convertase. *J Biol Chem*, 270(18), 10618-10624.
- Dumont, N., Bakin, A. V., & Arteaga, C. L. (2003). Autocrine transforming growth factor-beta signaling mediates Smad-independent motility in human cancer cells. *J Biol Chem*, 278(5), 3275-3285.
- Ebisawa, T., Fukuchi, M., Murakami, G., Chiba, T., Tanaka, K., Imamura, T., & Miyazono, K. (2001). Smurf1 interacts with transforming growth factor-beta type I receptor through Smad7 and induces receptor degradation. *J Biol Chem*, 276(16), 12477-12480.
- Ebner, R., Chen, R. H., Shum, L., Lawler, S., Zioncheck, T. F., Lee, A., . . . Derynck, R. (1993). Cloning of a type I TGF-beta receptor and its effect on TGF-beta binding to the type II receptor. *Science*, *260*(5112), 1344-1348.
- Ekburanawat, W., Ekpanyaskul, C., Brennan, P., Kanka, C., Tepsuwan, K., Temiyastith, S., . . . Sangrajrang, S. (2010). Evaluation of non-viral risk factors for nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Thailand: results from a case-control study. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 11*(4), 929-932.
- Eliopoulos, A. G., Stack, M., Dawson, C. W., Kaye, K. M., Hodgkin, L., Sihota, S., ... Young, L. S. (1997). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded LMP1 and CD40 mediate IL-6 production in epithelial cells via an NF-kappaB pathway involving TNF receptor-associated factors. *Oncogene*, 14(24), 2899-2916.

- Epstein, M. A., Achong, B. G., & Barr, Y. M. (1964). Virus Particles in Cultured Lymphoblasts from Burkitt's Lymphoma. *Lancet*, 1(7335), 702-703.
- Ersing, I., Nobre, L., Wang, L. W., Soday, L., Ma, Y., Paulo, J. A., . . . Gewurz, B. E. (2017). A Temporal Proteomic Map of Epstein-Barr Virus Lytic Replication in B Cells. *Cell Rep*, 19(7), 1479-1493.
- Evans, A. S., Niederman, J. C., & McCollum, R. W. (1968). Seroepidemiologic studies of infectious mononucleosis with EB virus. *N Engl J Med*, 279(21), 1121-1127.
- Ewen, M. E., Sluss, H. K., Sherr, C. J., Matsushime, H., Kato, J., & Livingston, D. M. (1993a). Functional interactions of the retinoblastoma protein with mammalian D-type cyclins. *Cell*, 73(3), 487-497.
- Ewen, M. E., Sluss, H. K., Whitehouse, L. L., & Livingston, D. M. (1993b). TGF beta inhibition of Cdk4 synthesis is linked to cell cycle arrest. *Cell*, 74(6), 1009-1020.
- Fahmi, H., Cochet, C., Hmama, Z., Opolon, P., & Joab, I. (2000). Transforming growth factor beta 1 stimulates expression of the Epstein-Barr virus BZLF1 immediateearly gene product ZEBRA by an indirect mechanism which requires the MAPK kinase pathway. *J Virol*, 74(13), 5810-5818.
- Fan, Q., Qiu, M. T., Zhu, Z., Zhou, J. H., Chen, L., Zhou, Y., ... Bao, W. (2015). Twist induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cervical carcinogenesis by regulating the TGF-beta/Smad3 signaling pathway. Oncol Rep. 34(4), 1787-1794.
- Fang, S., Pentinmikko, N., Ilmonen, M., & Salven, P. (2012). Dual action of TGF-beta induces vascular growth in vivo through recruitment of angiogenic VEGFproducing hematopoietic effector cells. *Angiogenesis*, 15(3), 511-519.
- Fang, W., Li, X., Jiang, Q., Liu, Z., Yang, H., Wang, S., . . . Yao, K. (2008). Transcriptional patterns, biomarkers and pathways characterizing nasopharyngeal carcinoma of Southern China. *J Transl Med*, 6, 32.
- Feng, X. H., Lin, X., & Derynck, R. (2000). Smad2, Smad3 and Smad4 cooperate with Sp1 to induce p15(Ink4B) transcription in response to TGF-beta. *EMBO J*, 19(19), 5178-5193.
- Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Dikshit, R., Eser, S., Mathers, C., Rebelo, M., . . . Bray, F. (2015). Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *Int J Cancer*, 136(5), E359-386.
- Fils-Aime, N., Dai, M., Guo, J., El-Mousawi, M., Kahramangil, B., Neel, J. C., & Lebrun, J. J. (2013). MicroRNA-584 and the protein phosphatase and actin regulator 1 (PHACTR1), a new signaling route through which transforming growth factor-beta Mediates the migration and actin dynamics of breast cancer cells. *J Biol Chem*, 288(17), 11807-11823.

- Fischer, A. N., Fuchs, E., Mikula, M., Huber, H., Beug, H., & Mikulits, W. (2007). PDGF essentially links TGF-beta signaling to nuclear beta-catenin accumulation in hepatocellular carcinoma progression. *Oncogene*, 26(23), 3395-3405.
- Franzen, P., ten Dijke, P., Ichijo, H., Yamashita, H., Schulz, P., Heldin, C. H., & Miyazono, K. (1993). Cloning of a TGF beta type I receptor that forms a heteromeric complex with the TGF beta type II receptor. *Cell*, 75(4), 681-692.
- Friedman, E., Gold, L. I., Klimstra, D., Zeng, Z. S., Winawer, S., & Cohen, A. (1995). High levels of transforming growth factor beta 1 correlate with disease progression in human colon cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 4(5), 549-554.
- Frippiat, C., Chen, Q. M., Zdanov, S., Magalhaes, J. P., Remacle, J., & Toussaint, O. (2001). Subcytotoxic H2O2 stress triggers a release of transforming growth factor-beta 1, which induces biomarkers of cellular senescence of human diploid fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem*, 276(4), 2531-2537.
- Fukuda, M., Ikuta, K., Yanagihara, K., Tajima, M., Kuratsune, H., Kurata, T., & Sairenji, T. (2001). Effect of transforming growth factor-beta1 on the cell growth and Epstein-Barr virus reactivation in EBV-infected epithelial cell lines. *Virology*, 288(1), 109-118.
- Fukuda, M., Kurosaki, H., & Sairenji, T. (2006). Loss of functional transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta type II receptor results in insensitivity to TGF-beta1mediated apoptosis and Epstein-Barr virus reactivation. J Med Virol, 78(11), 1456-1464.
- Fukuda, M., & Longnecker, R. (2007). Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 2A mediates transformation through constitutive activation of the Ras/PI3-K/Akt Pathway. J Virol, 81(17), 9299-9306.
- Fukushima, T., Mashiko, M., Takita, K., Otake, T., Endo, Y., Sekikawa, K., & Takenoshita, S. (2003). Mutational analysis of TGF-beta type II receptor, Smad2, Smad3, Smad4, Smad6 and Smad7 genes in colorectal cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 22(2), 315-320.
- Galliher, A. J., & Schiemann, W. P. (2007). Src phosphorylates Tyr284 in TGF-beta type II receptor and regulates TGF-beta stimulation of p38 MAPK during breast cancer cell proliferation and invasion. *Cancer Res, 67*(8), 3752-3758.
- Gartel, A. L., & Shchors, K. (2003). Mechanisms of c-myc-mediated transcriptional repression of growth arrest genes. *Exp Cell Res, 283*(1), 17-21.
- Geiser, A. G., Letterio, J. J., Kulkarni, A. B., Karlsson, S., Roberts, A. B., & Sporn, M. B. (1993). Transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF-beta 1) controls expression of major histocompatibility genes in the postnatal mouse: aberrant histocompatibility antigen expression in the pathogenesis of the TGF-beta 1 null mouse phenotype. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90(21), 9944-9948.

- Geissmann, F., Revy, P., Regnault, A., Lepelletier, Y., Dy, M., Brousse, N., . . . Durandy, A. (1999). TGF-beta 1 prevents the noncognate maturation of human dendritic Langerhans cells. *J Immunol*, *162*(8), 4567-4575.
- Geng, Y., Eaton, E. N., Picon, M., Roberts, J. M., Lundberg, A. S., Gifford, A., . . . Weinberg, R. A. (1996). Regulation of cyclin E transcription by E2Fs and retinoblastoma protein. *Oncogene*, *12*(6), 1173-1180.
- Gentry, L. E., Lioubin, M. N., Purchio, A. F., & Marquardt, H. (1988). Molecular events in the processing of recombinant type 1 pre-pro-transforming growth factor beta to the mature polypeptide. *Mol Cell Biol*, 8(10), 4162-4168.
- Gentry, L. E., & Nash, B. W. (1990). The pro domain of pre-pro-transforming growth factor beta 1 when independently expressed is a functional binding protein for the mature growth factor. *Biochemistry*, 29(29), 6851-6857.
- Giannelli, G., Fransvea, E., Marinosci, F., Bergamini, C., Colucci, S., Schiraldi, O., & Antonaci, S. (2002). Transforming growth factor-beta1 triggers hepatocellular carcinoma invasiveness via alpha3beta1 integrin. *Am J Pathol, 161*(1), 183-193.
- Goldsmith, D. B., West, T. M., & Morton, R. (2002). HLA associations with nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Southern Chinese: a meta-analysis. *Clin Otolaryngol Allied Sci*, 27(1), 61-67.
- Gorsch, S. M., Memoli, V. A., Stukel, T. A., Gold, L. I., & Arrick, B. A. (1992). Immunohistochemical staining for transforming growth factor beta 1 associates with disease progression in human breast cancer. *Cancer Res*, 52(24), 6949-6952.
- Gou, X. M., Chen, Y., Chen, X. Y., & Arrand, J. R. (2003). [Effects of Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 1(EBV-LMP1) on related factors of metastasis of nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell line CNE1]. *Ai Zheng*, 22(5), 481-485.
- Grady, W. M., Myeroff, L. L., Swinler, S. E., Rajput, A., Thiagalingam, S., Lutterbaugh, J. D., . . . Markowitz, S. (1999). Mutational inactivation of transforming growth factor beta receptor type II in microsatellite stable colon cancers. *Cancer Res*, 59(2), 320-324.
- Gregory, P. A., Bert, A. G., Paterson, E. L., Barry, S. C., Tsykin, A., Farshid, G., . . . Goodall, G. J. (2008). The miR-200 family and miR-205 regulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition by targeting ZEB1 and SIP1. *Nat Cell Biol*, 10(5), 593-601.
- Gregory, P. A., Bracken, C. P., Smith, E., Bert, A. G., Wright, J. A., Roslan, S., . . . Goodall, G. J. (2011). An autocrine TGF-beta/ZEB/miR-200 signaling network regulates establishment and maintenance of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Mol Biol Cell*, 22(10), 1686-1698.
- Gruijl, D. F. R., van Kranen, H. J., & Mullenders, L. H. (2001). UV-induced DNA damage, repair, mutations and oncogenic pathways in skin cancer. *J Photochem Photobiol B*, 63(1-3), 19-27.

- Guerrero, Paola A., & McCarty, Joseph H. (2017). TGF-β Activation and Signaling in Angiogenesis. In D. Simionescu & A. Simionescu (Eds.), *Physiologic and Pathologic Angiogenesis - Signaling Mechanisms and Targeted Therapy* (pp. Ch. 01). Rijeka: InTech.
- Gulley, M. L., Amin, M. B., Nicholls, J. M., Banks, P. M., Ayala, A. G., Srigley, J. R., . . . Ro, J. Y. (1995). Epstein-Barr virus is detected in undifferentiated nasopharyngeal carcinoma but not in lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma of the urinary bladder. *Hum Pathol*, 26(11), 1207-1214.
- Guo, L., Tang, M., Yang, L., Xiao, L., Bode, A. M., Li, L., ... Cao, Y. (2012). Epstein-Barr virus oncoprotein LMP1 mediates survivin upregulation by p53 contributing to G1/S cell cycle progression in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Int J Mol Med*, 29(4), 574-580.
- Guo, X. G., & Xia, Y. (2013). The Interleukin-18 promoter -607C>A polymorphism contributes to nasopharyngeal carcinoma risk: evidence from a meta-analysis including 1,886 subjects. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 14(12), 7577-7581.
- Hagimoto, N., Kuwano, K., Inoshima, I., Yoshimi, M., Nakamura, N., Fujita, M., . . . Hara, N. (2002). TGF-beta 1 as an enhancer of Fas-mediated apoptosis of lung epithelial cells. *J Immunol*, *168*(12), 6470-6478.
- Hahn, S. A., Schutte, M., Hoque, A. T., Moskaluk, C. A., da Costa, L. T., Rozenblum, E., . . . Kern, S. E. (1996). DPC4, a candidate tumor suppressor gene at human chromosome 18q21.1. *Science*, 271(5247), 350-353.
- Han, G., Lu, S. L., Li, A. G., He, W., Corless, C. L., Kulesz-Martin, M., & Wang, X. J. (2005). Distinct mechanisms of TGF-beta1-mediated epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and metastasis during skin carcinogenesis. *J Clin Invest*, 115(7), 1714-1723.
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. Cell, 100(1), 57-70.
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell*, 144(5), 646-674.
- Hang, Z. B., Wei, Y. Q., Wang, Y. P., & Xu, N. R. (1991). Direct ultrastructural evidence of lymphocyte-mediated cancer cell lysis in the microenvironment of Chinese nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Hum Pathol*, 22(4), 320-325.
- Hansen, T. H., & Bouvier, M. (2009). MHC class I antigen presentation: learning from viral evasion strategies. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 9(7), 503-513.
- Hanyu, A., Ishidou, Y., Ebisawa, T., Shimanuki, T., Imamura, T., & Miyazono, K. (2001). The N domain of Smad7 is essential for specific inhibition of transforming growth factor-beta signaling. *J Cell Biol*, 155(6), 1017-1027.
- Harn, H. J., Fan, H. C., Chen, C. J., Tsai, N. M., Yen, C. Y., & Huang, S. C. (2002). Microsatellite alteration at chromosome 11 in primary human nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Taiwan. *Oral Oncol, 38*(1), 23-29.

- Harper, J. W., Adami, G. R., Wei, N., Keyomarsi, K., & Elledge, S. J. (1993). The p21 Cdk-interacting protein Cip1 is a potent inhibitor of G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. *Cell*, 75(4), 805-816.
- Havrilesky, L. J., Hurteau, J. A., Whitaker, R. S., Elbendary, A., Wu, S., Rodriguez, G. C., . . . Berchuck, A. (1995). Regulation of apoptosis in normal and malignant ovarian epithelial cells by transforming growth factor beta. *Cancer Res*, 55(4), 944-948.
- Hawinkels, L. J., Verspaget, H. W., van Duijn, W., van der Zon, J. M., Zuidwijk, K., Kubben, F. J., . . Sier, C. F. (2007). Tissue level, activation and cellular localisation of TGF-beta1 and association with survival in gastric cancer patients. *Br J Cancer*, 97(3), 398-404.
- Hayashi, H., Abdollah, S., Qiu, Y., Cai, J., Xu, Y. Y., Grinnell, B. W., . . . Falb, D. (1997). The MAD-related protein Smad7 associates with the TGFbeta receptor and functions as an antagonist of TGFbeta signaling. *Cell*, 89(7), 1165-1173.
- He, J. F., Jia, W. H., Fan, Q., Zhou, X. X., Qin, H. D., Shugart, Y. Y., & Zeng, Y. X. (2007). Genetic polymorphisms of TLR3 are associated with Nasopharyngeal carcinoma risk in Cantonese population. *BMC Cancer*, 7, 194.
- He, J., Tang, F., Liu, L., Chen, L., Li, J., Ou, D., . . . Sun, L. Q. (2017). Positive regulation of TAZ expression by EBV-LMP1 contributes to cell proliferation and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Oncotarget*, 8(32), 52333-52344.
- Hejmadi, M. . (2010). Introduction to cancer biology (2 ed.).
- Heldin, C. H., Miyazono, K., & ten Dijke, P. (1997). TGF-beta signalling from cell membrane to nucleus through SMAD proteins. *Nature*, *390*(6659), 465-471.
- Heldin, C. H., Vanlandewijck, M., & Moustakas, A. (2012). Regulation of EMT by TGFbeta in cancer. *FEBS Lett*, 586(14), 1959-1970.
- Herait, P., Ganem, G., Lipinski, M., Carlu, C., Micheau, C., Schwaab, G., . . . Tursz, T. (1987). Lymphocyte subsets in tumour of patients with undifferentiated nasopharyngeal carcinoma: presence of lymphocytes with the phenotype of activated T cells. *Br J Cancer*, *55*(2), 135-139.
- Hildesheim, A., Anderson, L. M., Chen, C. J., Cheng, Y. J., Brinton, L. A., Daly, A. K., . . . Chhabra, S. K. (1997). CYP2E1 genetic polymorphisms and risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Taiwan. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 89(16), 1207-1212.
- Hildesheim, A., Dosemeci, M., Chan, C. C., Chen, C. J., Cheng, Y. J., Hsu, M. M., ... Yang, C. S. (2001). Occupational exposure to wood, formaldehyde, and solvents and risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 10(11), 1145-1153.
- Hildesheim, A., & Wang, C. P. (2012). Genetic predisposition factors and nasopharyngeal carcinoma risk: a review of epidemiological association studies,

2000-2011: Rosetta Stone for NPC: genetics, viral infection, and other environmental factors. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 22(2), 107-116.

- Hoebe, E. K., Le Large, T. Y., Tarbouriech, N., Oosterhoff, D., De Gruijl, T. D., Middeldorp, J. M., & Greijer, A. E. (2012). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded BARF1 protein is a decoy receptor for macrophage colony stimulating factor and interferes with macrophage differentiation and activation. *Viral Immunol*, 25(6), 461-470.
- Hsing, A. Y., Kadomatsu, K., Bonham, M. J., & Danielpour, D. (1996). Regulation of apoptosis induced by transforming growth factor-beta1 in nontumorigenic rat prostatic epithelial cell lines. *Cancer Res*, 56(22), 5146-5149.
- Hsu, C. Y., Yi, Y. H., Chang, K. P., Chang, Y. S., Chen, S. J., & Chen, H. C. (2014). The Epstein-Barr virus-encoded microRNA MiR-BART9 promotes tumor metastasis by targeting E-cadherin in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *PLoS Pathog*, 10(2), e1003974.
- Hsu, W. L., Chen, J. Y., Chien, Y. C., Liu, M. Y., You, S. L., Hsu, M. M., . . . Chen, C. J. (2009). Independent effect of EBV and cigarette smoking on nasopharyngeal carcinoma: a 20-year follow-up study on 9,622 males without family history in Taiwan. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 18(4), 1218-1226.
- Hsu, W. L., Yu, K. J., Chien, Y. C., Chiang, C. J., Cheng, Y. J., Chen, J. Y., . . . Chen, C. J. (2011). Familial tendency and risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in taiwan: effects of covariates on risk. *Am J Epidemiol*, 173(3), 292-299.
- Hu, L. F., Chen, F., Zheng, X., Ernberg, I., Cao, S. L., Christensson, B., . . . Winberg, G. (1993). Clonability and tumorigenicity of human epithelial cells expressing the EBV encoded membrane protein LMP1. *Oncogene*, 8(6), 1575-1583.
- Hu, L. F., Zabarovsky, E. R., Chen, F., Cao, S. L., Ernberg, I., Klein, G., & Winberg, G. (1991). Isolation and sequencing of the Epstein-Barr virus BNLF-1 gene (LMP1) from a Chinese nasopharyngeal carcinoma. J Gen Virol, 72 (Pt 10), 2399-2409.
- Huang, G. L., Chen, M. L., Li, Y. Z., Lu, Y., Pu, X. X., He, Y. X., . . . He, Z. (2014). Association of miR-146a gene polymorphism with risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in the central-southern Chinese population. *J Hum Genet*, *59*(3), 141-144.
- Huang, J., Gan, Q., Han, L., Li, J., Zhang, H., Sun, Y., . . . Tong, T. (2008). SIRT1 overexpression antagonizes cellular senescence with activated ERK/S6k1 signaling in human diploid fibroblasts. *PLoS One*, *3*(3), e1710.
- Hui, A. B., Lo, K. W., Teo, P. M., To, K. F., & Huang, D. P. (2002). Genome wide detection of oncogene amplifications in nasopharyngeal carcinoma by array based comparative genomic hybridization. *Int J Oncol*, 20(3), 467-473.
- Hui, A. B., Or, Y. Y., Takano, H., Tsang, R. K., To, K. F., Guan, X. Y., . . . Lo, K. W. (2005). Array-based comparative genomic hybridization analysis identified

cyclin D1 as a target oncogene at 11q13.3 in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Res,* 65(18), 8125-8133.

- Hume, A. J., & Kalejta, R. F. (2009). Regulation of the retinoblastoma proteins by the human herpesviruses. *Cell Div*, *4*, 1.
- Huntley, S. P., Davies, M., Matthews, J. B., Thomas, G., Marshall, J., Robinson, C. M., . . . Prime, S. S. (2004). Attenuated type II TGF-beta receptor signalling in human malignant oral keratinocytes induces a less differentiated and more aggressive phenotype that is associated with metastatic dissemination. *Int J Cancer*, 110(2), 170-176.
- Hutajulu, S. H., Kurnianda, J., Tan, I. B., & Middeldorp, J. M. (2014). Therapeutic implications of Epstein-Barr virus infection for the treatment of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Ther Clin Risk Manag*, *10*, 721-736.
- Iglesias, M., Frontelo, P., Gamallo, C., & Quintanilla, M. (2000). Blockade of Smad4 in transformed keratinocytes containing a Ras oncogene leads to hyperactivation of the Ras-dependent Erk signalling pathway associated with progression to undifferentiated carcinomas. *Oncogene*, *19*(36), 4134-4145.
- Iizasa, H., Wulff, B. E., Alla, N. R., Maragkakis, M., Megraw, M., Hatzigeorgiou, A., . . Nishikura, K. (2010). Editing of Epstein-Barr virus-encoded BART6 microRNAs controls their dicer targeting and consequently affects viral latency. *J Biol Chem*, 285(43), 33358-33370.
- Imai, S., Nishikawa, J., & Takada, K. (1998). Cell-to-cell contact as an efficient mode of Epstein-Barr virus infection of diverse human epithelial cells. J Virol, 72(5), 4371-4378.
- Inman, G. J., Nicolas, F. J., Callahan, J. F., Harling, J. D., Gaster, L. M., Reith, A. D., . . . Hill, C. S. (2002). SB-431542 is a potent and specific inhibitor of transforming growth factor-beta superfamily type I activin receptor-like kinase (ALK) receptors ALK4, ALK5, and ALK7. *Mol Pharmacol*, 62(1), 65-74.
- Iwakiri, D., Sheen, T. S., Chen, J. Y., Huang, D. P., & Takada, K. (2005). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded small RNA induces insulin-like growth factor 1 and supports growth of nasopharyngeal carcinoma-derived cell lines. *Oncogene*, 24(10), 1767-1773.
- Iwakiri, D., Zhou, L., Samanta, M., Matsumoto, M., Ebihara, T., Seya, T., . . . Takada, K. (2009). Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-encoded small RNA is released from EBVinfected cells and activates signaling from Toll-like receptor 3. J Exp Med, 206(10), 2091-2099.
- Jang, C. W., Chen, C. H., Chen, C. C., Chen, J. Y., Su, Y. H., & Chen, R. H. (2002). TGF-beta induces apoptosis through Smad-mediated expression of DAP-kinase. *Nat Cell Biol*, 4(1), 51-58.

- Ji, X., Zhang, W., Xie, C., Wang, B., Zhang, G., & Zhou, F. (2011). Nasopharyngeal carcinoma risk by histologic type in central China: impact of smoking, alcohol and family history. *Int J Cancer*, 129(3), 724-732.
- Jia, W. H., Feng, B. J., Xu, Z. L., Zhang, X. S., Huang, P., Huang, L. X., . . . Zeng, Y. X. (2004). Familial risk and clustering of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Guangdong, China. *Cancer*, 101(2), 363-369.
- Jia, W. H., Huang, Q. H., Liao, J., Ye, W., Shugart, Y. Y., Liu, Q., . . . Zeng, Y. X. (2006). Trends in incidence and mortality of nasopharyngeal carcinoma over a 20-25 year period (1978/1983-2002) in Sihui and Cangwu counties in southern China. *BMC Cancer*, 6, 178.
- Jia, W. H., Luo, X. Y., Feng, B. J., Ruan, H. L., Bei, J. X., Liu, W. S., . . . Zeng, Y. X. (2010). Traditional Cantonese diet and nasopharyngeal carcinoma risk: a largescale case-control study in Guangdong, China. *BMC Cancer*, 10, 446.
- Jullien, P., Berg, T. M., & Lawrence, D. A. (1989). Acidic cellular environments: activation of latent TGF-beta and sensitization of cellular responses to TGF-beta and EGF. *Int J Cancer*, 43(5), 886-891.
- Kamaraju, A. K., & Roberts, A. B. (2005). Role of Rho/ROCK and p38 MAP kinase pathways in transforming growth factor-beta-mediated Smad-dependent growth inhibition of human breast carcinoma cells in vivo. *J Biol Chem*, 280(2), 1024-1036.
- Kanda, T., Otter, M., & Wahl, G. M. (2001). Coupling of mitotic chromosome tethering and replication competence in epstein-barr virus-based plasmids. *Mol Cell Biol*, 21(10), 3576-3588.
- Kang, Y., Siegel, P. M., Shu, W., Drobnjak, M., Kakonen, S. M., Cordon-Cardo, C., . . . Massague, J. (2003). A multigenic program mediating breast cancer metastasis to bone. *Cancer Cell*, 3(6), 537-549.
- Katakura, Y., Nakata, E., Miura, T., & Shirahata, S. (1999). Transforming growth factor beta triggers two independent-senescence programs in cancer cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 255*(1), 110-115.
- Kavsak, P., Rasmussen, R. K., Causing, C. G., Bonni, S., Zhu, H., Thomsen, G. H., & Wrana, J. L. (2000). Smad7 binds to Smurf2 to form an E3 ubiquitin ligase that targets the TGF beta receptor for degradation. *Mol Cell*, 6(6), 1365-1375.
- Kenney, S. C., & Mertz, J. E. (2014). Regulation of the latent-lytic switch in Epstein-Barr virus. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 26, 60-68.
- Key, T. J., Schatzkin, A., Willett, W. C., Allen, N. E., Spencer, E. A., & Travis, R. C. (2004). Diet, nutrition and the prevention of cancer. *Public Health Nutr*, 7(1A), 187-200.
- Khalil, N. (1999). TGF-beta: from latent to active. *Microbes and Infection, 1*(15), 1255-1263.

- Khoo, AlanSoo-Beng, & Pua, Kin-Choo. (2013). Diagnosis and Clinical Evaluation of Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma. In P. Busson (Ed.), Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma (pp. 1-9): Springer New York.
- Kim, D. H., Chang, M. S., Yoon, C. J., Middeldorp, J. M., Martinez, O. M., Byeon, S. J., . . Woo, J. H. (2016). Epstein-Barr virus BARF1-induced NFkappaB/miR-146a/SMAD4 alterations in stomach cancer cells. *Oncotarget*, 7(50), 82213-82227.
- Kim, S. G., Kim, S. N., Jong, H. S., Kim, N. K., Hong, S. H., Kim, S. J., & Bang, Y. J. (2001). Caspase-mediated Cdk2 activation is a critical step to execute transforming growth factor-beta1-induced apoptosis in human gastric cancer cells. *Oncogene*, 20(10), 1254-1265.
- Kintner, C. R., & Sugden, B. (1979). The structure of the termini of the DNA of Epstein-Barr virus. *Cell*, 17(3), 661-671.
- Klein, G., Sugden, B., Leibold, W., & Menezes, J. (1974). Infection of EBV-genomenegative and -positive human lymphoblastoid cell lines with biologically different preparations of EBV. *Intervirology*, *3*(4), 232-244.
- Knox, P. G., Li, Q. X., Rickinson, A. B., & Young, L. S. (1996). In vitro production of stable Epstein-Barr virus-positive epithelial cell clones which resemble the virus:cell interaction observed in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Virology*, 215(1), 40-50.
- Kolman, J. L., Taylor, N., Gradoville, L., Countryman, J., & Miller, G. (1996). Comparing transcriptional activation and autostimulation by ZEBRA and ZEBRA/c-Fos chimeras. *J Virol*, 70(3), 1493-1504.
- Kong, Q. L., Hu, L. J., Cao, J. Y., Huang, Y. J., Xu, L. H., Liang, Y., . . . Zeng, M. S. (2010). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded LMP2A induces an epithelial-mesenchymal transition and increases the number of side population stem-like cancer cells in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *PLoS Pathog*, 6(6), e1000940.
- Kowanetz, M., Valcourt, U., Bergstrom, R., Heldin, C. H., & Moustakas, A. (2004). Id2 and Id3 define the potency of cell proliferation and differentiation responses to transforming growth factor beta and bone morphogenetic protein. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24(10), 4241-4254.
- Kretschmer, A., Moepert, K., Dames, S., Sternberger, M., Kaufmann, J., & Klippel, A. (2003). Differential regulation of TGF-beta signaling through Smad2, Smad3 and Smad4. *Oncogene*, *22*(43), 6748-6763.
- Kumar, R., Gont, A., Perkins, T. J., Hanson, J. E. L., & Lorimer, I. A. J. (2017). Induction of senescence in primary glioblastoma cells by serum and TGFbeta. *Sci Rep*, 7(1), 2156.
- Kwok, H., Tong, A. H., Lin, C. H., Lok, S., Farrell, P. J., Kwong, D. L., & Chiang, A. K. (2012). Genomic sequencing and comparative analysis of Epstein-Barr virus

genome isolated from primary nasopharyngeal carcinoma biopsy. *PLoS One*, 7(5), e36939.

- Kwok, H., Wu, C. W., Palser, A. L., Kellam, P., Sham, P. C., Kwong, D. L., & Chiang, A. K. (2014). Genomic diversity of Epstein-Barr virus genomes isolated from primary nasopharyngeal carcinoma biopsy samples. J Virol, 88(18), 10662-10672.
- Lai, S. Z., Li, W. F., Chen, L., Luo, W., Chen, Y. Y., Liu, L. Z., ... Ma, J. (2011). How does intensity-modulated radiotherapy versus conventional two-dimensional radiotherapy influence the treatment results in nasopharyngeal carcinoma patients? *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys*, 80(3), 661-668.
- Laichalk, L. L., & Thorley-Lawson, D. A. (2005). Terminal differentiation into plasma cells initiates the replicative cycle of Epstein-Barr virus in vivo. J Virol, 79(2), 1296-1307.
- Laiho, M., DeCaprio, J. A., Ludlow, J. W., Livingston, D. M., & Massague, J. (1990). Growth inhibition by TGF-beta linked to suppression of retinoblastoma protein phosphorylation. *Cell*, 62(1), 175-185.
- Laiho, M., Weis, F. M., Boyd, F. T., Ignotz, R. A., & Massague, J. (1991). Responsiveness to transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) restored by genetic complementation between cells defective in TGF-beta receptors I and II. *J Biol Chem*, 266(14), 9108-9112.
- Le Roux, F., Sergeant, A., & Corbo, L. (1996). Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) EB1/Zta protein provided in trans and competent for the activation of productive cycle genes does not activate the BZLF1 gene in the EBV genome. *J Gen Virol*, 77 (*Pt 3*), 501-509.
- Lear, A. L., Rowe, M., Kurilla, M. G., Lee, S., Henderson, S., Kieff, E., & Rickinson, A. B. (1992). The Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) nuclear antigen 1 BamHI F promoter is activated on entry of EBV-transformed B cells into the lytic cycle. J Virol, 66(12), 7461-7468.
- Lebrun, J. J. (2012). The Dual Role of TGFbeta in Human Cancer: From Tumor Suppression to Cancer Metastasis. *ISRN Mol Biol*, 2012, 381-428.
- Lee, D. C., Chua, D. T., Wei, W. I., Sham, J. S., & Lau, A. S. (2007a). Induction of matrix metalloproteinases by Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 1 isolated from nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 61(9), 520-526.
- Lee, M. K., Pardoux, C., Hall, M. C., Lee, P. S., Warburton, D., Qing, J., . . . Derynck, R. (2007b). TGF-beta activates Erk MAP kinase signalling through direct phosphorylation of ShcA. *EMBO J*, 26(17), 3957-3967.
- Lehmann, K., Janda, E., Pierreux, C. E., Rytomaa, M., Schulze, A., McMahon, M., . . . Downward, J. (2000). Raf induces TGFbeta production while blocking its

apoptotic but not invasive responses: a mechanism leading to increased malignancy in epithelial cells. *Genes Dev, 14*(20), 2610-2622.

- Lei, T., Yuen, K. S., Xu, R., Tsao, S. W., Chen, H., Li, M., . . . Jin, D. Y. (2013). Targeting of DICE1 tumor suppressor by Epstein-Barr virus-encoded miR-BART3* microRNA in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Int J Cancer*, 133(1), 79-87.
- Li, H. M., Man, C., Jin, Y., Deng, W., Yip, Y. L., Feng, H. C., . . . Tsao, S. W. (2006a). Molecular and cytogenetic changes involved in the immortalization of nasopharyngeal epithelial cells by telomerase. *Int J Cancer*, 119(7), 1567-1576.
- Li, H., & Minarovits, J. (2003). Host cell-dependent expression of latent Epstein-Barr virus genomes: regulation by DNA methylation. *Adv Cancer Res, 89*, 133-156.
- Li, P., Yan, H., Zhang, H., Yu, L., Wang, Z., Zhai, Y., . . . Zhou, G. (2014). A functional polymorphism in MIR196A2 is associated with risk and progression of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in the Chinese population. *Genet Test Mol Biomarkers*, 18(3), 149-155.
- Li, W., Ray, R. M., Gao, D. L., Fitzgibbons, E. D., Seixas, N. S., Camp, J. E., ... Checkoway, H. (2006b). Occupational risk factors for nasopharyngeal cancer among female textile workers in Shanghai, China. *Occup Environ Med*, 63(1), 39-44.
- Li, Y. Y., Chung, G. T., Lui, V. W., To, K. F., Ma, B. B., Chow, C., . . . Lo, K. W. (2017). Exome and genome sequencing of nasopharynx cancer identifies NFkappaB pathway activating mutations. *Nat Commun*, *8*, 14121.
- Li, Z. Y., Chen, Z. L., Zhang, T., Wei, C., & Shi, W. Y. (2016). TGF-beta and NFkappaB signaling pathway crosstalk potentiates corneal epithelial senescence through an RNA stress response. *Aging (Albany NY)*, 8(10), 2337-2354.
- Lin, D. C., Meng, X., Hazawa, M., Nagata, Y., Varela, A. M., Xu, L., . . . Koeffler, H. P. (2014a). The genomic landscape of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Nat Genet*, 46(8), 866-871.
- Lin, H. Y., Wang, X. F., Ng-Eaton, E., Weinberg, R. A., & Lodish, H. F. (1992). Expression cloning of the TGF-beta type II receptor, a functional transmembrane serine/threonine kinase. *Cell*, 68(4), 775-785.
- Lin, J. C., & Raab-Traub, N. (1987). Two strains of Epstein-Barr virus (B95-8 and a P3HR-1 subclone) that lack defective genomes induce early antigen and cause abortive infection of Raji cells. *J Virol, 61*(6), 1985-1991.
- Lin, J. H., Jiang, C. Q., Ho, S. Y., Zhang, W. S., Mai, Z. M., Xu, L., . . . Lam, T. H. (2015a). Smoking and nasopharyngeal carcinoma mortality: a cohort study of 101,823 adults in Guangzhou, China. *BMC Cancer*, 15, 906.
- Lin, J. H., Lin, J. Y., Chou, Y. C., Chen, M. R., Yeh, T. H., Lin, C. W., . . . Tsai, C. H. (2015b). Epstein-Barr virus LMP2A suppresses MHC class II expression by

regulating the B-cell transcription factors E47 and PU.1. *Blood*, 125(14), 2228-2238.

- Lin, S., Yang, J., Elkahloun, A. G., Bandyopadhyay, A., Wang, L., Cornell, J. E., ... Sun, L. Z. (2012). Attenuation of TGF-beta signaling suppresses premature senescence in a p21-dependent manner and promotes oncogenic Ras-mediated metastatic transformation in human mammary epithelial cells. *Mol Biol Cell*, 23(8), 1569-1581.
- Lin, Z., Wan, X., Jiang, R., Deng, L., Gao, Y., Tang, J., . . . Chen, Y. (2014b). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded latent membrane protein 2A promotes the epithelialmesenchymal transition in nasopharyngeal carcinoma via metastatic tumor antigen 1 and mechanistic target of rapamycin signaling induction. J Virol, 88(20), 11872-11885.
- Lin, Z., Wang, X., Strong, M. J., Concha, M., Baddoo, M., Xu, G., . . . Flemington, E. K. (2013). Whole-genome sequencing of the Akata and Mutu Epstein-Barr virus strains. *J Virol*, 87(2), 1172-1182.
- Liu, J., Huang, W., Ren, C., Wen, Q., Liu, W., Yang, X., . . . Chen, Y. (2015). Flotillin-2 promotes metastasis of nasopharyngeal carcinoma by activating NF-kappaB and PI3K/Akt3 signaling pathways. *Sci Rep*, 5, 11614.
- Liu, S., Borras, A. M., Liu, P., Suske, G., & Speck, S. H. (1997). Binding of the ubiquitous cellular transcription factors Sp1 and Sp3 to the ZI domains in the Epstein-Barr virus lytic switch BZLF1 gene promoter. *Virology*, 228(1), 11-18.
- Liu, Y. T., Dai, J. J., Xu, C. H., Lu, Y. K., Fan, Y. Y., Zhang, X. L., . . . Chen, Y. M. (2012). Greater intake of fruit and vegetables is associated with lower risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Chinese adults: a case-control study. *Cancer Causes Control*, 23(4), 589-599.
- Lo, A. K., Dawson, C. W., Young, L. S., Ko, C. W., Hau, P. M., & Lo, K. W. (2015). Activation of the FGFR1 signalling pathway by the Epstein-Barr virus-encoded LMP1 promotes aerobic glycolysis and transformation of human nasopharyngeal epithelial cells. J Pathol, 237(2), 238-248.
- Lo, A. K., Huang, D. P., Lo, K. W., Chui, Y. L., Li, H. M., Pang, J. C., & Tsao, S. W. (2004a). Phenotypic alterations induced by the Hong Kong-prevalent Epstein-Barr virus-encoded LMP1 variant (2117-LMP1) in nasopharyngeal epithelial cells. *Int J Cancer*, 109(6), 919-925.
- Lo, A. K., Lo, K. W., Ko, C. W., Young, L. S., & Dawson, C. W. (2013). Inhibition of the LKB1-AMPK pathway by the Epstein-Barr virus-encoded LMP1 promotes proliferation and transformation of human nasopharyngeal epithelial cells. J Pathol, 230(3), 336-346.
- Lo, A. K., To, K. F., Lo, K. W., Lung, R. W., Hui, J. W., Liao, G., & Hayward, S. D. (2007). Modulation of LMP1 protein expression by EBV-encoded microRNAs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(41), 16164-16169.

- Lo, K. W., Cheung, S. T., Leung, S. F., van Hasselt, A., Tsang, Y. S., Mak, K. F., . . . Huang, D. P. (1996). Hypermethylation of the p16 gene in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Res*, 56(12), 2721-2725.
- Lo, K. W., Chung, G. T., & To, K. F. (2012). Deciphering the molecular genetic basis of NPC through molecular, cytogenetic, and epigenetic approaches. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 22(2), 79-86.
- Lo, K. W., & Huang, D. P. (2002). Genetic and epigenetic changes in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 12(6), 451-462.
- Lo, K. W., Huang, D. P., & Lau, K. M. (1995). p16 gene alterations in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Res*, 55(10), 2039-2043.
- Lo, K. W., Kwong, J., Hui, A. B., Chan, S. Y., To, K. F., Chan, A. S., . . . Huang, D. P. (2001). High frequency of promoter hypermethylation of RASSF1A in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Res*, 61(10), 3877-3881.
- Lo, K. W., Teo, P. M., Hui, A. B., To, K. F., Tsang, Y. S., Chan, S. Y., ... Huang, D. P. (2000). High resolution allelotype of microdissected primary nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Res*, 60(13), 3348-3353.
- Lo, K. W., To, K. F., & Huang, D. P. (2004b). Focus on nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Cell*, 5(5), 423-428.
- Lopez-Casillas, F., Cheifetz, S., Doody, J., Andres, J. L., Lane, W. S., & Massague, J. (1991). Structure and expression of the membrane proteoglycan betaglycan, a component of the TGF-beta receptor system. *Cell*, 67(4), 785-795.
- Lopez-Casillas, F., Wrana, J. L., & Massague, J. (1993). Betaglycan presents ligand to the TGF beta signaling receptor. *Cell*, 73(7), 1435-1444.
- Low, J. S., Chin, Y. M., Mushiroda, T., Kubo, M., Govindasamy, G. K., Pua, K. C., ... Ng, C. C. (2016). A Genome Wide Study of Copy Number Variation Associated with Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma in Malaysian Chinese Identifies CNVs at 11q14.3 and 6p21.3 as Candidate Loci. *PLoS One*, 11(1), e0145774.
- Lu, J. H., Tang, Y. L., Yu, H. B., Zhou, J. H., Fu, C. Y., Zeng, X., . . . Li, G. Y. (2010). Epstein-Barr virus facilitates the malignant potential of immortalized epithelial cells: from latent genome to viral production and maintenance. *Lab Invest*, *90*(2), 196-209.
- Lung, R. W., Tong, J. H., Sung, Y. M., Leung, P. S., Ng, D. C., Chau, S. L., ... To, K. F. (2009). Modulation of LMP2A expression by a newly identified Epstein-Barr virus-encoded microRNA miR-BART22. *Neoplasia*, 11(11), 1174-1184.
- Lung, R. W., Wang, X., Tong, J. H., Chau, S. L., Lau, K. M., Cheng, S. H., . . . To, K. F. (2013). A single nucleotide polymorphism in microRNA-146a is associated with the risk for nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Mol Carcinog, 52 Suppl 1*, E28-38.

- Lutzky, V. P., Crooks, P., Morrison, L., Stevens, N., Davis, J. E., Corban, M., . . . Moss, D. J. (2014). Cytotoxic T cell adoptive immunotherapy as a treatment for nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*, 21(2), 256-259.
- Lynch, M. A., Nakashima, R., Song, H., DeGroff, V. L., Wang, D., Enomoto, T., & Weghorst, C. M. (1998). Mutational analysis of the transforming growth factor beta receptor type II gene in human ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer Res*, 58(19), 4227-4232.
- Lynch, M. A., Petrel, T. A., Song, H., Knobloch, T. J., Casto, B. C., Ramljak, D., ... Weghorst, C. M. (2001). Responsiveness to transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta)-mediated growth inhibition is a function of membrane-bound TGFbeta type II receptor in human breast cancer cells. *Gene Expr*, 9(4-5), 157-171.
- Lyu, X., Fang, W., Cai, L., Zheng, H., Ye, Y., Zhang, L., . . . Li, X. (2014). TGFbetaR2 is a major target of miR-93 in nasopharyngeal carcinoma aggressiveness. *Mol Cancer*, 13, 51.
- Ma, Q., Wu, D., Zeng, L. L., Shen, H., Hu, D., & Qiu, S. (2016). Radiation-induced functional connectivity alterations in nasopharyngeal carcinoma patients with radiotherapy. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 95(29), e4275.
- Ma, S. D., Yu, X., Mertz, J. E., Gumperz, J. E., Reinheim, E., Zhou, Y., . . . Kenney, S. C. (2012). An Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) mutant with enhanced BZLF1 expression causes lymphomas with abortive lytic EBV infection in a humanized mouse model. *J Virol*, 86(15), 7976-7987.
- Macias-Silva, M., Abdollah, S., Hoodless, P. A., Pirone, R., Attisano, L., & Wrana, J. L. (1996). MADR2 is a substrate of the TGFbeta receptor and its phosphorylation is required for nuclear accumulation and signaling. *Cell*, 87(7), 1215-1224.
- Mansouri, S., Pan, Q., Blencowe, B. J., Claycomb, J. M., & Frappier, L. (2014). Epstein-Barr virus EBNA1 protein regulates viral latency through effects on let-7 microRNA and dicer. *J Virol*, 88(19), 11166-11177.
- Mao, Y. P., Liang, S. B., Liu, L. Z., Chen, Y., Sun, Y., Tang, L. L., . . . Ma, J. (2008). The N staging system in nasopharyngeal carcinoma with radiation therapy oncology group guidelines for lymph node levels based on magnetic resonance imaging. *Clin Cancer Res*, 14(22), 7497-7503.
- Marcus, K. J., & Tishler, R. B. (2010). Head and neck carcinomas across the age spectrum: epidemiology, therapy, and late effects. *Semin Radiat Oncol, 20*(1), 52-57.
- Marks, J. E., Phillips, J. L., & Menck, H. R. (1998). The National Cancer Data Base report on the relationship of race and national origin to the histology of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer*, 83(3), 582-588.
- Marquitz, A. R., Mathur, A., Nam, C. S., & Raab-Traub, N. (2011). The Epstein-Barr Virus BART microRNAs target the pro-apoptotic protein Bim. *Virology*, *412*(2), 392-400.

- Martel-Renoir, D., Grunewald, V., Touitou, R., Schwaab, G., & Joab, I. (1995). Qualitative analysis of the expression of Epstein-Barr virus lytic genes in nasopharyngeal carcinoma biopsies. *J Gen Virol*, *76 (Pt 6)*, 1401-1408.
- Massague, J., Czech, M. P., Iwata, K., DeLarco, J. E., & Todaro, G. J. (1982). Affinity labeling of a transforming growth factor receptor that does not interact with epidermal growth factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 79(22), 6822-6826.
- Massague, J., & Like, B. (1985). Cellular receptors for type beta transforming growth factor. Ligand binding and affinity labeling in human and rodent cell lines. J Biol Chem, 260(5), 2636-2645.
- Matsumoto, K., Hashimoto, K., Hashiro, M., Yoshimasa, H., & Yoshikawa, K. (1990). Modulation of growth and differentiation in normal human keratinocytes by transforming growth factor-beta. *J Cell Physiol*, 145(1), 95-101.
- Matsuyama, S., Iwadate, M., Kondo, M., Saitoh, M., Hanyu, A., Shimizu, K., . . . Miyazawa, K. (2003). SB-431542 and Gleevec inhibit transforming growth factor-beta-induced proliferation of human osteosarcoma cells. *Cancer Res*, 63(22), 7791-7798.
- McEarchern, J. A., Kobie, J. J., Mack, V., Wu, R. S., Meade-Tollin, L., Arteaga, C. L., . . Akporiaye, E. T. (2001). Invasion and metastasis of a mammary tumor involves TGF-beta signaling. *Int J Cancer*, 91(1), 76-82.
- McFadden, K., Hafez, A. Y., Kishton, R., Messinger, J. E., Nikitin, P. A., Rathmell, J. C., & Luftig, M. A. (2016). Metabolic stress is a barrier to Epstein-Barr virusmediated B-cell immortalization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 113(6), E782-790.
- McShane, M. P., Mullen, M. M., Haan, K. M., Jardetzky, T. S., & Longnecker, R. (2003). Mutational analysis of the HLA class II interaction with Epstein-Barr virus glycoprotein 42. *J Virol*, 77(13), 7655-7662.
- Meng, W., Xia, Q., Wu, L., Chen, S., He, X., Zhang, L., . . . Zhou, H. (2011). Downregulation of TGF-beta receptor types II and III in oral squamous cell carcinoma and oral carcinoma-associated fibroblasts. *BMC Cancer*, 11, 88.
- Michl, P., Ramjaun, A. R., Pardo, O. E., Warne, P. H., Wagner, M., Poulsom, R., . . . Downward, J. (2005). CUTL1 is a target of TGF(beta) signaling that enhances cancer cell motility and invasiveness. *Cancer Cell*, 7(6), 521-532.
- Miettinen, P. J., Ebner, R., Lopez, A. R., & Derynck, R. (1994). TGF-beta induced transdifferentiation of mammary epithelial cells to mesenchymal cells: involvement of type I receptors. *J Cell Biol*, *127*(6 Pt 2), 2021-2036.
- Miller, A., Lider, O., Roberts, A. B., Sporn, M. B., & Weiner, H. L. (1992). Suppressor T cells generated by oral tolerization to myelin basic protein suppress both in vitro and in vivo immune responses by the release of transforming growth factor beta after antigen-specific triggering. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 89(1), 421-425.

- Miller, W. E., Cheshire, J. L., Baldwin, A. S., Jr., & Raab-Traub, N. (1998). The NPC derived C15 LMP1 protein confers enhanced activation of NF-kappa B and induction of the EGFR in epithelial cells. *Oncogene*, 16(14), 1869-1877.
- Miller, W. E., Edwards, R. H., Walling, D. M., & Raab-Traub, N. (1994). Sequence variation in the Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 1. *The Journal of general virology*, *75 (Pt 10)*, 2729-2740.
- Mori, M., Watanabe, M., Tanaka, S., Mimori, K., Kuwano, H., & Sugimachi, K. (1994). Epstein-Barr virus-associated carcinomas of the esophagus and stomach. Arch Pathol Lab Med, 118(10), 998-1001.
- Morrison, J. A., & Raab-Traub, N. (2005). Roles of the ITAM and PY motifs of Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 2A in the inhibition of epithelial cell differentiation and activation of {beta}-catenin signaling. J Virol, 79(4), 2375-2382.
- Moses, H. L., Coffey, R. J., Jr., Leof, E. B., Lyons, R. M., & Keski-Oja, J. (1987). Transforming growth factor beta regulation of cell proliferation. J Cell Physiol Suppl, Suppl 5, 1-7.
- Mosialos, G., Birkenbach, M., Yalamanchili, R., VanArsdale, T., Ware, C., & Kieff, E. (1995). The Epstein-Barr virus transforming protein LMP1 engages signaling proteins for the tumor necrosis factor receptor family. *Cell*, 80(3), 389-399.
- Moustakas, A., Souchelnytskyi, S., & Heldin, C. H. (2001). Smad regulation in TGFbeta signal transduction. *J Cell Sci*, 114(Pt 24), 4359-4369.
- Munger, J. S., Huang, X., Kawakatsu, H., Griffiths, M. J., Dalton, S. L., Wu, J., ... Sheppard, D. (1999). The integrin alpha v beta 6 binds and activates latent TGF beta 1: a mechanism for regulating pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis. *Cell*, 96(3), 319-328.
- Munoz-Espin, D., & Serrano, M. (2014). Cellular senescence: from physiology to pathology. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 15(7), 482-496.
- Murata, T. (2014). Regulation of Epstein-Barr virus reactivation from latency. *Microbiol Immunol*, 58(6), 307-317.
- Murata, T., Kondo, Y., Sugimoto, A., Kawashima, D., Saito, S., Isomura, H., . . . Tsurumi, T. (2012). Epigenetic histone modification of Epstein-Barr virus BZLF1 promoter during latency and reactivation in Raji cells. J Virol, 86(9), 4752-4761.
- Nachmani, D., Stern-Ginossar, N., Sarid, R., & Mandelboim, O. (2009). Diverse herpesvirus microRNAs target the stress-induced immune ligand MICB to escape recognition by natural killer cells. *Cell Host Microbe*, *5*(4), 376-385.
- Nakao, A., Imamura, T., Souchelnytskyi, S., Kawabata, M., Ishisaki, A., Oeda, E., . . . ten Dijke, P. (1997). TGF-beta receptor-mediated signalling through Smad2, Smad3 and Smad4. *EMBO J*, 16(17), 5353-5362.

- Nam, J. M., McLaughlin, J. K., & Blot, W. J. (1992). Cigarette smoking, alcohol, and nasopharyngeal carcinoma: a case-control study among U.S. whites. J Natl Cancer Inst, 84(8), 619-622.
- Nanbo, A., Yoshiyama, H., & Takada, K. (2005). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded poly(A)-RNA confers resistance to apoptosis mediated through Fas by blocking the PKR pathway in human epithelial intestine 407 cells. *J Virol*, 79(19), 12280-12285.
- Nawandar, D. M., Ohashi, M., Djavadian, R., Barlow, E., Makielski, K., Ali, A., . . . Kenney, S. C. (2017). Differentiation-Dependent LMP1 Expression Is Required for Efficient Lytic Epstein-Barr Virus Reactivation in Epithelial Cells. J Virol, 91(8).
- Nawandar, D. M., Wang, A., Makielski, K., Lee, D., Ma, S., Barlow, E., . . . Kenney, S. C. (2015). Differentiation-Dependent KLF4 Expression Promotes Lytic Epstein-Barr Virus Infection in Epithelial Cells. *PLoS Pathog*, 11(10), e1005195.
- Nemerow, G. R., Mold, C., Schwend, V. K., Tollefson, V., & Cooper, N. R. (1987). Identification of gp350 as the viral glycoprotein mediating attachment of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) to the EBV/C3d receptor of B cells: sequence homology of gp350 and C3 complement fragment C3d. J Virol, 61(5), 1416-1420.
- Ng, C. C., Yew, P. Y., Puah, S. M., Krishnan, G., Yap, L. F., Teo, S. H., . . . Mushiroda, T. (2009a). A genome-wide association study identifies ITGA9 conferring risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *J Hum Genet*, 54(7), 392-397.
- Ng, S. H., Chan, S. C., Yen, T. C., Chang, J. T., Liao, C. T., Ko, S. F., . . . Hsu, C. L. (2009b). Staging of untreated nasopharyngeal carcinoma with PET/CT: comparison with conventional imaging work-up. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*, *36*(1), 12-22.
- Ni, C., Chen, Y., Zeng, M., Pei, R., Du, Y., Tang, L., . . . Wang, X. (2015). In-cell infection: a novel pathway for Epstein-Barr virus infection mediated by cell-in-cell structures. *Cell Res*, 25(7), 785-800.
- Niedobitek, G., Hansmann, M. L., Herbst, H., Young, L. S., Dienemann, D., Hartmann, C. A., . . . et al. (1991a). Epstein-Barr virus and carcinomas: undifferentiated carcinomas but not squamous cell carcinomas of the nasopharynx are regularly associated with the virus. *J Pathol, 165*(1), 17-24.
- Niedobitek, G., Young, L. S., Lau, R., Brooks, L., Greenspan, D., Greenspan, J. S., & Rickinson, A. B. (1991b). Epstein-Barr virus infection in oral hairy leukoplakia: virus replication in the absence of a detectable latent phase. *J Gen Virol*, 72 (*Pt* 12), 3035-3046.
- Nikitin, P. A., Yan, C. M., Forte, E., Bocedi, A., Tourigny, J. P., White, R. E., . . . Luftig, M. A. (2010). An ATM/Chk2-mediated DNA damage-responsive signaling pathway suppresses Epstein-Barr virus transformation of primary human B cells. *Cell Host Microbe*, 8(6), 510-522.

- Ning, J. P., Yu, M. C., Wang, Q. S., & Henderson, B. E. (1990). Consumption of salted fish and other risk factors for nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) in Tianjin, a low-risk region for NPC in the People's Republic of China. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 82(4), 291-296.
- Nishida, N., Yano, H., Nishida, T., Kamura, T., & Kojiro, M. (2006). Angiogenesis in cancer. *Vasc Health Risk Manag*, 2(3), 213-219.
- Nonoyama, M., Huang, C. H., Pagano, J. S., Klein, G., & Singh, S. (1973). DNA of Epstein-Barr virus detected in tissue of Burkitt's lymphoma and nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 70(11), 3265-3268.
- O'Neil, J. D., Owen, T. J., Wood, V. H., Date, K. L., Valentine, R., Chukwuma, M. B., . . Young, L. S. (2008). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded EBNA1 modulates the AP-1 transcription factor pathway in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells and enhances angiogenesis in vitro. J Gen Virol, 89(Pt 11), 2833-2842.
- Oberhammer, F. A., Pavelka, M., Sharma, S., Tiefenbacher, R., Purchio, A. F., Bursch, W., & Schulte-Hermann, R. (1992). Induction of apoptosis in cultured hepatocytes and in regressing liver by transforming growth factor beta 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 89(12), 5408-5412.
- Oft, M., Heider, K. H., & Beug, H. (1998). TGFbeta signaling is necessary for carcinoma cell invasiveness and metastasis. *Curr Biol*, 8(23), 1243-1252.
- Ohashi, M., Fogg, M. H., Orlova, N., Quink, C., & Wang, F. (2012). An Epstein-Barr virus encoded inhibitor of Colony Stimulating Factor-1 signaling is an important determinant for acute and persistent EBV infection. *PLoS Pathog*, 8(12), e1003095.
- Ohshima, T., & Shimotohno, K. (2003). Transforming growth factor-beta-mediated signaling via the p38 MAP kinase pathway activates Smad-dependent transcription through SUMO-1 modification of Smad4. *J Biol Chem*, 278(51), 50833-50842.
- Ohtani, N., Brennan, P., Gaubatz, S., Sanij, E., Hertzog, P., Wolvetang, E., . . . Hara, E. (2003). Epstein-Barr virus LMP1 blocks p16INK4a-RB pathway by promoting nuclear export of E2F4/5. *J Cell Biol*, *162*(2), 173-183.
- Ohue, M., Tomita, N., Monden, T., Miyoshi, Y., Ohnishi, T., Izawa, H., . . . Monden, M. (1996). Mutations of the transforming growth factor beta type II receptor gene and microsatellite instability in gastric cancer. *Int J Cancer*, 68(2), 203-206.
- Old, L. J., Boyse, E. A.. Oettgen, H. F., De Harven, E., Geering, G., Williamson, B. and Clifford, P. (1966). Precipitating antibody in human serum to an antigen present in cultured Burkitt's lymphoma cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science*, 56, 1699-1704.

- Or, Y. Y., Chung, G. T., To, K. F., Chow, C., Choy, K. W., Tong, C. Y., . . . Lo, K. W. (2010). Identification of a novel 12p13.3 amplicon in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *J Pathol*, 220(1), 97-107.
- Padua, D., Zhang, X. H., Wang, Q., Nadal, C., Gerald, W. L., Gomis, R. R., & Massague, J. (2008). TGFbeta primes breast tumors for lung metastasis seeding through angiopoietin-like 4. *Cell*, 133(1), 66-77.
- Paiar, F., Di Cataldo, V., Zei, G., Pasquetti, E. M., Cecchini, S., Meattini, I., ... Biti, G. (2012). Role of chemotherapy in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Oncol Rev*, 6(1), e1.
- Palser, A. L., Grayson, N. E., White, R. E., Corton, C., Correia, S., Ba Abdullah, M. M., . . . Kellam, P. (2015). Genome diversity of Epstein-Barr virus from multiple tumor types and normal infection. *J Virol*, 89(10), 5222-5237.
- Pang, M. F., Georgoudaki, A. M., Lambut, L., Johansson, J., Tabor, V., Hagikura, K., . . Fuxe, J. (2016). TGF-beta1-induced EMT promotes targeted migration of breast cancer cells through the lymphatic system by the activation of CCR7/CCL21-mediated chemotaxis. *Oncogene*, 35(6), 748-760.
- Papageorgis, P. (2015). TGFbeta Signaling in Tumor Initiation, Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition, and Metastasis. *J Oncol*, 2015, 587193.
- Park, S. M., Gaur, A. B., Lengyel, E., & Peter, M. E. (2008). The miR-200 family determines the epithelial phenotype of cancer cells by targeting the E-cadherin repressors ZEB1 and ZEB2. *Genes Dev*, 22(7), 894-907.
- Parkin, D. M., Bray, F., Ferlay, J., & Pisani, P. (2005). Global cancer statistics, 2002. *CA Cancer J Clin*, 55(2), 74-108.
- Parsa, N. (2012). Environmental factors inducing human cancers. *Iran J Public Health*, *41*(11), 1-9.
- Paterson, I. C., Matthews, J. B., Huntley, S., Robinson, C. M., Fahey, M., Parkinson, E. K., & Prime, S. S. (2001). Decreased expression of TGF-beta cell surface receptors during progression of human oral squamous cell carcinoma. *J Pathol*, 193(4), 458-467.
- Pathmanathan, R., Prasad, U., Sadler, R., Flynn, K., & Raab-Traub, N. (1995). Clonal proliferations of cells infected with Epstein-Barr virus in preinvasive lesions related to nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *N Engl J Med*, 333(11), 693-698.
- Peinado, H., Quintanilla, M., & Cano, A. (2003). Transforming growth factor beta-1 induces snail transcription factor in epithelial cell lines: mechanisms for epithelial mesenchymal transitions. *J Biol Chem*, 278(23), 21113-21123.
- Peng, H., Shintani, S., Kim, Y., & Wong, D. T. (2006). Loss of p12CDK2-AP1 expression in human oral squamous cell carcinoma with disrupted transforming growth factor-beta-Smad signaling pathway. *Neoplasia*, 8(12), 1028-1036.

- Perlman, R., Schiemann, W. P., Brooks, M. W., Lodish, H. F., & Weinberg, R. A. (2001). TGF-beta-induced apoptosis is mediated by the adapter protein Daxx that facilitates JNK activation. *Nat Cell Biol*, 3(8), 708-714.
- Pertovaara, L., Kaipainen, A., Mustonen, T., Orpana, A., Ferrara, N., Saksela, O., & Alitalo, K. (1994). Vascular endothelial growth factor is induced in response to transforming growth factor-beta in fibroblastic and epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem*, 269(9), 6271-6274.
- Pickup, M., Novitskiy, S., & Moses, H. L. (2013). The roles of TGFbeta in the tumour microenvironment. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 13(11), 788-799.
- Piek, E., Ju, W. J., Heyer, J., Escalante-Alcalde, D., Stewart, C. L., Weinstein, M., ... Roberts, A. B. (2001). Functional characterization of transforming growth factor beta signaling in Smad2- and Smad3-deficient fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem*, 276(23), 19945-19953.
- Piek, E., Moustakas, A., Kurisaki, A., Heldin, C. H., & ten Dijke, P. (1999). TGF-(beta) type I receptor/ALK-5 and Smad proteins mediate epithelial to mesenchymal transdifferentiation in NMuMG breast epithelial cells. J Cell Sci, 112 (Pt 24), 4557-4568.
- Pietenpol, J. A., Stein, R. W., Moran, E., Yaciuk, P., Schlegel, R., Lyons, R. M., ... Moses, H. L. (1990). TGF-beta 1 inhibition of c-myc transcription and growth in keratinocytes is abrogated by viral transforming proteins with pRB binding domains. *Cell*, 61(5), 777-785.
- Pines, J. (1995). Cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases: a biochemical view. *Biochem J*, 308 (Pt 3), 697-711.
- Pinto, M., Oliveira, C., Cirnes, L., Carlos Machado, J., Ramires, M., Nogueira, A., . . . Seruca, R. (2003). Promoter methylation of TGFbeta receptor I and mutation of TGFbeta receptor II are frequent events in MSI sporadic gastric carcinomas. J Pathol, 200(1), 32-38.
- Poh, Y. W., Gan, S. Y., & Tan, E. L. (2012). Effects of IL-6, IL-10 and TGF-beta on the expression of survivin and apoptosis in nasopharyngeal carcinoma TW01 cells. *Exp Oncol*, *34*(2), 85-89.
- Polesel, J., Serraino, D., Negri, E., Barzan, L., Vaccher, E., Montella, M., . . . Talamini, R. (2013). Consumption of fruit, vegetables, and other food groups and the risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Causes Control*, 24(6), 1157-1165.
- Port, R. J., Pinheiro-Maia, S., Hu, C., Arrand, J. R., Wei, W., Young, L. S., & Dawson, C. W. (2013). Epstein-Barr virus induction of the Hedgehog signalling pathway imposes a stem cell phenotype on human epithelial cells. *J Pathol*, 231(3), 367-377.
- Portella, G., Cumming, S. A., Liddell, J., Cui, W., Ireland, H., Akhurst, R. J., & Balmain, A. (1998). Transforming growth factor beta is essential for spindle cell

conversion of mouse skin carcinoma in vivo: implications for tumor invasion. *Cell Growth Differ*, *9*(5), 393-404.

- Pring, M., Prime, S., Parkinson, E. K., & Paterson, I. (2006). Dysregulated TGF-beta1induced Smad signalling occurs as a result of defects in multiple components of the TGF-beta signalling pathway in human head and neck carcinoma cell lines. *Int J Oncol*, 28(5), 1279-1285.
- Raab-Traub, N., & Flynn, K. (1986). The structure of the termini of the Epstein-Barr virus as a marker of clonal cellular proliferation. *Cell*, 47(6), 883-889.
- Raftery, L. A., Twombly, V., Wharton, K., & Gelbart, W. M. (1995). Genetic screens to identify elements of the decapentaplegic signaling pathway in Drosophila. *Genetics*, 139(1), 241-254.
- Ragoczy, T., Heston, L., & Miller, G. (1998). The Epstein-Barr virus Rta protein activates lytic cycle genes and can disrupt latency in B lymphocytes. *J Virol*, 72(10), 7978-7984.
- Rancan, C., Schirrmann, L., Huls, C., Zeidler, R., & Moosmann, A. (2015). Latent Membrane Protein LMP2A Impairs Recognition of EBV-Infected Cells by CD8+ T Cells. *PLoS Pathog*, 11(6), e1004906.
- Reddy, S. P., Raslan, W. F., Gooneratne, S., Kathuria, S., & Marks, J. E. (1995). Prognostic significance of keratinization in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Am J Otolaryngol, 16(2), 103-108.
- Reisman, D., & Sugden, B. (1986). trans activation of an Epstein-Barr viral transcriptional enhancer by the Epstein-Barr viral nuclear antigen 1. *Mol Cell Biol*, 6(11), 3838-3846.
- Reusch, J. A., Nawandar, D. M., Wright, K. L., Kenney, S. C., & Mertz, J. E. (2015). Cellular differentiation regulator BLIMP1 induces Epstein-Barr virus lytic reactivation in epithelial and B cells by activating transcription from both the R and Z promoters. *J Virol*, 89(3), 1731-1743.
- Reynisdottir, I., Polyak, K., Iavarone, A., & Massague, J. (1995). Kip/Cip and Ink4 Cdk inhibitors cooperate to induce cell cycle arrest in response to TGF-beta. *Genes Dev*, 9(15), 1831-1845.
- Ribeiro, A., Bronk, S. F., Roberts, P. J., Urrutia, R., & Gores, G. J. (1999). The transforming growth factor beta(1)-inducible transcription factor TIEG1, mediates apoptosis through oxidative stress. *Hepatology*, *30*(6), 1490-1497.
- Rickinson, A. B. (2014). Co-infections, inflammation and oncogenesis: future directions for EBV research. *Semin Cancer Biol, 26*, 99-115.
- Rickinson, A. B., Young, L. S., & Rowe, M. (1987). Influence of the Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen EBNA 2 on the growth phenotype of virus-transformed B cells. *J Virol*, 61(5), 1310-1317.

- Roberts, A. B., Lamb, L. C., Newton, D. L., Sporn, M. B., De Larco, J. E., & Todaro, G. J. (1980). Transforming growth factors: isolation of polypeptides from virally and chemically transformed cells by acid/ethanol extraction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 77(6), 3494-3498.
- Rothenberger, S., Bachmann, E., Berger, C., McQuain, C., Odermatt, B. F., & Knecht, H. (1997). Natural 30 base pair and 69 base pair deletion variants of the LMP1 oncogene do stimulate NF-kappaB-mediated transcription. *Oncogene*, 14(17), 2123-2126.
- Rowe, M., Lear, A. L., Croom-Carter, D., Davies, A. H., & Rickinson, A. B. (1992). Three pathways of Epstein-Barr virus gene activation from EBNA1-positive latency in B lymphocytes. *J Virol*, 66(1), 122-131.
- Rowe, M., Young, L. S., Cadwallader, K., Petti, L., Kieff, E., & Rickinson, A. B. (1989). Distinction between Epstein-Barr virus type A (EBNA 2A) and type B (EBNA 2B) isolates extends to the EBNA 3 family of nuclear proteins. *J Virol*, 63(3), 1031-1039.
- Salama, R., Sadaie, M., Hoare, M., & Narita, M. (2014). Cellular senescence and its effector programs. *Genes Dev, 28*(2), 99-114.
- Salamon, D., Takacs, M., Ujvari, D., Uhlig, J., Wolf, H., Minarovits, J., & Niller, H. H. (2001). Protein-DNA binding and CpG methylation at nucleotide resolution of latency-associated promoters Qp, Cp, and LMP1p of Epstein-Barr virus. *J Virol*, 75(6), 2584-2596.
- Samanta, M., Iwakiri, D., Kanda, T., Imaizumi, T., & Takada, K. (2006). EB virusencoded RNAs are recognized by RIG-I and activate signaling to induce type I IFN. *EMBO J*, 25(18), 4207-4214.
- Sample, J., Young, L., Martin, B., Chatman, T., Kieff, E., & Rickinson, A. (1990). Epstein-Barr virus types 1 and 2 differ in their EBNA-3A, EBNA-3B, and EBNA-3C genes. *J Virol*, 64(9), 4084-4092.
- Sanchez, A., Alvarez, A. M., Benito, M., & Fabregat, I. (1996). Apoptosis induced by transforming growth factor-beta in fetal hepatocyte primary cultures: involvement of reactive oxygen intermediates. *J Biol Chem, 271*(13), 7416-7422.
- Santpere, G., Darre, F., Blanco, S., Alcami, A., Villoslada, P., Mar Alba, M., & Navarro, A. (2014). Genome-wide analysis of wild-type Epstein-Barr virus genomes derived from healthy individuals of the 1,000 Genomes Project. *Genome Biol Evol*, 6(4), 846-860.
- Sasaki, M. M., Skol, A. D., Bao, R., Rhodes, L. V., Chambers, R., Vokes, E. E., . . . Onel, K. (2015). Integrated genomic analysis suggests MLL3 is a novel candidate susceptibility gene for familial nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 24*(8), 1222-1228.

- Sasaki, T., Maier, B., Bartke, A., & Scrable, H. (2006). Progressive loss of SIRT1 with cell cycle withdrawal. *Aging Cell*, 5(5), 413-422.
- Sathiyamoorthy, K., Hu, Y. X., Mohl, B. S., Chen, J., Longnecker, R., & Jardetzky, T. S. (2016). Structural basis for Epstein-Barr virus host cell tropism mediated by gp42 and gHgL entry glycoproteins. *Nat Commun*, 7, 13557.
- Sato, Y., & Rifkin, D. B. (1989). Inhibition of endothelial cell movement by pericytes and smooth muscle cells: activation of a latent transforming growth factor-beta 1-like molecule by plasmin during co-culture. J Cell Biol, 109(1), 309-315.
- Savage, C., Das, P., Finelli, A. L., Townsend, S. R., Sun, C. Y., Baird, S. E., & Padgett, R. W. (1996). Caenorhabditis elegans genes sma-2, sma-3, and sma-4 define a conserved family of transforming growth factor beta pathway components. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93(2), 790-794.
- Schelcher, C., Valencia, S., Delecluse, H. J., Hicks, M., & Sinclair, A. J. (2005). Mutation of a single amino acid residue in the basic region of the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) lytic cycle switch protein Zta (BZLF1) prevents reactivation of EBV from latency. *J Virol*, 79(21), 13822-13828.
- Scholle, F., Bendt, K. M., & Raab-Traub, N. (2000). Epstein-Barr virus LMP2A transforms epithelial cells, inhibits cell differentiation, and activates Akt. J Virol, 74(22), 10681-10689.
- Schulze, A., Zerfass, K., Spitkovsky, D., Middendorp, S., Berges, J., Helin, K., . . . Henglein, B. (1995). Cell cycle regulation of the cyclin A gene promoter is mediated by a variant E2F site. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 92(24), 11264-11268.
- Segarini, P. R., Roberts, A. B., Rosen, D. M., & Seyedin, S. M. (1987). Membrane binding characteristics of two forms of transforming growth factor-beta. *J Biol Chem*, 262(30), 14655-14662.
- Sekelsky, J. J., Newfeld, S. J., Raftery, L. A., Chartoff, E. H., & Gelbart, W. M. (1995). Genetic characterization and cloning of mothers against dpp, a gene required for decapentaplegic function in Drosophila melanogaster. *Genetics*, 139(3), 1347-1358.
- Senturk, S., Mumcuoglu, M., Gursoy-Yuzugullu, O., Cingoz, B., Akcali, K. C., & Ozturk, M. (2010). Transforming growth factor-beta induces senescence in hepatocellular carcinoma cells and inhibits tumor growth. *Hepatology*, 52(3), 966-974.
- Seoane, J., Pouponnot, C., Staller, P., Schader, M., Eilers, M., & Massague, J. (2001). TGFbeta influences Myc, Miz-1 and Smad to control the CDK inhibitor p15INK4b. *Nat Cell Biol*, 3(4), 400-408.
- Seow, AWPK, Koh, WP, Chia, KS, Shi, LM, Lee, HP, & Shanmugaratnam, K. (2004). Trends in cancer incidence in Singapore 1968–2002. *Singapore: Singapore Cancer Registry*, 6.

- Serrano, M., Hannon, G. J., & Beach, D. (1993). A new regulatory motif in cell-cycle control causing specific inhibition of cyclin D/CDK4. *Nature*, 366(6456), 704-707.
- Seto, E., Ooka, T., Middeldorp, J., & Takada, K. (2008). Reconstitution of nasopharyngeal carcinoma-type EBV infection induces tumorigenicity. *Cancer Res*, 68(4), 1030-1036.
- Seto, E., Yang, L., Middeldorp, J., Sheen, T. S., Chen, J. Y., Fukayama, M., . . . Takada, K. (2005). Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-encoded BARF1 gene is expressed in nasopharyngeal carcinoma and EBV-associated gastric carcinoma tissues in the absence of lytic gene expression. *J Med Virol*, 76(1), 82-88.
- Seton-Rogers, S. E., Lu, Y., Hines, L. M., Koundinya, M., LaBaer, J., Muthuswamy, S. K., & Brugge, J. S. (2004). Cooperation of the ErbB2 receptor and transforming growth factor beta in induction of migration and invasion in mammary epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101(5), 1257-1262.
- Seyedin, S. M., Segarini, P. R., Rosen, D. M., Thompson, A. Y., Bentz, H., & Graycar, J. (1987). Cartilage-inducing factor-B is a unique protein structurally and functionally related to transforming growth factor-beta. J Biol Chem, 262(5), 1946-1949.
- Shah, K. M., Stewart, S. E., Wei, W., Woodman, C. B., O'Neil, J. D., Dawson, C. W., & Young, L. S. (2009). The EBV-encoded latent membrane proteins, LMP2A and LMP2B, limit the actions of interferon by targeting interferon receptors for degradation. *Oncogene*, 28(44), 3903-3914.
- Sham, J. S., Wei, W. I., Zong, Y. S., Choy, D., Guo, Y. Q., Luo, Y., . . . Ng, M. H. (1990). Detection of subclinical nasopharyngeal carcinoma by fibreoptic endoscopy and multiple biopsy. *Lancet*, 335(8686), 371-374.
- Shanmugaratnam, K., & Sobin, LH. (1991). World Health Organization International Histological Classification: Histological typing of tumors of the upper respiratory tract and ear: Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Shannon-Lowe, C. D., Neuhierl, B., Baldwin, G., Rickinson, A. B., & Delecluse, H. J. (2006). Resting B cells as a transfer vehicle for Epstein-Barr virus infection of epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103(18), 7065-7070.
- Shannon-Lowe, C., & Rowe, M. (2011). Epstein-Barr virus infection of polarized epithelial cells via the basolateral surface by memory B cell-mediated transfer infection. *PLoS Pathog*, 7(5), e1001338.
- Shapiro, I. M., & Volsky, D. J. (1983). Infection of normal human epithelial cells by Epstein-Barr virus. *Science*, 219(4589), 1225-1228.
- Shen, X., Li, J., Hu, P. P., Waddell, D., Zhang, J., & Wang, X. F. (2001). The activity of guanine exchange factor NET1 is essential for transforming growth factor-betamediated stress fiber formation. *J Biol Chem*, 276(18), 15362-15368.

- Sheng, W., Decaussin, G., Sumner, S., & Ooka, T. (2001). N-terminal domain of BARF1 gene encoded by Epstein-Barr virus is essential for malignant transformation of rodent fibroblasts and activation of BCL-2. *Oncogene*, 20(10), 1176-1185.
- Sheu, L. F., Chen, A., Meng, C. L., Ho, K. C., Lee, W. H., Leu, F. J., & Chao, C. F. (1996). Enhanced malignant progression of nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells mediated by the expression of Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen 1 in vivo. *J Pathol*, *180*(3), 243-248.
- Shi, Y., Hata, A., Lo, R. S., Massague, J., & Pavletich, N. P. (1997). A structural basis for mutational inactivation of the tumour suppressor Smad4. *Nature*, 388(6637), 87-93.
- Shi, Y., Wang, Y. F., Jayaraman, L., Yang, H., Massague, J., & Pavletich, N. P. (1998). Crystal structure of a Smad MH1 domain bound to DNA: insights on DNA binding in TGF-beta signaling. *Cell*, 94(5), 585-594.
- Shim, A. H., Chang, R. A., Chen, X., Longnecker, R., & He, X. (2012). Multipronged attenuation of macrophage-colony stimulating factor signaling by Epstein-Barr virus BARF1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109(32), 12962-12967.
- Shim, K. S., Kim, K. H., Han, W. S., & Park, E. B. (1999). Elevated serum levels of transforming growth factor-beta1 in patients with colorectal carcinoma: its association with tumor progression and its significant decrease after curative surgical resection. *Cancer*, 85(3), 554-561.
- Shimo, T., Nakanishi, T., Nishida, T., Asano, M., Sasaki, A., Kanyama, M., . . . Takigawa, M. (2001). Involvement of CTGF, a hypertrophic chondrocytespecific gene product, in tumor angiogenesis. *Oncology*, 61(4), 315-322.
- Shinozaki-Ushiku, A., Kunita, A., Isogai, M., Hibiya, T., Ushiku, T., Takada, K., & Fukayama, M. (2015). Profiling of Virus-Encoded MicroRNAs in Epstein-Barr Virus-Associated Gastric Carcinoma and Their Roles in Gastric Carcinogenesis. J Virol, 89(10), 5581-5591.
- Shipley, G. D., Pittelkow, M. R., Wille, J. J., Jr., Scott, R. E., & Moses, H. L. (1986). Reversible inhibition of normal human prokeratinocyte proliferation by type beta transforming growth factor-growth inhibitor in serum-free medium. *Cancer Res*, 46(4 Pt 2), 2068-2071.
- Shirakihara, T., Saitoh, M., & Miyazono, K. (2007). Differential regulation of epithelial and mesenchymal markers by deltaEF1 proteins in epithelial mesenchymal transition induced by TGF-beta. *Mol Biol Cell*, *18*(9), 3533-3544.
- Siegel, P. M., & Massague, J. (2003). Cytostatic and apoptotic actions of TGF-beta in homeostasis and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 3(11), 807-821.
- Sinclair, A. J., Brimmell, M., Shanahan, F., & Farrell, P. J. (1991). Pathways of activation of the Epstein-Barr virus productive cycle. *J Virol*, 65(5), 2237-2244.

- Sinclair, A. J., Palmero, I., Peters, G., & Farrell, P. J. (1994). EBNA-2 and EBNA-LP cooperate to cause G0 to G1 transition during immortalization of resting human B lymphocytes by Epstein-Barr virus. *EMBO J*, 13(14), 3321-3328.
- Sivachandran, N., Sarkari, F., & Frappier, L. (2008). Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen 1 contributes to nasopharyngeal carcinoma through disruption of PML nuclear bodies. *PLoS Pathog*, 4(10), e1000170.
- Sivachandran, N., Wang, X., & Frappier, L. (2012). Functions of the Epstein-Barr virus EBNA1 protein in viral reactivation and lytic infection. *J Virol*, *86*(11), 6146-6158.
- Smith, C., Tsang, J., Beagley, L., Chua, D., Lee, V., Li, V., . . . Khanna, R. (2012). Effective treatment of metastatic forms of Epstein-Barr virus-associated nasopharyngeal carcinoma with a novel adenovirus-based adoptive immunotherapy. *Cancer Res*, 72(5), 1116-1125.
- Sporn, M. B., Roberts, A. B., Wakefield, L. M., & Assoian, R. K. (1986). Transforming growth factor-beta: biological function and chemical structure. *Science*, 233(4763), 532-534.
- Sriuranpong, V., Mutirangura, A., Gillespie, J. W., Patel, V., Amornphimoltham, P., Molinolo, A. A., . . . Gutkind, J. S. (2004). Global gene expression profile of nasopharyngeal carcinoma by laser capture microdissection and complementary DNA microarrays. *Clin Cancer Res*, 10(15), 4944-4958.
- Staller, P., Peukert, K., Kiermaier, A., Seoane, J., Lukas, J., Karsunky, H., . . . Eilers, M. (2001). Repression of p15INK4b expression by Myc through association with Miz-1. Nat Cell Biol, 3(4), 392-399.
- Stewart, S., Dawson, C. W., Takada, K., Curnow, J., Moody, C. A., Sixbey, J. W., & Young, L. S. (2004). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded LMP2A regulates viral and cellular gene expression by modulation of the NF-kappaB transcription factor pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101(44), 15730-15735.
- Strassmann, G., Bertolini, D. R., & Eidelman, O. (1991). Inhibition of immune reactions in vivo by liposome associated transforming growth factor (TGF) type beta 1. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 86(3), 532-536.
- Strobl, H., & Knapp, W. (1999). TGF-beta1 regulation of dendritic cells. *Microbes Infect*, 1(15), 1283-1290.
- Stuelten, C. H., Buck, M. B., Dippon, J., Roberts, A. B., Fritz, P., & Knabbe, C. (2006). Smad4-expression is decreased in breast cancer tissues: a retrospective study. *BMC Cancer*, 6, 25.
- Sun, R., Chen, M. Y., Sun, J., Zhang, Y., Zhang, C. Q., Hou, J. H., & Hong, M. H. (2007). [Expression and clinical significance of TGF-beta1 and its signaling pathway proteins in nasopharyngeal carcinoma]. *Ai Zheng*, 26(9), 1005-1009.

- Suzuki, A., Shioda, N., Maeda, T., Tada, M., & Ueno, N. (1994). Cloning of an isoform of mouse TGF-beta type II receptor gene. *FEBS Lett*, 355(1), 19-22.
- Tachibana, I., Imoto, M., Adjei, P. N., Gores, G. J., Subramaniam, M., Spelsberg, T. C., & Urrutia, R. (1997). Overexpression of the TGFbeta-regulated zinc finger encoding gene, TIEG, induces apoptosis in pancreatic epithelial cells. *J Clin Invest*, 99(10), 2365-2374.
- Takada, K., Horinouchi, K., Ono, Y., Aya, T., Osato, T., Takahashi, M., & Hayasaka, S. (1991). An Epstein-Barr virus-producer line Akata: establishment of the cell line and analysis of viral DNA. *Virus Genes*, 5(2), 147-156.
- Tan, W. L., Tan, E. H., Lim, D. W., Ng, Q. S., Tan, D. S., Jain, A., & Ang, M. K. (2016). Advances in systemic treatment for nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Chin Clin Oncol*, 5(2), 21.
- Tang, B., de Castro, K., Barnes, H. E., Parks, W. T., Stewart, L., Bottinger, E. P., ... Wakefield, L. M. (1999). Loss of responsiveness to transforming growth factor beta induces malignant transformation of nontumorigenic rat prostate epithelial cells. *Cancer Res*, 59(19), 4834-4842.
- Tang, M., Lautenberger, J. A., Gao, X., Sezgin, E., Hendrickson, S. L., Troyer, J. L., ... O'Brien, S. J. (2012). The principal genetic determinants for nasopharyngeal carcinoma in China involve the HLA class I antigen recognition groove. *PLoS Genet*, 8(11), e1003103.
- Tao, Q., & Chan, A. T. (2007). Nasopharyngeal carcinoma: molecular pathogenesis and therapeutic developments. *Expert Rev Mol Med*, 9(12), 1-24.
- Tao, Q., Robertson, K. D., Manns, A., Hildesheim, A., & Ambinder, R. F. (1998). The Epstein-Barr virus major latent promoter Qp is constitutively active, hypomethylated, and methylation sensitive. J Virol, 72(9), 7075-7083.
- Temple, R. M., Zhu, J., Budgeon, L., Christensen, N. D., Meyers, C., & Sample, C. E. (2014). Efficient replication of Epstein-Barr virus in stratified epithelium in vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*, 111(46), 16544-16549.
- Thomas, D. A., & Massague, J. (2005). TGF-beta directly targets cytotoxic T cell functions during tumor evasion of immune surveillance. *Cancer Cell*, 8(5), 369-380.
- Thomas, R. J., Guise, T. A., Yin, J. J., Elliott, J., Horwood, N. J., Martin, T. J., & Gillespie, M. T. (1999). Breast cancer cells interact with osteoblasts to support osteoclast formation. *Endocrinology*, 140(10), 4451-4458.
- Thompson, L. D. (2007). Update on nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Head Neck Pathol*, *1*(1), 81-86.
- Thorley-Lawson, D. A., & Gross, A. (2004). Persistence of the Epstein-Barr virus and the origins of associated lymphomas. *N Engl J Med*, *350*(13), 1328-1337.

- Tian, W., Zhu, F. M., Wang, W. Y., Cai, J. H., Zhang, W., Li, L. X., . . . Wang, F. (2015). Sequence-based typing of HLA-A gene in 930 patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Hunan province, southern China. *Tissue Antigens*, 86(1), 15-20.
- Tiwawech, D., Srivatanakul, P., Karalak, A., & Ishida, T. (2006). Cytochrome P450 2A6 polymorphism in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Lett, 241*(1), 135-141.
- Torre-Amione, G., Beauchamp, R. D., Koeppen, H., Park, B. H., Schreiber, H., Moses, H. L., & Rowley, D. A. (1990). A highly immunogenic tumor transfected with a murine transforming growth factor type beta 1 cDNA escapes immune surveillance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 87(4), 1486-1490.
- Tsai, C. C., Chen, C. L., & Hsu, H. C. (1996). Expression of Epstein-Barr virus in carcinomas of major salivary glands: a strong association with lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma. *Hum Pathol*, 27(3), 258-262.
- Tsai, M. H., Lin, X., Shumilov, A., Bernhardt, K., Feederle, R., Poirey, R., . . . Delecluse, H. J. (2017). The biological properties of different Epstein-Barr virus strains explain their association with various types of cancers. *Oncotarget*, 8(6), 10238-10254.
- Tsai, M. H., Raykova, A., Klinke, O., Bernhardt, K., Gartner, K., Leung, C. S., ... Delecluse, H. J. (2013). Spontaneous lytic replication and epitheliotropism define an Epstein-Barr virus strain found in carcinomas. *Cell Rep*, 5(2), 458-470.
- Tsang, C. M., Deng, W., Yip, Y. L., Zeng, M. S., Lo, K. W., & Tsao, S. W. (2014). Epstein-Barr virus infection and persistence in nasopharyngeal epithelial cells. *Chin J Cancer*, 33(11), 549-555.
- Tsang, C. M., Yip, Y. L., Lo, K. W., Deng, W., To, K. F., Hau, P. M., . . . Tsao, S. W. (2012). Cyclin D1 overexpression supports stable EBV infection in nasopharyngeal epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109(50), E3473-3482.
- Tsang, C. M., Zhang, G., Seto, E., Takada, K., Deng, W., Yip, Y. L., . . . Tsao, S. W. (2010). Epstein-Barr virus infection in immortalized nasopharyngeal epithelial cells: regulation of infection and phenotypic characterization. *Int J Cancer*, *127*(7), 1570-1583.
- Tsao, S. W., Tramoutanis, G., Dawson, C. W., Lo, A. K., & Huang, D. P. (2002). The significance of LMP1 expression in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 12(6), 473-487.
- Tsao, S. W., Tsang, C. M., & Lo, K. W. (2017). Epstein-Barr virus infection and nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 372*(1732).
- Tsao, S. W., Tsang, C. M., To, K. F., & Lo, K. W. (2015). The role of Epstein-Barr virus in epithelial malignancies. *J Pathol*, 235(2), 323-333.

- Tse, K. P., Su, W. H., Chang, K. P., Tsang, N. M., Yu, C. J., Tang, P., . . . Shugart, Y. Y. (2009). Genome-wide association study reveals multiple nasopharyngeal carcinoma-associated loci within the HLA region at chromosome 6p21.3. Am J Hum Genet, 85(2), 194-203.
- Tse, K. P., Su, W. H., Yang, M. L., Cheng, H. Y., Tsang, N. M., Chang, K. P., ... Chang, Y. S. (2011). A gender-specific association of CNV at 6p21.3 with NPC susceptibility. *Hum Mol Genet*, 20(14), 2889-2896.
- Tsukazaki, T., Chiang, T. A., Davison, A. F., Attisano, L., & Wrana, J. L. (1998). SARA, a FYVE domain protein that recruits Smad2 to the TGFbeta receptor. *Cell*, 95(6), 779-791.
- Tsurumi, T., Fujita, M., & Kudoh, A. (2005). Latent and lytic Epstein-Barr virus replication strategies. *Rev Med Virol, 15*(1), 3-15.
- Tugizov, S. M., Berline, J. W., & Palefsky, J. M. (2003). Epstein-Barr virus infection of polarized tongue and nasopharyngeal epithelial cells. *Nat Med*, 9(3), 307-314.
- Uchida, J., Yasui, T., Takaoka-Shichijo, Y., Muraoka, M., Kulwichit, W., Raab-Traub, N., & Kikutani, H. (1999). Mimicry of CD40 signals by Epstein-Barr virus LMP1 in B lymphocyte responses. *Science*, *286*(5438), 300-303.
- Ueki, N., Nakazato, M., Ohkawa, T., Ikeda, T., Amuro, Y., Hada, T., & Higashino, K. (1992). Excessive production of transforming growth-factor beta 1 can play an important role in the development of tumorigenesis by its action for angiogenesis: validity of neutralizing antibodies to block tumor growth. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1137(2), 189-196.
- Valentine, R., Dawson, C. W., Hu, C., Shah, K. M., Owen, T. J., Date, K. L., ... O'Neil, J. D. (2010). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded EBNA1 inhibits the canonical NFkappaB pathway in carcinoma cells by inhibiting IKK phosphorylation. *Mol Cancer*, 9, 1.
- Vaughan, T. L., Shapiro, J. A., Burt, R. D., Swanson, G. M., Berwick, M., Lynch, C. F., & Lyon, J. L. (1996). Nasopharyngeal cancer in a low-risk population: defining risk factors by histological type. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 5(8), 587-593.
- Vaughan, T. L., Stewart, P. A., Teschke, K., Lynch, C. F., Swanson, G. M., Lyon, J. L., & Berwick, M. (2000). Occupational exposure to formaldehyde and wood dust and nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Occup Environ Med*, 57(6), 376-384.
- Vedham, V., Divi, R. L., Starks, V. L., & Verma, M. (2014). Multiple infections and cancer: implications in epidemiology. *Technol Cancer Res Treat*, 13(2), 177-194.
- Vereide, D. T., Seto, E., Chiu, Y. F., Hayes, M., Tagawa, T., Grundhoff, A., . . . Sugden, B. (2014). Epstein-Barr virus maintains lymphomas via its miRNAs. *Oncogene*, 33(10), 1258-1264.

- Vinals, F., & Pouyssegur, J. (2001). Transforming growth factor beta1 (TGF-beta1) promotes endothelial cell survival during in vitro angiogenesis via an autocrine mechanism implicating TGF-alpha signaling. *Mol Cell Biol*, 21(21), 7218-7230.
- Vortmeyer, A. O., Kingma, D. W., Fenton, R. G., Curti, B. D., Jaffe, E. S., & Duray, P. H. (1998). Hepatobiliary lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma associated with Epstein-Barr virus. *Am J Clin Pathol*, 109(1), 90-95.
- Wallick, S. C., Figari, I. S., Morris, R. E., Levinson, A. D., & Palladino, M. A. (1990). Immunoregulatory role of transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta) in development of killer cells: comparison of active and latent TGF-beta 1. J Exp Med, 172(6), 1777-1784.
- Wan, X. X., Yi, H., Qu, J. Q., He, Q. Y., & Xiao, Z. Q. (2015). Integrated analysis of the differential cellular and EBV miRNA expression profiles in microdissected nasopharyngeal carcinoma and non-cancerous nasopharyngeal tissues. Oncol Rep, 34(5), 2585-2601.
- Wang, B., Hsu, S. H., Majumder, S., Kutay, H., Huang, W., Jacob, S. T., & Ghoshal, K. (2010). TGFbeta-mediated upregulation of hepatic miR-181b promotes hepatocarcinogenesis by targeting TIMP3. *Oncogene*, 29(12), 1787-1797.
- Wang, D., Liebowitz, D., & Kieff, E. (1985). An EBV membrane protein expressed in immortalized lymphocytes transforms established rodent cells. *Cell*, 43(3 Pt 2), 831-840.
- Wang, H. B., Zhang, H., Zhang, J. P., Li, Y., Zhao, B., Feng, G. K., ... Zeng, M. S. (2015). Neuropilin 1 is an entry factor that promotes EBV infection of nasopharyngeal epithelial cells. *Nat Commun*, 6, 6240.
- Wang, J., Wang, Y., Wang, Y., Ma, Y., Lan, Y., & Yang, X. (2013a). Transforming growth factor beta-regulated microRNA-29a promotes angiogenesis through targeting the phosphatase and tensin homolog in endothelium. J Biol Chem, 288(15), 10418-10426.
- Wang, L., Tian, W. D., Xu, X., Nie, B., Lu, J., Liu, X., . . . Li, X. P. (2013b). Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1) protein induction of epithelialmesenchymal transition in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. *Cancer*.
- Wang, L., Tian, W. D., Xu, X., Nie, B., Lu, J., Liu, X., . . . Li, X. P. (2014). Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1) protein induction of epithelialmesenchymal transition in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. *Cancer*, 120(3), 363-372.
- Wang, Q., Tsao, S. W., Ooka, T., Nicholls, J. M., Cheung, H. W., Fu, S., . . . Wang, X. (2006). Anti-apoptotic role of BARF1 in gastric cancer cells. *Cancer Lett*, 238(1), 90-103.
- Wang, X. F., Lin, H. Y., Ng-Eaton, E., Downward, J., Lodish, H. F., & Weinberg, R. A. (1991). Expression cloning and characterization of the TGF-beta type III receptor. *Cell*, 67(4), 797-805.
- Wang, X. J., Greenhalgh, D. A., Bickenbach, J. R., Jiang, A., Bundman, D. S., Krieg, T., . . . Roop, D. R. (1997). Expression of a dominant-negative type II transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta) receptor in the epidermis of transgenic mice blocks TGF-beta-mediated growth inhibition. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94(6), 2386-2391.
- Wang, X., Kenyon, W. J., Li, Q., Mullberg, J., & Hutt-Fletcher, L. M. (1998). Epstein-Barr virus uses different complexes of glycoproteins gH and gL to infect B lymphocytes and epithelial cells. *J Virol*, 72(7), 5552-5558.
- Wang, X. M., Liu, C. M., Zhang, C. R., Xu, X. G., & Fu, S. B. (2009). [Functional significance of TGF-beta1 signal transduction pathway in oral squamous cell carcinoma]. *Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi, 31*(1), 28-32.
- Wang, Y., Guo, Z., Shu, Y., Zhou, H., Wang, H., & Zhang, W. (2017). BART miRNAs: an unimaginable force in the development of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Eur J Cancer Prev, 26*(2), 144-150.
- Ward, M. H., Pan, W. H., Cheng, Y. J., Li, F. H., Brinton, L. A., Chen, C. J., . . . Hildesheim, A. (2000). Dietary exposure to nitrite and nitrosamines and risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Taiwan. *Int J Cancer*, 86(5), 603-609.
- Warner, B. J., Blain, S. W., Seoane, J., & Massague, J. (1999). Myc downregulation by transforming growth factor beta required for activation of the p15(Ink4b) G(1) arrest pathway. *Mol Cell Biol*, *19*(9), 5913-5922.
- Wasil, L. R., Wei, L., Chang, C., Lan, L., & Shair, K. H. (2015). Regulation of DNA Damage Signaling and Cell Death Responses by Epstein-Barr Virus Latent Membrane Protein 1 (LMP1) and LMP2A in Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma Cells. J Virol, 89(15), 7612-7624.
- Wei, K. R., Zheng, R. S., Zhang, S. W., Liang, Z. H., Ou, Z. X., & Chen, W. Q. (2014). Nasopharyngeal carcinoma incidence and mortality in China in 2010. *Chin J Cancer*, 33(8), 381-387.
- Wei, M. X., de Turenne-Tessier, M., Decaussin, G., Benet, G., & Ooka, T. (1997). Establishment of a monkey kidney epithelial cell line with the BARF1 open reading frame from Epstein-Barr virus. *Oncogene*, *14*(25), 3073-3081.
- Wei, M. X., & Ooka, T. (1989). A transforming function of the BARF1 gene encoded by Epstein-Barr virus. *EMBO J, 8*(10), 2897-2903.
- Wei, W. I., & Kwong, D. L. (2010). Current management strategy of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Clin Exp Otorhinolaryngol*, 3(1), 1-12.
- Wells, J., Lee, B., Cai, A. Q., Karapetyan, A., Lee, W. J., Rugg, E., . . . Dai, X. (2009). Ovol2 suppresses cell cycling and terminal differentiation of keratinocytes by directly repressing c-Myc and Notch1. *J Biol Chem*, 284(42), 29125-29135.

- Wieser, R., Wrana, J. L., & Massague, J. (1995). GS domain mutations that constitutively activate T beta R-I, the downstream signaling component in the TGF-beta receptor complex. *EMBO J*, 14(10), 2199-2208.
- Wolf, H., zur Hausen, H., & Becker, V. (1973). EB viral genomes in epithelial nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. Nat New Biol, 244(138), 245-247.
- Wood, V. H., O'Neil, J. D., Wei, W., Stewart, S. E., Dawson, C. W., & Young, L. S. (2007). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded EBNA1 regulates cellular gene transcription and modulates the STAT1 and TGFbeta signaling pathways. *Oncogene*, 26(28), 4135-4147.
- Wrana, J. L., Attisano, L., Carcamo, J., Zentella, A., Doody, J., Laiho, M., . . . Massague, J. (1992). TGF beta signals through a heteromeric protein kinase receptor complex. *Cell*, 71(6), 1003-1014.
- Wu, G., Chen, Y. G., Ozdamar, B., Gyuricza, C. A., Chong, P. A., Wrana, J. L., ... Shi, Y. (2000). Structural basis of Smad2 recognition by the Smad anchor for receptor activation. *Science*, 287(5450), 92-97.
- Wu, G., Wang, Y., Chao, Y., Jia, Y., Zhao, C., & Luo, B. (2012). Characterization of Epstein-Barr virus type 1 nuclear antigen 3C sequence patterns of nasopharyngeal and gastric carcinomas in northern China. Arch Virol, 157(5), 845-853.
- Wu, J., Niu, J., Li, X., Wang, X., Guo, Z., & Zhang, F. (2014). TGF-beta1 induces senescence of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells via increase of mitochondrial ROS production. *BMC Dev Biol*, 14, 21.
- Wu, J. W., Hu, M., Chai, J., Seoane, J., Huse, M., Li, C., . . . Shi, Y. (2001). Crystal structure of a phosphorylated Smad2. Recognition of phosphoserine by the MH2 domain and insights on Smad function in TGF-beta signaling. *Mol Cell*, 8(6), 1277-1289.
- Xia, Y. Y., Yin, L., Jiang, N., Guo, W. J., Tian, H., Jiang, X. S., . . . He, X. (2015). Downregulating HMGA2 attenuates epithelial-mesenchymal transition-induced invasion and migration in nasopharyngeal cancer cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 463(3), 357-363.
- Xiao, B., Fan, S., Zeng, Z., Xiong, W., Cao, L., Yang, Y., ... Li, G. (2006). Purification of novel UBAP1 protein and its decreased expression on nasopharyngeal carcinoma tissue microarray. *Protein Expr Purif*, 47(1), 60-67.
- Xiao, J., Palefsky, J. M., Herrera, R., Berline, J., & Tugizov, S. M. (2008). The Epstein-Barr virus BMRF-2 protein facilitates virus attachment to oral epithelial cells. *Virology*, *370*(2), 430-442.
- Xiao, J., Palefsky, J. M., Herrera, R., & Tugizov, S. M. (2007). Characterization of the Epstein-Barr virus glycoprotein BMRF-2. *Virology*, *359*(2), 382-396.

- Xiao, J., Xiao, Q., Xiao, Y. C., Su, Z. J., Huang, Z. F., Zhang, Q. H., . . . Huang, Y. D. (2010). The effect of transforming growth factor-beta1 on nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells: insensitive to cell growth but functional to TGF-beta/Smad pathway. J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 29, 35.
- Xiao, L., Hu, Z. Y., Dong, X., Tan, Z., Li, W., Tang, M., . . . Cao, Y. (2014). Targeting Epstein-Barr virus oncoprotein LMP1-mediated glycolysis sensitizes nasopharyngeal carcinoma to radiation therapy. *Oncogene*, *33*(37), 4568-4578.
- Xie, S. H., Yu, I. T., Tse, L. A., Au, J. S., & Lau, J. S. (2015). Tobacco smoking, family history, and the risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma: a case-referent study in Hong Kong Chinese. *Cancer Causes Control*, *26*(6), 913-921.
- Xiong, D., Du, Y., Wang, H. B., Zhao, B., Zhang, H., Li, Y., . . . Zeng, M. S. (2015). Nonmuscle myosin heavy chain IIA mediates Epstein-Barr virus infection of nasopharyngeal epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 112(35), 11036-11041.
- Xu, C., Zhang, Y., Peng, L., Liu, X., Li, W. F., Sun, Y., . . Ma, J. (2017). Optimal Modality for Detecting Distant Metastasis in Primary Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma during Initial Staging: A Systemic Review and Meta-analysis of 1774 Patients. J Cancer, 8(7), 1238-1248.
- Xu, J., Lamouille, S., & Derynck, R. (2009). TGF-beta-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition. *Cell Res*, 19(2), 156-172.
- Xu, J., Menezes, J., Prasad, U., & Ahmad, A. (1999). Elevated serum levels of transforming growth factor beta1 in Epstein-Barr virus-associated nasopharyngeal carcinoma patients. *Int J Cancer*, 84(4), 396-399.
- Yamashita, H., ten Dijke, P., Franzen, P., Miyazono, K., & Heldin, C. H. (1994). Formation of hetero-oligomeric complexes of type I and type II receptors for transforming growth factor-beta. *J Biol Chem*, 269(31), 20172-20178.
- Yan, X., Liao, H., Cheng, M., Shi, X., Lin, X., Feng, X. H., & Chen, Y. G. (2016). Smad7 Protein Interacts with Receptor-regulated Smads (R-Smads) to Inhibit Transforming Growth Factor-beta (TGF-beta)/Smad Signaling. J Biol Chem, 291(1), 382-392.
- Yan, X., Liu, Z., & Chen, Y. (2009). Regulation of TGF-beta signaling by Smad7. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai), 41(4), 263-272.
- Yanagihara, K., & Tsumuraya, M. (1992). Transforming growth factor beta 1 induces apoptotic cell death in cultured human gastric carcinoma cells. *Cancer Res*, 52(14), 4042-4045.
- Yanagisawa, K., Osada, H., Masuda, A., Kondo, M., Saito, T., Yatabe, Y., . . . Takahashi, T. (1998). Induction of apoptosis by Smad3 and down-regulation of Smad3 expression in response to TGF-beta in human normal lung epithelial cells. *Oncogene*, 17(13), 1743-1747.

- Yang, J., Wahdan-Alaswad, R., & Danielpour, D. (2009). Critical role of Smad2 in tumor suppression and transforming growth factor-beta-induced apoptosis of prostate epithelial cells. *Cancer Res*, 69(6), 2185-2190.
- Yang, W., Shen, J., Wu, M., Arsura, M., FitzGerald, M., Suldan, Z., ... Sonenshein, G. E. (2001). Repression of transcription of the p27(Kip1) cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor gene by c-Myc. *Oncogene*, 20(14), 1688-1702.
- Yang, X., He, Z., Xin, B., & Cao, L. (2000). LMP1 of Epstein-Barr virus suppresses cellular senescence associated with the inhibition of p16INK4a expression. *Oncogene*, 19(16), 2002-2013.
- Yao, K., Qin, H., Gong, L., Zhang, R., & Li, L. (2016). CYP2E1 polymorphisms and nasopharyngeal carcinoma risk: a meta-analysis. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol*.
- Yau, W. L., Lung, H. L., Zabarovsky, E. R., Lerman, M. I., Sham, J. S., Chua, D. T., ... Lung, M. L. (2006). Functional studies of the chromosome 3p21.3 candidate tumor suppressor gene BLU/ZMYND10 in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Int J Cancer*, 119(12), 2821-2826.
- Yi, J. Y., Shin, I., & Arteaga, C. L. (2005). Type I transforming growth factor beta receptor binds to and activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. J Biol Chem, 280(11), 10870-10876.
- Yin, J. J., Selander, K., Chirgwin, J. M., Dallas, M., Grubbs, B. G., Wieser, R., . . . Guise, T. A. (1999). TGF-beta signaling blockade inhibits PTHrP secretion by breast cancer cells and bone metastases development. *J Clin Invest*, 103(2), 197-206.
- Yoon, Y. S., Lee, J. H., Hwang, S. C., Choi, K. S., & Yoon, G. (2005). TGF beta1 induces prolonged mitochondrial ROS generation through decreased complex IV activity with senescent arrest in Mv1Lu cells. *Oncogene*, 24(11), 1895-1903.
- Yoshimura, A., & Muto, G. (2011). TGF-beta function in immune suppression. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 350, 127-147.
- Young, L. S., Arrand, J. R., & Murray, P. G. (2007). EBV gene expression and regulation. In A. Arvin, G. Campadelli-Fiume, E. Mocarski, P. S. Moore, B. Roizman, R. Whitley & K. Yamanishi (Eds.), *Human Herpesviruses: Biology, Therapy, and Immunoprophylaxis*. Cambridge.
- Young, L. S., Lau, R., Rowe, M., Niedobitek, G., Packham, G., Shanahan, F., . . . et al. (1991). Differentiation-associated expression of the Epstein-Barr virus BZLF1 transactivator protein in oral hairy leukoplakia. *J Virol*, 65(6), 2868-2874.
- Young, L. S., Yap, L. F., & Murray, P. G. (2016). Epstein-Barr virus: more than 50 years old and still providing surprises. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 16(12), 789-802.
- Young, M. R., Wright, M. A., Coogan, M., Young, M. E., & Bagash, J. (1992). Tumorderived cytokines induce bone marrow suppressor cells that mediate

immunosuppression through transforming growth factor beta. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*, 35(1), 14-18.

- Yu, M. C., Mo, C. C., Chong, W. X., Yeh, F. S., & Henderson, B. E. (1988). Preserved foods and nasopharyngeal carcinoma: a case-control study in Guangxi, China. *Cancer Res*, 48(7), 1954-1959.
- Yu, Q., & Stamenkovic, I. (2000). Cell surface-localized matrix metalloproteinase-9 proteolytically activates TGF-beta and promotes tumor invasion and angiogenesis. *Genes Dev*, 14(2), 163-176.
- Yuan, J. M., Wang, X. L., Xiang, Y. B., Gao, Y. T., Ross, R. K., & Yu, M. C. (2000). Preserved foods in relation to risk of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Shanghai, China. *Int J Cancer*, 85(3), 358-363.
- Zainal Ariffin, O., & Nor Saleha, I.T. . (2007). NCR Report from Ministry of Health, Malaysia. 2011
- Zeng, M. S., Li, D. J., Liu, Q. L., Song, L. B., Li, M. Z., Zhang, R. H., . . . Zeng, Y. X. (2005). Genomic sequence analysis of Epstein-Barr virus strain GD1 from a nasopharyngeal carcinoma patient. *J Virol*, 79(24), 15323-15330.
- Zerlanko, B. J., Bartholin, L., Melhuish, T. A., & Wotton, D. (2012). Premature senescence and increased TGFbeta signaling in the absence of Tgif1. *PLoS One*, 7(4), e35460.
- Zhang, C. X., Decaussin, G., Daillie, J., & Ooka, T. (1988). Altered expression of two Epstein-Barr virus early genes localized in BamHI-A in nonproducer Raji cells. *J Virol*, 62(6), 1862-1869.
- Zhang, S., Fei, T., Zhang, L., Zhang, R., Chen, F., Ning, Y., . . . Chen, Y. G. (2007). Smad7 antagonizes transforming growth factor beta signaling in the nucleus by interfering with functional Smad-DNA complex formation. *Mol Cell Biol*, 27(12), 4488-4499.
- Zhang, W., Zeng, Z., Fan, S., Wang, J., Yang, J., Zhou, Y., . . . Li, G. (2012). Evaluation of the prognostic value of TGF-beta superfamily type I receptor and TGF-beta type II receptor expression in nasopharyngeal carcinoma using highthroughput tissue microarrays. *J Mol Histol*, 43(3), 297-306.
- Zhang, Y., Feng, X., We, R., & Derynck, R. (1996). Receptor-associated Mad homologues synergize as effectors of the TGF-beta response. *Nature*, *383*(6596), 168-172.
- Zhang, Y. Y., Li, X., Sui, L. H., Wang, Q., Li, P., & Fu, S. B. (2004). [Functional study on TGF-beta/Smads signaling pathway in human ovarian cancer cells]. *Yi Chuan Xue Bao*, 31(8), 759-765.
- Zhao, L., Lin, L., Pan, C., Shi, M., Liao, Y., Bin, J., & Liao, W. (2015). Flotillin-2 promotes nasopharyngeal carcinoma metastasis and is necessary for the

epithelial-mesenchymal transition induced by transforming growth factor-beta. *Oncotarget*, *6*(12), 9781-9793.

- Zheng, H., Dai, W., Cheung, A. K., Ko, J. M., Kan, R., Wong, B. W., . . . Lung, M. L. (2016). Whole-exome sequencing identifies multiple loss-of-function mutations of NF-kappaB pathway regulators in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 113(40), 11283-11288.
- Zhou, W., Feng, X., Li, H., Wang, L., Zhu, B., Liu, W., ... Ren, C. (2009). Inactivation of LARS2, located at the commonly deleted region 3p21.3, by both epigenetic and genetic mechanisms in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai)*, 41(1), 54-62.
- Zhu, X., Wang, Y., Sun, Y., Zheng, J., & Zhu, D. (2014). MiR-155 up-regulation by LMP1 DNA contributes to increased nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell proliferation and migration. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol, 271*(7), 1939-1945.
- Zimber, U., Adldinger, H. K., Lenoir, G. M., Vuillaume, M., Knebel-Doeberitz, M. V., Laux, G., . . . et al. (1986). Geographical prevalence of two types of Epstein-Barr virus. *Virology*, 154(1), 56-66.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- LF Yap, S Velapasamy, HM Lee, S Thavaraj, R Pathmanathan, W Wei, K Vrzalikova, MH Ibrahim, A Khoo, SW Tsao, IC Paterson, GS Taylor, CW Dawson and PG Murray. Down-regulation of LPA receptor 5 to aberrant LPA signalling in EBV-associated nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Journal of pathology. 2016;235(3):456-465
- Sharmila Velapasamy, Christopher W. Dawson, Lawrence S. Young, Ian C. Paterson and Lee Fah Yap. The dynamic roles of TGF-β signalling in EBVassociated cancers. Cancers. 2018; 10, 247.
- 3. S Velapasamy, KW Lo, G Chung, CM Tsang, LS Young, CW Dawson, SW Tsao, IC Paterson and LF Yap. Disruption of transforming growth factor-beta signalling supports stable EBV infection in nasopharyngeal epithelial cells. (Manuscript under preparation, to be submitted to PNAS).

Journal of Patholo



| Pathol 2015: 235: 456-465 Published online 18 December 2014 in Wiley Online Library (wileyonlinelibrary.com) DOI: 10.1002/peth.4480

Down-regulation of LPA receptor 5 contributes to aberrant LPA signalling in EBV-associated nasopharyngeal carcinoma

Lee Fah Yap,^{1,2}* Sharmila Velapasamy,¹ Hui Min Lee,¹ Selvam Thavaraj² Pathmanathan Rajadurai,⁴ Wenbin Wei,² Katerina Vizalikova,² Maha Hafez Ibrahim,² Alan Soo-Beng Khoo,⁵ Sai Wah Tsao,⁶ Ian C Paterson,¹ Graham S Taylor,² Christopher W Dawson² and Paul G Murray³

Department of Oral Biology & Biomedical Sciences and Oral Concer Research & Coordinating Centre, Rocality of Dentistry, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

- School of Cancer Sciences, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK
 Glinical and Diagnessic Sciences, King's College Landon Dental Institute, Landon, UK
- Subarg Jaya Medical Centre, Subarg Jaya, Molaysia Malecular Pathology Unit, Institute for Medical Research, Kuala Lumput, Malaysia

Department of Anatomy, LI Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong.

*Correspondence to: Dr Lee Fah Yop, Department of Oral Biology & Biomedical Sciences, Level 9, Pastgraduate and Research Tower, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Molayo, 50603 Kuola Lumbur, Malaysia, E-mail: yopkeeth@um.edumy

Or Professor Paul Murray, School of Concer Sciences, University of Birmingham, 815 277, Birmingham, UK, E-mail: p.g.murray@bham.oc.uk

Abstract

Undifferentiated nasopharyngeal carelaoma (NPC) is a highly netastatic disease that is consistently associated with Epstein – Barr virus (EBV) infection. In this study, we have lavestigated the contribution of lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) signalling to the pathogenesis of NPC. Here we demonstrate two distinct functional roles for LPA in NPC. First, we show that LPA enhances the migration of NPC cells and second, that it can inhibit the activity of EBV-specific cytotoxic T cells. Focusing on the first of these phenotypes, we show that one of the LPA receptors, LPA receptor 5 (LPAR5), is down-regulated in primary NPC tissues and that this down-regulation promotes the LPA-induced migration of NPC cell lines. Furthermore, we found that EBV infection or ectopic expression of the EBV-encoded LMP2A was sufficient to down-regulate LPAR5 in NPC cell lines. Our data point to a central role for EBV is mediating the oncogenic effects of LPA in NPC and identify LPA signalling as a potential therapeutic target in this diseas

Copyright @ 2014 Pathological Society of Great Britain and Ireland. Published by John Wiley & Sone, Ltd.

Keywords: nasopharyngeal carcinoma; Epstein - Barr virus; lysophosphatidic acid; LPA receptor

Received 25 March 2014; Revised 1 October 2014; Accepted 5 October 2014

No conflicts of interest were declared

Introduction

Nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) is a cancer with high metastatic potential that is particularly prevalent in South East Asia and southern China [1]. Radiotherapy is effective against early-stage NPC; however, over 75% of cases present with late-stage disease and there are significant rates (~30%) of distant metastases subsequent to treatment in these cases [2]. Furthermore, most survivors of NPC have an impaired quality of life due to the location of the tumour at the base of the skull and in close proximity to many vital structures. Unfortunately, our current understanding of the molecular basis of NPC is still inadequate to inform any personalized treatment strategies.

Unlike other head and neck cancers, NPC is consistently associated with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection [3]. EBV latent protein expression in NPC is restricted to Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen (EBNA)

Copyright © 2014 Pathological Society of Great Britais and Ireland. Published by John Wiley & Soce, Ltd. www.pathooc.org.ek

1, latent membrane proteins (LMP1 and LMP2), and BARF1. Although the exact contribution of EBV to the pathogenesis of NPC is still to be elucidated, it is well recognized that EBV alters many functional properties that are involved in tumour progression. NPC characteristically presents with a prominent lymphocyte infiltration, indicating that the tumour microenvironment can influence some of the malignant features of NPC tumour cells. The consistent expression of EBV proteins in NPC cells has led to several clinical trials of adoptive T-cell therapy or vaccination to boost the immune response to these antigens [4]. While there was evidence of a clinical response in some patients, it is not known why other patients did not respond, which may be due to varying degrees of immunosuppression in the tumour microenvironment [5].

Given that distant metastasis remains a major cause of death for NPC patients, we focused on the possibility that lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), a bicactive lipid that

> J Raticel 2015; 235: 456-465 the journal of path ology com



Renters

The Dynamic Roles of TGF-B Signalling in EBV-Associated Cancers

Sharmila Welapasamy¹, Christopher W. Dawson², Lawrence S. Young³O, Ian C. Paterson^{1,4} and Lee Fah Yap 14.+

- Department of Oral & Cramiofacial Sciences, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Malaya, 50603 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia; v sharmila8440gmail com (S.V.); ipatersor#lum.edu my (LC.P)
- Institute of Cancer and Genemic Medicine, University of Birmingham, Birmingham B15 217, UK, t w dawson@bham at tik
- Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry CV47A1, UK; L.S.Young@warwick.ac.uk
- Oral Cancer Research and Coordinating Centre, University of Malaya, 50613 Kuala Lumpur, Malayaa
 Correspondence yaplaciahilitaryada.my; Tel.: +60-37987-6671; Fac: +60-37987-6456

Received: 9 July 2018; Accepted: 25 July 2018; Published: 27 July 2018

check for up da ter

MDPI

Abstract The transforming growth factor-\$ (TGF-\$) signalling pathway plays a critical role in carcinogenesis. It has a biphasic action by initially suppressing tumorigenesis but promoting tumour progression in the later stages of disease. Consequently, the functional outcome of TGF-B signalling is strongly context-dependent and is influenced by various factors including cell, tissue and cancer type. Discuption of this pathway can be caused by various means, including genetic and environmental factors. A number of human viruses have been shown to modulate TGF-B signalling during tumorigenesis. In this review, we describe how this pathway is perturbed in Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-associated canacts and how EBV interferes with TGF-B signal transduction. The role of TGF-β in regulating the EBV life cycle in tumour cells is also discussed.

Keywords: TGE-B signalling: Epstein-flarr virus; nasopharyngeal carcinoma; gastric cancer; **B-cell lymphoma**

1. Introduction

The transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-\$) superfamily is a group of multifunctional proteins comprising more than 40 members that are clustered in several subfamilies, which include TGE-5, activins/inhibins, bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), nodal and growth differentiation factors (GDFs) [1,2]. The prototypic member, TGF-β1, is produced by a diverse range of cell types and modulates or II proliferation, migration, adhesion, differentiation and survival [2,3]. Consequently, a malfunctioning TGF-B pathway is central to many diseases including cancer. TGF-B functions as a tumour suppressor by inhibiting the growth of untransformed epithelial, endothelial and lymphoid cells [4-6] and resistance to TGI-β is regarded as one of the crucial steps in malignant progression [2,7]. In the early stages of cancer development, TGI-B signalling functions as a tumour suppressor by inhibiting cell cycle progression from G1 to 5 phase and inducing apoptosis, scrussence and differentiation [2,5,8,9]. Conversely, in late stage disease, it acts as a tumour promoter by inducing epithelial-to-mesenchy mal transition (EMT), migration, invasion, metastasis, angiogenesis and immune suppression [2,9-12]. Frequently, cancer cells become resistant to the humour suppressive effects of TGF-β, however functional TGF-β signalling often persists in these cells enabling TGF-β-induced tumour promoting phenotypes [13-16]. Accumulating evidence has sevealed that the TCF-B signalling pathway is targeted by many oncogenic viruses, including Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), during the murse of tumorigenesis [17].

Cattors 2015 10; 207; dot 10:0390/ cattors/00080207

www.nudpi.com/journal/cancers

LIST OF PRESENTATION

- V Sharmila. Transforming Growth Factor β (TGF-β) signalling in the regulation of EBV infection and differentiation of squamous epithelium. Presented: PhD Proposal Seminar, University Malaya, Kuala Lumpur. (2013).
- V Sharmila, CW Dawson, IC Paterson, LF Yap. Transforming Growth Factor β (TGF-β) signalling in the regulation of differentiation and EBV infection in NP69 and OKF6. Presented: 2nd NPC research day, University Malaya, Kuala Lumpur. (2013).
- V Sharmila, CW Dawson, IC Paterson, LF Yap. Transforming Growth Factor β (TGF-β) signalling in the regulation of EBV infection of nasopharyngeal epithelium. Presented: 3rd NPC Day, Institute of Medical Research, Malaysia. (2014).
- V Sharmila, CW Dawson, IC Paterson, LF Yap. Transforming Growth Factor β (TGF-β) signalling regulates stable EBV infection in nasopharyngeal epithelial cells. Attended: 6th Regional Conference On Molecular Medicine (RCMM) In Conjunction With 2nd National Conference For Cancer Research, Sunway Putra Hotel, Kuala Lumpur. (2015).
- 5. V Sharmila. Transforming Growth Factor β (TGF- β) signalling in the regulation of EBV infection and the role of BILF1 in NPC. Presented: PhD Candidature Defense, University Malaya, Kuala Lumpur. (2016).

- 6. V Sharmila, CW Dawson, CM Tsang, SW Tsao, IC Paterson, LF Yap. Transforming Growth Factor β (TGF-β) Signalling Regulates EBV Persistence in Nasopharyngeal Epithelial Cells. Presented: 5th NPC Research Day, Institute of Medical Research, Kuala Lumpur. (2016). Awarded the best oral presentation.
- 7. V Sharmila. Transforming Growth Factor-β (TGF-β) Signalling in the Regulation of EBV Infection. Presented: Three Minutes Thesis (UM3MT) 2016 competition. Faculty of Dentistry, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur. (2016). Awarded the best oral presenter at faculty level.
- V Sharmila. Transforming Growth Factor-β (TGF-β) Signalling in the Regulation of EBV Infection. Presented: Three Minutes Thesis (UM3MT) 2016 competition. University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur. (2016).
- 9. V Sharmila, CW Dawson, CM Tsang, SW Tsao, IC Paterson, LF Yap. Transforming Growth Factor β Signalling Regulates EBV Persistence in Nasopharyngeal Epithelial Cells. Presented: Global Lessons on Cancer Pathogenesis from Insights into Geographically Restricted Tumor of the Nasopharynx, Gordon Research Conference. The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Hong Kong (2016). Awarded the best poster presentation.
- 10. V Sharmila, SW Tsao, CM Tsang, CW Dawson, IC Paterson, LF Yap. The Role of Transforming Growth Factor-β Signalling in Persistent EBV Infection of Nasopharyngeal Epithelial Cells. Presented: 4th International Anatomical Sciences & Cell Biology Conference, University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. (2016).

APPENDIX A



Chemical inhibitor, SB431542 specifically inhibit TGFR-1 kinase activation

pCAGA12-luc reporter analyses showed that TGF- β 1 stimulation (1ng/ml) led to a significant increase in SMAD3-dependent transcriptional activity in MLEC transfected with constitutively active *TGFBR1*. No changes in SMAD3-dependent transcriptional activities in 10µM SB431542-treated cells following TGF- β 1 treatment. *** denotes p-value <0.001

APPENDIX B





A) qPCR analysis showed that the expression of LPAR5 levels was significantly reduced in five NPC cell lines (CNE1, CNE2, SUNE1, HK1, and HONE1) and two epithelial cell lines (AdAH and AGS) following EBV infection. B) Immunocytochemical analysis showed that expression of LPAR5 was reduced HONE1 cells following EBV infection. NP69 cells were used as a positive control.